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PART I – FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1: Financial Statements

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except share and par value data)
 

    March 31, 2025     December 31, 2024  
    (unaudited)        

Assets            
Current assets:            
Cash and cash equivalents   $ 45,856    $ 22,244 
Short-term investments     —      36,121 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets     1,302      2,981 
Total current assets     47,158      61,346 
            
Property and equipment, net     125      77 
Other assets     176      138 

Total assets   $ 47,459    $ 61,561 
            
Liabilities and stockholders' equity            
Current liabilities:            
Accounts payable   $ 5,023    $ 4,879 
Accrued liabilities (including $50 and $0 related party payable as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024, 
respectively)     4,009      4,202 
Total current liabilities     9,032      9,081 
            
Commitments and contingencies (Note 6)            
Stockholders’ equity:            
Common stock, $0.001 par value: 200,000,000 shares authorized as of March 31, 2025 (unaudited) and 
December 31, 2024; 6,581,667 and 6,393,323 shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2025 (unaudited) 
and December 31, 2024, respectively     6 

 
  6 

Additional paid-in capital     208,075      206,461 
Accumulated other comprehensive income     —      11 
Accumulated deficit     (169,654)     (153,998)
Total stockholders’ equity     38,427      52,480 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   $ 47,459    $ 61,561 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

 
 

    For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
    2025     2024  

Operating expenses:            
Research and development   $ 12,542    $ 4,324 
Research and development - related party     150      29 
General and administrative     3,432      3,451 
Total operating expenses     16,124      7,804 
Loss from operations     (16,124)     (7,804)
Other income, net     468      384 

Net loss   $ (15,656)   $ (7,420)
Per share information:            
Net loss per share - basic and diluted   $ (1.37)   $ (4.03)
             
Weighted average shares and pre-funded warrants outstanding, basic and diluted     11,398,971      1,843,306 
             
Comprehensive Loss:            
Net loss   $ (15,656)   $ (7,420)
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net     (11)     (6)

Comprehensive loss   $ (15,667)   $ (7,426)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(unaudited) 
(in thousands, except share data)

 
            Additional     Accumulated           Total  

      Common Stock     Paid-in    
Other 

Comprehensive     Accumulated     Stockholders’  
      Shares     Amount     Capital     Income (Loss)     Deficit     Equity  

Balance — December 31, 2024       6,393,323    $ 6   $ 206,461   $ 11   $ (153,998)  $ 52,480 
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock units, net       1,794      —      (15)     —      —      (15)
Issuance of common stock under ESPP       818      —      9       —      —      9  
Stock-based compensation       —      —      1,620      —      —      1,620 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net       —      —      —      (11)     —      (11)
Cashless exercise of warrants       185,732      —      —      —      —      — 
Net loss       —      —      —      —      (15,656)     (15,656)

Balance — March 31, 2025       6,581,667    $ 6   $ 208,075   $ -    $ (169,654)  $ 38,427 
                                       
Balance — December 31, 2023       1,453,402    $ 1   $ 153,829   $ 4   $ (118,520)  $ 35,314 
Issuance of common stock upon vesting of restricted stock units, net       1,971      —      (16)     —      —      (16)
Issuance of common stock under ESPP       420      —      8       —      —      8  
Stock-based compensation       —      —      805      —      —      805 
Unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities, net       —      —      —      (6)     —      (6)
Net loss       —      —      —      —      (7,420)     (7,420)

Balance — March 31, 2024       1,455,793    $ 1   $ 154,626   $ (2)  $ (125,940)  $ 28,685 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(unaudited)
(in thousands)

 
    For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
    2025     2024  

Cash flows from operating activities:            
Net loss   $ (15,656)   $ (7,420)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:            

Depreciation expense     13      9 
Stock-based compensation expense     1,620      805 
Accretion of debt discount on available-for-sale securities     (240)     (6)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:            

Prepaid expenses and other assets     1,641      279 
Accounts payable     578      261 
Accrued liabilities     1,689      (595)

Net cash used in operating activities     (10,355)     (6,667)
Cash flows from investing activities:            

Purchase of property and equipment     (61)     (6)
Proceeds from redemptions of short-term investments     36,350      — 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     36,289      (6)
Cash flows from financing activities:            

Payment of issuance costs associated with financing     (2,316)     — 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under ESPP     9      8 
Taxes paid related to net share settlement of equity awards     (15)     (16)

Net cash used in financing activities     (2,322)     (8)
             
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     23,612      (6,681)
Cash and cash equivalents — beginning of period     22,244      37,125 
Cash and cash equivalents — end of period   $ 45,856    $ 30,444 
             

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

1. Organization and Description of Business 
 

Forte Biosciences, Inc. (www.fortebiorx.com) and its subsidiaries, referred to herein as the “Company” or "Forte", is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical 
company focused on developing FB102, which is a proprietary anti-CD122 monoclonal antibody therapeutic candidate with potentially broad autoimmune and 
autoimmune-related indications. The phase 1 healthy volunteer single and multiple ascending dose cohorts have completed. Forte is currently advancing clinical 
development of FB102 in patient-based trials for celiac disease and non-segmental vitiligo.

The Company merged with Tocagen, Inc. ("Merger"), a publicly traded biotechnology company, on June 15, 2020. Prior to the Merger, Forte was a 
privately held company incorporated in Delaware on May 3, 2017. The Company's headquarters is in Dallas, Texas. The Company’s common stock is traded on 
the Nasdaq stock exchange under the ticker symbol “FBRX”‌. 

Reverse Stock Split

On August 27, 2024, the Company effected a 1-for-25 reverse stock split of its issued and outstanding common stock. The par value and authorized 
shares were not adjusted as a result of the reverse split. The reverse stock split also affected the Company’s outstanding common stock options and pre-funded 
warrants and resulted in the shares underlying such instruments being reduced and the exercise price being increased proportionately. All issued and outstanding 
shares of common stock and per share amounts contained in the condensed consolidated financial statements have been retroactively adjusted to reflect this 
reverse stock split for all periods presented.

Liquidity and Risks
 

 Since inception, the Company has incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations. As of March 31, 2025, the Company had an accumulated 
deficit of $169.7 million and used $10.4 million of cash in operating activities during the three months ended March 31, 2025. Management expects to continue 
to incur additional losses in the foreseeable future as the Company focuses its development efforts on advancing FB102 through clinical trials.  

The Company had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $45.9 million as of March 31, 2025. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are held at 
financial institutions with balances that exceed federally insured limits. The Company believes that its existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to 
allow the Company to fund its operations for at least twelve months from the filing date of this Form 10-Q. 

The Company will continue to need to raise additional capital or obtain financing from other sources. Management may fund future operations through 
the sale of equity and debt financings and may also seek additional capital through arrangements with strategic partners or other sources. There can be no 
assurance that additional funding will be available on terms acceptable to the Company, if at all. If the Company is unable to raise additional funding to meet its 
working capital needs in the future, it may be forced to delay or reduce the scope of its research and development programs and/or limit or cease its operations. 

There are numerous risks and uncertainties associated with pharmaceutical development and the Company is unable to predict the timing or amount of 
increased expenses on the development of future product candidates or when or if it will start to generate revenues. Even if the Company does generate 
revenues, it may not be able to achieve or maintain profitability. If the Company fails to become profitable or is unable to sustain profitability on a continuing 
basis, then it may be unable to continue its operations at planned levels and may be forced to reduce its operations.

Businesses throughout our industry have been and will continue to be impacted by a number of challenging and unexpected global and national events 
and circumstances that continue to evolve, including without limitation the military conflicts in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, trade policies, potential 
trade wars, and actions or 
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inactions of the U.S. or other major national governments (including the imposition of tariffs and retaliatory measures), increased economic uncertainty, 
inflation, rising interest rates, recent and any potential future financial institution failures, and other geopolitical tensions. The extent of the impact of these 
events and circumstances on our business, operations, development timelines and plans remain uncertain, and will depend on certain developments, including 
the duration and scope of the events and their impact on the Company's development activities, third parties with whom it does business, as well as its impact on 
regulatory authorities and its key scientific and management personnel. The Company has been and continues to actively monitor the potential impacts that 
these various events and circumstances may have on its business and the Company takes steps, where warranted, to minimize any potential negative impacts on 
its business resulting from these events and circumstances.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements of the Company should be read in conjunction with its audited consolidated 
financial statements and accompanying notes thereto as of and for the year ended December 31, 2024 included in the Company’s Form 10-K as filed with the 
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 28, 2025. The Company prepares its condensed consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”), as found in the Accounting Standards Codification 
(“ASC”) and the Accounting Standards Updates (“ASUs”) of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), and the rules and regulations of the SEC.  

Principles of Consolidation

The condensed consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Forte Subsidiary, Inc. and 
Forte Biosciences Australia Proprietary Limited. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in the preparation of the condensed 
consolidated financial statements.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that impact the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, expenses and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in the Company’s condensed consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes. Significant management estimates that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and expenses include valuation of 
equity awards for stock-based compensation and accruals for the cost of clinical trials and drug manufacturing. Although these estimates are based on the 
Company’s knowledge of current events and actions it may undertake in the future, actual results may ultimately materially differ from these estimates and 
assumptions. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in readily available operating accounts, U.S. treasury bills, money market funds and deposits with commercial 
banks. Cash equivalents are defined as short-term, highly liquid investments with maturities of 90 days or less from the date of purchase.

Available-for-Sale Securities
 
The Company’s available-for-sale securities consist of U.S. treasury bills. Securities with maturities from the date of purchase of 90 days or less are 

included in cash equivalents. The Company classifies its marketable securities as available-for-sale and records such assets at estimated fair value in the 
condensed consolidated balance sheets, with unrealized gains and losses, if any, reported as a component of other comprehensive loss within the condensed 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss and as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses are calculated 
using the specific identification method and recorded  in other income, net. 

 
Any premium arising at purchase is amortized to the earliest call date and any discount arising at purchase is accreted to maturity. Accretion of discounts 

is recorded in other income, net in the condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants 
at the measurement date. There is a three-level hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used in determining fair value by their reliability and preferred use as 
follows:

• Level 1 - Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

• Level 2 – Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets for similar assets and liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or 
liabilities in inactive markets, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data.

• Level 3 – Valuations based on inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurements and are unobservable.

To the extent that a valuation is based on models or inputs that are less observable, or unobservable in the market, the determination of fair value 
requires more judgment. Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised by the Company in determining fair value is greatest for instruments categorized within 
Level 3. A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

There have been no significant changes to the valuation methods utilized by the Company during the periods presented. There have been no transfers 
between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 in any periods presented.

The carrying amounts of financial instruments consisting of cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities included in the 
Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements, are reasonable estimates of fair value, primarily due to their short maturities. Short-term investments 
are recorded at fair value, with any unrealized gains or losses reported as accumulated other comprehensive income or loss.

Net Loss Per Share 

The Company’s net loss is equivalent to net loss attributable to common stockholders for all periods presented. Basic net loss per share is computed by 
dividing net loss applicable to common stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares, without consideration for common stock equivalents. 
The weighted average number of shares of common stock used in the basic and diluted net loss per share calculation include the pre-funded warrants 
outstanding during the period as they are exercisable at any time and their exercise requires only nominal consideration for the delivery of shares. During the 
three-month period ended March 31, 2025, 185,732 pre-funded warrants were exercised and as of March 31, 2025 pre-funded warrants to purchase an aggregate 
of 4,817,389 shares of common stock were outstanding.

Diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss by the weighted-average number of shares of common stock and common stock equivalents 
outstanding during the period in accordance with the treasury stock method. The following number of unexercised stock options, restricted stock units, warrants, 
and shares expected to be purchased under the ESPP, which are common stock equivalents, have been excluded from the diluted net loss calculation as their 
effect would have been anti-dilutive for the periods presented. 

     
  As of March 31,  
  2025     2024  

Options   2,322,501      201,082 
Restricted stock units   31,087      35,887 
Warrants   176      176 
ESPP   498      56 
Total   2,354,262      237,201 

 

Recently Issued Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

From time to time, new accounting pronouncements are issued by the FASB or other standard setting bodies and adopted by us as of a specified effective 
date. Unless otherwise discussed, the Company believes that the impact 
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of recently issued standards that are not yet effective will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU No. 2023-09 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosure. This ASU includes 
amendments that further enhance income tax disclosures, primarily through standardization and disaggregation of rate reconciliation categories and income 
taxes paid by jurisdiction. The ASU is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, but early adoption is permitted. This ASU should be 
applied on a prospective basis, although retrospective application is permitted. This standard will impact the Company's disclosures but is not expected to have 
a material impact on the Company's results of operations or financial condition. 

In November 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures, 
which requires disclosure of additional information about specific expense categories in the notes to the financial statements on an interim and annual basis. The 
standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and for interim periods beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption 
permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the disclosure requirements related to this new standard.

3. Balance Sheet Components

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets 

Prepaid expenses and other current assets as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 consist of the following (in thousands):

 

    March 31, 2025     December 31, 2024  
Prepaid manufacturing and research expenses   $ 466    $ 1,982 
Prepaid insurance     266      286 
Prepaid professional fees     121      377 
Other     449      336 
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets   $ 1,302    $ 2,981 

Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 consist of the following (in thousands):

 

    March 31, 2025     December 31, 2024  
 Equipment   $ 168    $ 107 
 Furniture and fixtures     18      18 
Property and equipment, at cost     186      125 
 Less accumulated depreciation     (61)     (48)
Total property and equipment, net   $ 125    $ 77 

Other Assets

Other assets as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 consist of the following (in thousands):

 

    March 31, 2025     December 31, 2024  
Prepaid insurance   $ 39    $ 87 
Security deposits     112      25 
Other     25      26 
Total other assets   $ 176    $ 138 
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Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 consist of the following (in thousands):

    March 31, 2025     December 31, 2024  
 Accrued legal and professional fees   $ 240    $ 97 
 Accrued compensation     1,250      1,551 
 Accrued manufacturing and research expenses     2,409      541 
 Accrued issuance costs     —      1,881 
 Accrued other expenses     110      132 
Total accrued liabilities   $ 4,009    $ 4,202 

 

 

4. Fair Value

 The following tables provide a summary of the assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024 
(in thousands): 

   
Fair Value Measurements as of 

March 31, 2025  
    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  

Cash and cash equivalents:                        
Cash   $ 1,546    $ —    $ —    $ 1,546 
Money Market Funds     44,310      —      —      44,310 

Total   $ 45,856    $ —    $ —    $ 45,856 
 
   

Fair Value Measurements as of 
December 31, 2024  

    Level 1     Level 2     Level 3     Total  
Cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments:                        

Cash   $ 1,464    $ —    $ —    $ 1,464 
Money Market Funds     20,780      —      —      20,780 
U.S. Treasury Bills     —      36,121      —      36,121 

Total   $ 22,244    $ 36,121    $ —    $ 58,365 

Money market funds are valued at the closing price reported by the fund sponsor from an actively traded exchange. Money market funds were 
included as cash and cash equivalents in the condensed consolidated balance sheets for the periods presented. The Company's U.S. Treasury Bills are included 
in short-term investments as of December 31, 2024 due to an original maturity greater than 90 days.  There were no U.S Treasury Bills as of March 31, 2025. 
The Company obtains the fair value of its Level 2 cash equivalents and short term investments from third-party pricing services. The pricing services utilize 
industry standard valuation models whereby all significant inputs, including benchmark yields, reported trades, broker/dealer quotes, issuer spreads, bids, offers, 
or other market-related data, are observable.
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5. Available-for-sale Securities 
 

The following tables summarizes the Company's available-for-sale securities as of December 31, 2024 (in thousands): 

 
    December 31, 2024  
          Unrealized        
    Amortized Cost     Gains     Losses     Estimated Fair Value  
Short-term investments                        
U.S. Treasury Bills   $ 36,110    $ 11    $ —    $ 36,121 

Total available-for-sale securities   $ 36,110    $ 11    $ —    $ 36,121 

 

There were no available-for-sale securities held by the Company as of March 31, 2025.

6. Commitments and Contingencies

Concentrations of Credit Risk

The Company limits its credit risk associated with its cash and cash equivalents by placing them with financial institutions it believes are highly 
creditworthy. Bank accounts in the United States are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) up to $250 thousand. The Company’s cash 
accounts significantly exceed the FDIC limits.

Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, the Company indemnifies its officers, directors, and employees for certain events and occurrences while the officer or 
director is, or was, serving at the Company’s request in such capacity. As of March 31, 2025, the Company did not have any material indemnification claims 
that were probable or reasonably possible and consequently has not recorded any related liabilities.  

Lease Agreements 

The Company has entered into month-to-month lease agreements for certain office and laboratory space. The lease agreements are cancellable by the 
Company at any time with a 30-day notice. Total rent expense for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and March 31, 2024 was $97 thousand and $70 
thousand, respectively. 

Clinical and Preclinical Services 

The Company has entered into various agreements with third-party vendors for preclinical and clinical services. The estimated remaining commitments 
as of March 31, 2025 under these agreements were approximately $1.4 million. The Company entered into agreements with a clinical research organization 
("CRO") for clinical trials of FB102, its product candidate. The Company has agreed to pay third-party costs associated with those agreements. The CRO 
agreements are subject to termination at any time, with or without cause, by the Company, in which case only costs earned or non-cancellable to the date of 
termination would remain subject to reimbursement.

Legal Proceedings 
 
Camac Fund, LP v. Paul A. Wagner, et al., C.A. No. 2023-0817-MTZ (Del. Ch.)

 

On August 10, 2023, Camac Fund LP (the "Plaintiff") filed a complaint (the “Complaint”) against the members of the Company's Board of Directors and 
entities affiliated with certain of the Company’s investors and naming the Company as nominal defendant.  The Complaint alleged amongst other things that the 
Directors breached their fiduciary duties by causing the Company to enter into a July 31, 2023 private placement (the "2023 Private Placement"), which raised 
approximately $25 million for the Company. The Company subsequently took certain actions to moot Camac’s claims in the action which Camac 
acknowledged. In order to fully resolve Camac’s claim for an award of attorneys’ fees, the Company, on behalf of all named defendants in the action, made a 
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payment to Plaintiff’s counsel in September 2024 for its fees and expenses in the amount of $1.5 million. On October 8, 2024, Forte filed an affidavit notifying 
the Court as required by the Mootness Order. The Court subsequently closed the case.

 
Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Camac Fund, LP, et al., Case No. 3:23-cv-02399-N (N.D. Tex.)

On October 28, 2023, the Company filed a complaint (the “Texas Complaint”), captioned Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Camac Fund, LP, et al., Case No. 
3:23-cv-02399-N, in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of Texas. The Texas Complaint alleged that the Texas Defendants issued false and 
misleading disclosures in connection with their efforts to elect two directors to Forte’s board of directors at the 2023 annual meeting. The Texas Defendants 
moved to dismiss and on June 11, 2024, the Complaint was dismissed with prejudice. In October 2024, to resolve all claims and potential claims asserted by the 
parties, the Texas Defendants entered into a settlement agreement and release with Forte, and all Texas Defendants other than Camac entered into standstill and 
voting agreements. The Company paid $650 thousand related to these agreements which does not include any potential insurance recoveries. The Company 
expenses legal fees as they are incurred.

Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Wesco Insurance Co., et al., Case No. N24C-10-015 VLM CCLD (Del. Super. Ct.)

On October 1, 2024, the Company filed a complaint (the “Wesco Complaint”), captioned Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Wesco Insurance Co., et al., Case 
No. N24C-10-015 VLM CCLD, in the Superior Court of the State of Delaware, against its current and former carriers of Directors & Officers liability 
insurance, Wesco Insurance Company, Beazley Insurance Company, and Palms Insurance Company, Limited (collectively, “Insurance Defendants”). The 
Wesco Complaint brings claims for declaratory relief, breach of contract, and bad faith, alleging that the Insurance Defendants breached their contractual and 
legal obligations by refusing to acknowledge and perform their obligation to provide insurance coverage to the Company in connection with: (i) the action 
captioned Camac Fund, LP v. Paul A. Wagner, et al., C.A. No. 2023-0817-MTZ (Del. Ch.), described above; (ii)  the Books and Records Action brought by 
Camac in November 2022, which was captioned Camac Fund L.P. v. Forte Biosciences Inc., C.A. No. 2022-1075-NAC (Del. Ch.), described above; and (iii) 
two books demands for books and records under Delaware General Corporation Law Section 220, made by Camac on August 26, 2022 and August 23, 2023, 
respectively. The Complaint seeks a declaratory judgment that one or more of the Insurance Defendants have an obligation to provide insurance coverage to the 
Company and the named defendants in the referenced actions, reimbursement and compensatory damages from the Insurance Defendants for breach of contract, 
and consequential and punitive damages for the Insurance Defendants’ bad faith coverage positions. 

 

7. Equity
 
Preferred Stock
 

The Company has 10 million authorized shares of Series A Preferred Stock, par value $0.001, with no shares outstanding as of March 31, 2025 and 
December 31, 2024.

Common Stock 
 
In March 2025, the Company filed a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective by the SEC in April 2025 for the issuance 

of up to $300.0 million in securities.  During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company did not issue any securities pursuant to this new shelf 
registration statement under a  Form S-3. 

        On November 19, 2024, the Company issued 4,931,389 shares of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $5.552 per Share and 4,615,555 pre-
funded warrants to purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.551 per pre-funded warrant ("2024 Private Placement") in connection with a 
Securities Purchase Agreement (the “2024 Purchase Agreement”). The pre-funded warrants have an exercise price of $0.001 per share of common stock, are 
immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The holders of pre-funded warrants may not exercise a pre-funded warrant if the holder, 
together with its affiliates, would beneficially own more than 19.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to 
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such exercise. The holders of pre-funded warrants may increase or decrease such percentages not in excess of 19.99% by providing at least 61 days’ prior notice 
to the Company. In connection with the 2024 Private Placement, the Company filed a registration statement to register shares on Form S-3, which was declared 
effective on December 20, 2024. The gross proceeds of the 2024 Private Placement were $53.0 million and the Company incurred $3.4 million in issuance 
costs. Certain executive officers and senior management of the Company participated in this 2024 Private Placement, purchasing $475 thousand in shares of 
common stock at a purchase price of $5.552 per share.   

In connection with, and as a condition to, the closing of the 2024 Private Placement, the Company agreed to enter into letter agreements with two 
investors. Pursuant to the terms of the letter agreements, the Company agreed that, during the period beginning ninety (90) days after the closing date of the 
2024 Private Placement and ending on the three (3) year anniversary of the closing date of the 2024 Private Placement (or earlier upon investors failing to meet 
certain ownership thresholds), if the Company’s common stock trades within certain specified parameters for thirty (30) consecutive trading days, each of the 
investors shall be entitled to designate one individual to serve on the Board, in each case pursuant and subject to the terms of the applicable letter agreement and 
compliance with applicable Nasdaq and SEC regulations and the Board’s fiduciary duties under applicable law. In addition, for the duration of the applicable 
designation period, the Company shall also include such designee in the slate of nominees recommended by the Board for election at each annual or special 
meeting of the Company’s stockholders at which directors of such designee’s class are to be elected. The letter agreement also provides one investor a 
participation right in future offerings of the Company’s equity securities.

On July 31, 2023, the Company issued 606,678 shares of the Company’s common stock at a purchase price of $25.15 per Share and 387,566 pre-funded 
warrants to purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price of $25.13 per pre-funded warrant ("2023 Private Placement") in connection with a Securities 
Purchase Agreement (the “2023 Purchase Agreement”). The pre-funded warrants have an exercise price of $0.025 per share of common stock, are immediately 
exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The holders of pre-funded warrants may not exercise a pre-funded warrant if the holder, together with 
its affiliates, would beneficially own more than 9.99% of the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise. 
The holders of pre-funded warrants may increase or decrease such percentages not in excess of 19.99% by providing at least 61 days’ prior notice to the 
Company. The 2023 Purchase Agreement also provides certain investors a participation right in future offerings of the Company’s equity securities. In 
connection with the 2023 Private Placement, the Company filed a registration statement to register shares on Form S-3 that was declared effective on September 
8, 2023. The gross proceeds of the 2023 Private Placement were $25.0 million and the Company incurred $272 thousand in issuance costs. Certain executive 
officers, senior management, and board members of the Company participated in this 2023 Private Placement, purchasing $1.16 million of shares of common 
stock at a purchase price of $25.25 per share. 

As of March 31, 2025, 185,732 pre-funded warrants were exercised and pre-funded warrants to purchase an aggregate of 4,817,389 shares of common 
stock remain outstanding. The 4,817,389 shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the pre-funded warrants is not included in the number of issued 
and outstanding shares of common stock as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024. These warrants meet the criteria for equity classification and were 
recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a component of stockholders’ equity within additional paid-in capital. 
 

Warrants to purchase 176 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $3,506.25 per share were issued pre-Merger and remain 
outstanding as of March 31, 2025 and December 31, 2024. These warrants have an expiration date of October 30, 2025. These warrants meet the criteria for 
equity classification and were recorded at fair value as of the grant date as a component of stockholders’ equity within additional paid-in capital. 

 
Shares of common stock reserved for future issuance were as follows:
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    Shares  
Pre-funded warrants outstanding     4,817,389 
Stock options outstanding     2,322,501 
Reserved for issuance under equity incentive plans     1,084,708 
RSUs outstanding     31,087 
Reserved for issuance under employee stock purchase plan     42,665 
Warrants outstanding     176 
Total     8,298,526 

 

 

8. Stock-Based Compensation 

Equity Plans

The Company inherited the 2017 Equity Incentive Plan (the "2017 Plan") as part of its merger with Tocagen, Inc. in June 2020. The 2017 Plan was 
terminated in May 2021 and replaced by the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2021 Plan”). The 2017 Plan will continue to govern outstanding awards issued 
under the 2017 Plan. The 2021 Plan, as amended and restated most recently in February 2025, has an aggregate of 3,340,000 authorized shares.  

 The 2021 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options (“ISOs”), non-statutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, 
restricted stock unit awards, performance-based stock awards, other forms of equity compensation and performance cash awards. ISOs may be granted only to 
employees. All other awards may be granted to employees, including officers, and to non-employee directors and consultants of the Company and its affiliates. 
Service-based awards generally vest over a four-year period, with the first 25% of such awards vesting following twelve months of continued employment or 
service with the remaining awards vesting monthly in equal installments over the following thirty-six months. Certain other awards vest monthly over thirty-six 
months for subsequent grants. For certain service-based awards to the board of directors, vesting occurs in thirty-six equal monthly installments over a three-
year period for initial grants and in twelve equal monthly installments over a twelve-month period for subsequent grants. As of March 31, 2025, there were 
1,069,508 shares available for issuance under the 2021 Plan.    

On July 26, 2020, the Company adopted the 2020 Inducement Equity Incentive Plan (the “2020 Inducement Plan”) and reserved 20,000 shares for future 
grant under the 2020 Inducement Plan. The 2020 Inducement Plan was amended on March 14, 2024 to increase the shares available for grant by an additional 
60,000. As of March 31, 2025, there were 15,200 shares available for issuance under the 2020 Inducement Plan. 

Stock Options

The risk-free interest rate valuation assumption for options is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve rate at the date of grant with a maturity 
approximating the expected term of the option. 

All option awards generally expire ten years from the date of grant. The expected term assumption for options granted to employees is determined using 
the simplified method that represents the average of the contractual term of the option and the weighted average vesting period of the option. The Company uses 
the simplified method because it does not have sufficient historical option exercise data to provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected term. 

During 2024, the expected volatility assumption utilized a weighted approach by blending the Company’s own historical price data with the historical 
volatility of a group of similar companies in the life sciences industry whose shares are publicly traded. The Company selected the peer group based on 
comparable characteristics, including development stage, product pipeline, and market capitalization. Effective January 1, 2025, the Company elected to remove 
peer group companies and determined its expected volatility assumption based solely on the volatility of the Company’s historical share prices using the closing 
share price beginning on June 15, 2020 and through the current period. 
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The assumed dividend yield is based upon the Company’s expectation of not paying dividends in the foreseeable future. 

 The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted in the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 was $6.33 and $15.66, 
respectively. 

The weighted-average assumptions used to value these stock options using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model were as follows. 

    Three Months Ended March 31,  
    2025   2024  

Risk-free interest rate     4.06%  4.14%
Dividend yield     0.00%  0.00%
Expected term of options (years)     5.78    6.08 
Volatility     117.1%  110.2%

 

The table below summarizes the stock option activity during the three months ended March 31, 2025:

 

   

Number of
Shares

Outstanding    

Weighted-
Average

Exercise Price    

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term
(Years)    

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value (in 
thousands)  

Balances at December 31, 2024     212,501    $ 103.51      7.82    $ 760 
Granted     2,110,000    $ 7.37      -      - 
Exercised     -    $ -      -      - 
Cancelled/Forfeited     -    $ -      -      - 
Balances at March 31, 2025     2,322,501    $ 16.17    9.69    $ 822 
Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2025     2,322,501    $ 16.17    9.69    $ 822 
Exercisable at March 31, 2025     205,495    $ 98.71    8.27    $ 43 

 

The aggregate intrinsic value of options as of March 31, 2025 is based on the Company’s closing stock price of $7.76 per share.

Restricted Stock Unit Awards

Restricted stock units vest over four years with one sixteenth of the restricted stock units vesting every quarter. 

Restricted stock unit award transactions during the three months ended March 31, 2025 were as follows:

 
            Weighted Avg  
            Grant Date  
      Shares     Fair Value  
Outstanding at December 31, 2024       28,537    $   38.50 
Granted       5,000        7.02 
Forfeited/Cancelled       —        — 
Issued as Common Stock       (2,450)       25.11 
Outstanding at March 31, 2025       31,087    $   34.49 

 
The aggregate fair value of RSUs vested during the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $56 thousand. 
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2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In May 2021, the Company's board of directors reactivated the Company’s 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”) which had previously been 
suspended. The ESPP allows eligible employees to withhold up to 15% of their earnings to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at a price per share 
equal to the lower of (i) 85% of the fair market value of a share of the Company’s common stock on the first date of an offering, or (ii) 85% of the fair market 
value of a share of the Company’s common stock on the date of purchase. The Company had 42,665 shares available for future issuance under the ESPP as of 
March 31, 2025. The number of shares of common stock reserved for issuance will automatically increase on January 1 of each calendar year through January 
1, 2027, by the lesser of (a) 1% of the total number of shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding on December 31 of the preceding calendar year, (b) 
12,000 shares, or (c) a number determined by the Company's board of directors that is less than (a) and (b). The Company issued 818 and 420 shares under the 
ESPP during the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The ESPP is considered a compensatory plan. The Company recorded stock-based 
compensation expense related to its ESPP of $7 thousand and $2 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Stock-based compensation expense included in the Company’s condensed consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for the three 
months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 is as follows (in thousands): 

 
       
    Three Months Ended March 31,  
    2025     2024  

Research and development   $ 402    $ 312 
General and administrative     1,218      493 
Total   $ 1,620    $ 805 

As of March 31, 2025, there was unrecognized stock-based compensation expense of $14.4 million related to stock options and restricted stock units 
with service conditions, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.78 years. Total unrecognized stock-based compensation as of 
March 31, 2025 was approximately $0.5 million related to restricted stock units with performance-based vesting. The performance-based conditions are tied to 
development milestones which have not been met.   

 

9. Related Party Transactions

One member of the Company’s board of directors received $150,000 and $29,000 for scientific consulting services during the three months ended March 
31, 2025 and 2024, respectively. The Company had a $50 thousand payable to the director as of March 31, 2025 included in accrued liabilities.

 
 

10. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a defined-contribution 401(k) plan for employees. Under the terms of the plan, employees may make voluntary contributions as a 
percentage of compensation. The Company matches employee contributions as permitted by the plan. The Company's total cost related to the 401(k) plan was 
$52 thousand for the three months ended March 31, 2025. The Company did not make contributions for the three months ended March 31, 2024.

 

11. Segment Information

The Company operates in one operating segment, which includes all activities related to the discovery and development of FB102, for the purposes of 
assessing performance, making operating decisions, and allocating Company resources. The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) is its chief 
executive officer, who considers net loss to evaluate overall expenses associated with conducting research and development activities, 
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which includes evaluating the progress of ongoing clinical trials and the planning and execution of current and future research and development activities. 
Further, the CODM reviews and utilizes research and development expenses, general and administrative expenses and other income, net as reported in the 
condensed statements of operations and comprehensive loss to manage the Company’s operations. The measure of performance, significant expenses, and other 
items are each reflected in the condensed statements of operations and comprehensive loss. In addition to the condensed statements of operations and 
comprehensive loss, the CODM is regularly provided with forecasted expense information which is used to determine the Company’s liquidity needs. The 
CODM also monitors the cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments as reported on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets to determine 
funding for research and development activities. The measure of segment assets is reported on the condensed consolidated balance sheets as total consolidated 
assets.
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Item 2: MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations should be read together with the consolidated financial statements 
of Forte Biosciences, Inc.  (“Forte”, “we”, “our”) and the accompanying notes appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-Q and in our Form 10-K as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 28, 2025. This discussion of the financial condition and results of operations regarding matters that 
are not historical facts, are forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the 
Private Securities Litigation Act of 1995 and, known as the PSLRA. These include statements regarding management’s intention, plans, beliefs, expectations or 
forecasts for the future, and, therefore, you are cautioned not to place undue reliance on them.  No forward-looking statement can be guaranteed, and actual 
results may differ materially from those projected. The Company undertakes no obligation to publicly update any forward-looking statement, whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise, except to the extent required by law.  We use words such as “anticipates,” “believes,” “plans,” 
“expects,” “projects,” “intends,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “potential,” “continue,” “guidance,” and similar expressions 
to identify these forward-looking statements that are intended to be covered by the safe-harbor provisions of the PSLRA.

Such forward-looking statements are based on our expectations and involve risks and uncertainties; consequently, actual results may differ materially 
from those expressed or implied in the statements due to a number of factors, including, but not limited to, our ability to continue as a going concern; risks 
relating to the sufficiency of the Company’s cash balance to fund the Company’s activities, and the expectations with respect thereto; the business and 
prospects of the Company; Forte’s plans to develop and potentially commercialize its product candidates, including FB102; the timing of initiation of Forte’s 
planned preclinical studies, clinical trials and potential future clinical trials and the timing of the availability of data from such preclinical studies and potential 
future clinical trials; the timing of any planned investigational new drug application or new drug application; Forte’s plans to research, develop and 
commercialize its current and future product candidates; Forte’s ability to successfully enter into collaborations, and to fulfill its obligations under any such 
collaboration agreements; the clinical utility, potential benefits and market acceptance of Forte’s product candidates; Forte’s commercialization, marketing 
and manufacturing capabilities and strategy; Forte’s ability to identify additional products or product candidates with significant commercial potential; 
developments and projections relating to Forte’s competitors and its industry; the impact of government laws and regulations; Forte’s ability to protect its 
intellectual property position; Forte’s estimates regarding future revenue, expenses, capital requirements and need for additional financing; and the 
Company’s industry or the economy generally.

The known risks and uncertainties are described in detail under the caption “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Form 10-Q, our Form 10-K filed with 
the SEC on March 28, 2025, and other SEC filings. Forward-looking statements included in this Form 10-Q are based on information available to Forte as of 
the date of this Form 10-Q. Accordingly, our actual results may materially differ from our current expectations, estimates and projections. Forte undertakes no 
obligation to update such forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this filing.

Overview 

Forte Biosciences, Inc. and its subsidiaries (www.fortebiorx.com) (“Forte”, “we”, “our”) is a clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company whose current 
lead product candidate is FB102. FB102 is a proprietary anti-CD122 monoclonal antibody therapeutic candidate with potentially broad autoimmune and 
autoimmune-related indications. 

Our FB102 program aims to address key pathways implicated in these indications with a CD122 antagonist. CD122 is a subunit of IL-2/IL-15 receptors 
which are key regulators of NK cells and certain T cell subsets.

In FB102 mechanistic in-vitro studies, human donor T and NK cells were stimulated with either IL2 or IL15 in the presence or absence of FB102.  
FB102 significantly inhibited proliferation (4-5x inhibition in the proliferation of T cells and 6-8 fold inhibition in the proliferation of NK cells) and also 
inhibited activation of T cells.  The level of FB102 inhibition of proliferation and activation was at levels comparable to unstimulated cells.  Human donor 
regulatory T cell (Treg) studies stimulated with IL2 demonstrated comparable proliferation both in the presence and 
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absence of FB102. Additionally, in-vitro assays demonstrated superiority of FB102 compared to competing antibodies.

In the 4- and 13-week non-human primate (NHP) studies, after a single dose, FB102 demonstrated significant reductions in the NK cell 
pharmacodynamic marker (up to approximately 80%-90%). Additionally, after multiple doses at exposures comparable to human therapeutic doses, Treg levels 
in the FB102 dosing arm were similar to vehicle supporting the in-vitro data and the mechanism of action of FB102.

Three cohorts of single and two cohorts of multiple ascending doses in a Phase 1 trial of healthy volunteers were completed in which FB102 
demonstrated a good safety profile. The primary objective of the Phase 1 trial was to assess the safety, tolerability and pharmacokinetics of single and multiple 
ascending doses of FB102.  No dose limiting toxicities were observed.  FB102 demonstrated significant reductions in the NK cell pharmacodynamic marker 
(greater than approximately 70%).  Based on the successful completion of the phase 1 healthy volunteer cohorts, we initiated a patient-based trial in celiac 
disease in the third quarter of 2024 and a patient-based trial for non-segmental vitiligo in the first quarter of 2025. Top-line results for the celiac disease trial are 
expected in the second quarter of 2025. 

Celiac disease is an autoimmune disease that is triggered by consuming gluten and results in damage to the small intestine. Symptoms include diarrhea, 
fatigue, headaches, anemia, nausea and dermatitis herpetiformis (an itchy skin rash).  A significant patient population of celiac disease patients do not respond 
to gluten free diet.  The health consequences for not treating include malnourishment, cancer, other autoimmune conditions.  It is estimated that 1:133 in U.S. 
(2.5 million people) have celiac disease (Fasano, Arch Intern Med. 2003 PMID: 12578508) and that 0.3% to 0.5% of celiac disease patients are non-responsive 
(Malamut Gastroenterology. 2024 38556189).  There are no approved treatment options for celiac disease.

 FB102 has potentially other autoimmune and autoimmune-related applications including vitiligo, alopecia areata, and type 1 diabetes (T1D). 

 Vitiligo is a disease of the skin mediated primarily by NK and CD8+ T cells that attack melanocytes leading to patchy depigmentation of the skin. It is 
estimated that vitiligo affects 2 million people in the U.S (NIH). The global vitiligo treatment market size was estimated at $1.2 billion in 2018 and is projected 
to reach $1.9 billion by 2026 (Fortune Business Insights).

Alopecia areata is a disease in which immune cells attack and damage hair follicles and is mediated primarily by CD8+ T cells and NK cells. The global 
alopecia treatment market was valued at $2.7 billion in 2018, and is projected to reach $3.9 billion by 2026, registering a CAGR of 4.6% from 2019 to 2026 
(Allied Mkt Research)​.

 Type 1 diabetes is caused by autoreactive T Cells destroying insulin-producing pancreatic β- cells.  CD8+ T cells with receptors recognizing β-cell 
specific peptides are enriched in pancreatic islets of T1D patients. Environmental stress causes β-cells to upregulate MHC and to express IL-15 and IL-15RA. 
(Herold 2024 Nat Rev Immunol. PMID 38308004). It is estimated that 64,000 people are diagnosed with T1D annually (https://beyondtype1.org/type-1-
diabetes-statistics/).

We had approximately $45.9 million in cash and cash equivalents as of March 31, 2025. Our common stock is publicly traded on the Nasdaq Capital 
Market under the ticker symbol FBRX. Prior to our merger with Tocagen, Inc., a publicly traded biotechnology company, Forte was a privately held company 
incorporated in Delaware on May 3, 2017.

In March 2025, the Company filed a new shelf registration statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective by the SEC in April 2025 for the issuance 
of up to $300.0 million in securities. During the three months ended March 31, 2025, the Company did not issue any securities pursuant to this new shelf 
registration statement under a  Form S-3.  

On November 21, 2024, we issued 4,931,389 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $5.5520 per share, and 4,615,555 pre-funded warrants to 
purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.5510 per pre-funded warrant ("2024 Private Placement"). The pre-funded warrants have an exercise 
price of $0.001 per share of common stock, are immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The gross proceeds of the 2024 Private 
Placement were $53.0 million and we incurred $3.4 million in issuance costs. In connection with the 2024 Private Placement, we filed a registration statement 
on Form S-3 that was declared effective on December 20, 2024. 
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On July 31, 2023, we issued 606,678 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $25.15 per share, and 387,566 pre-funded warrants to purchase 
shares of common stock at a purchase price of $25.13 per pre-funded warrant ("2023 Private Placement"). The pre-funded warrants have an exercise price of 
$0.025 per share of common stock, are immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The gross proceeds of the 2023 Private 
Placement were $25.0 million and we incurred $272 thousand in issuance costs. Certain of our executive officers, senior management, and board members 
participated in this 2023 Private Placement, purchasing $1.16 million of shares of common stock at a purchase price of $25.25 per share. In connection with the 
2023 Private Placement, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective on September 8, 2023. 

Intellectual Property 

We own one US patent for administering a combination of Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria along with metabolites for treatment of a wide 
variety of skin conditions. The patent’s estimated expiration date is 2039. This patent is not material to Forte’s FB102 program. We also own two pending PCT 
applications, two pending US applications, one pending application each in Europe, Australia, Canada, Israel, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, 
Singapore, Brazil, India, South Africa, Taiwan and Argentina related to the FB102 program. The estimated expiration dates of these patents are 2043-2045. We 
also own one pending PCT application that is not material to Forte's FB102 program.     

Macroeconomic Environment 
 
Businesses throughout our industry have been and will continue to be impacted by a number of challenging and unexpected global and national events 

and circumstances that continue to evolve, including without limitation, the military conflicts in Ukraine and the Middle East, increased economic uncertainty, 
inflation, rising interest rates, recent and any potential future financial institution failures, trade policies, potential trade wars, and actions or inactions of the 
U.S. or other major national governments (including the imposition of tariffs and retaliatory measures) and other geopolitical tensions. The extent of the impact 
of these events and circumstances on our business, operations and development timelines and plans remains uncertain, and will depend on certain 
developments, including the duration and scope of the events and their impact on our development activities, third parties with whom we do business, as well as 
its impact on regulatory authorities and our key scientific and management personnel. We have been and continue to actively monitor the potential impacts that 
these various events and circumstances may have on our business and we take steps, where warranted, to minimize any potential negative impacts on our 
business resulting from these events and circumstances. 

Components of Operating Results

Revenue

We have no products approved for commercial sale or in active development and have not generated any revenue from product sales. In the future, we 
may generate revenue from product sales, royalties on product sales, license fees, milestones, or other upfront payments if we enter into any collaborations or 
license agreements. We expect that our future revenue will fluctuate from quarter to quarter for many reasons, including the uncertain timing and amount of any 
such payments and sales.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Research and development costs consist primarily of salaries and benefits of research and 
development personnel and costs related to research activities, preclinical studies, clinical trials and drug manufacturing. Non-refundable advance payments for 
goods or services that will be used in future research and development activities are deferred and capitalized and are only expensed when the goods have been 
received or when the service has been performed rather than when the payment is made.

Drug manufacturing and clinical trial costs are a component of research and development expenses. The Company expenses costs for its drug 
manufacturing activities performed by Contract Manufacturing Organizations (“CMOs”), costs for its preclinical and clinical trial activities performed by 
Contract Research Organizations (“CROs”) and other service providers, as they are incurred, based upon estimates of the work completed over the 
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life of the individual study in accordance with associated agreements. The Company uses information it receives from internal personnel and outside service 
providers to estimate the percentage of completion and therefore the expense to be incurred. Our research and development expenses may fluctuate due to 
fluctuations in the level of manufacturing and clinical activity as we continue to develop FB102.

 

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of professional fees such as legal, auditing, tax and business consulting services, personnel 
expenses and travel costs, costs associated with being a publicly traded company such as Sarbanes-Oxley compliance, accounting fees, and directors’ and 
officers’ liability insurance premiums. Our general and administrative expenses may fluctuate due to fluctuations in professional and advisory fees and as we 
build out our infrastructure to further develop FB102.

Other Income, net

Other income, net consists of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investment balances partially offset by franchise taxes 
and nominal foreign exchange gains and losses.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

There have been no significant changes during the three months ended March 31, 2025 to our critical accounting policies, significant judgments and 
estimates as disclosed in our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations included in our Annual Report on our Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024 as filed with the SEC on March 28, 2025. 

Results of Operations

Comparison of Three Months Ended March 31, 2025 and 2024

The following tables summarize our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

 
    For the Three Months Ended March 31,        
    2025     2024     Change  
Operating expenses:                 
Research and development   $ 12,692    $ 4,353    $ 8,339 
General and administrative     3,432      3,451      (19)

Total operating expenses     16,124      7,804      8,320 
Other income, net     468      384      84 
Net loss   $ (15,656)   $ (7,420)   $ (8,236)

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $12.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025, compared to $4.4 million for the same period in 
2024. The increase was primarily due to an increase of $8.9 million in manufacturing expenses to support our two clinical trials and clinical expenses for celiac 
disease and vitiligo indications, partially offset by a decrease of $0.5 million in personnel-related expenses.

Our research and development expenses may fluctuate due to fluctuations in the level of manufacturing and clinical activity as we continue to develop 
FB102.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $3.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared to $3.5 million for the same period in 
2024. The decrease was primarily due to decreases in legal and professional 
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expenses of $1.0 million offset by an increase of $0.9 million in personnel related expenses including additional non-cash stock-based compensation of $0.7 
million.

Our general and administrative expenses may fluctuate in the future due to fluctuations in professional and advisory fees as we build out our 
infrastructure to develop FB102.

Other Income, net

The increase in other income, net for the three months ended March 31, 2025 compared with the same period in the prior year was primarily driven by 
higher interest income due to an increase in our average cash and cash equivalents.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have no products approved for commercial sale and have not generated any revenue from product sales or other sources. We have never been 
profitable and have incurred operating losses in each year since inception. Our net loss was $15.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2025. As of 
March 31, 2025, we had an accumulated deficit of $169.7 million. We expect to incur operating losses in the foreseeable future as we develop our current lead 
product candidate, FB102. 

In March 2025, we filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 that went effective in April 2025 to register the issuance of up to $300 million in 
securities. 

On November 21, 2024, we issued 4,931,389 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $5.552 per Share and 4,615,555 pre-funded warrants to 
purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.551 per pre-funded warrant  in connection with the 2024 Purchase Agreement. The pre-funded 
warrants have an exercise price of $0.001 per share of common stock, are immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The holders of 
pre-funded warrants may not exercise a pre-funded warrant if the holder, together with its affiliates, would beneficially own more than 19.99% of the number of 
shares of common stock outstanding immediately after giving effect to such exercise. The holders of pre-funded warrants may increase or decrease such 
percentages not in excess of 19.99% by providing at least 61 days’ prior notice to the Company. In connection with the 2024 Private Placement, the Company 
filed a registration statement to register shares on Form S-3 that was declared effective on December 20, 2024. The gross proceeds of the 2024 Private 
Placement were $53.0 million and the Company incurred $3.4 million in issuance costs. Certain executive officers and senior management of the Company 
participated in this 2024 Private Placement, purchasing $475 thousand in shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.552 per share.  

On July 31, 2023, we issued 606,678 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $25.15 per share, and 387,566 pre-funded warrants to purchase 
shares of common stock at a purchase price of $25.13 per pre-funded warrant (the “2023 Private Placement"). The pre-funded warrants have an exercise price of 
$0.025 per share of common stock, are immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The gross proceeds of the 2023 Private 
Placement were $25.0 million and we incurred $272 thousand in issuance costs. Certain executive officers, senior management, and board members participated 
in this 2023 Private Placement, purchasing $1.16 million of shares of common stock at a purchase price of $25.25 per share. In connection with the 2023 Private 
Placement, we filed a registration statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective on September 8, 2023.

We had cash and cash equivalents of approximately $45.9 million as of March 31, 2025.  We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be 
sufficient to fund our operations for at least 12 months from the filing date of this Form 10-Q.  

Future Capital Requirements 

We have not generated any revenue from product sales or from out-licensing. We do not know when, or if, we will generate any revenue. We expect to 
incur ongoing losses as we develop our current lead product candidate, FB102, which has potentially broad application for autoimmune and autoimmune-related 
indications such as celiac's disease, vitiligo, alopecia areata and type 1 diabetes. FB102 is currently in Phase 1 clinical development. Our future capital 
requirements are difficult to forecast and will depend on many factors, including but not limited to:
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• the initiation and progress of additional clinical trials and preclinical studies for our product candidate and other indications of FB102;

• the terms and timing of any strategic alliance, licensing and other arrangements that we may establish; 

• the number of programs we pursue;

• the outcome, timing and cost of regulatory approvals;

• the cost and timing of hiring new employees to support our continued growth;

• the costs involved in patent filing, prosecution, and enforcement; and

• the costs and timing of having clinical supplies of our product candidates manufactured. 

If we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Any future debt financing may impose upon us 
covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends, repurchase our common stock, make 
certain investments and engage in certain merger, consolidation or asset sale transactions. Any equity or debt financing may contain terms that are not favorable 
to us or our stockholders. In addition, our ability to raise additional funds may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and 
the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the United States and worldwide resulting from the conflicts in Eastern Europe and 
the Middle East, trade policies, potential trade wars, and actions or inactions of the U.S. or other major national governments (including the imposition of tariffs 
and retaliatory measures) and otherwise. If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce or terminate some or all of 
our development programs and clinical trials. We may also be required to sell or license to other parties rights to develop or commercialize our drug candidates 
that we would prefer to retain.

 

See the “Risk Factors” section on this Form 10-Q for additional risks associated with our substantial capital requirements.

Summary Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the three months ended March 31, 2025 and 2024 (in thousands):

       
    For the Three Months Ended March 31,  
    2025     2024  

Net cash (used in) provided by:            
Operating activities   $ (10,355)   $ (6,667)
Investing activities     36,289      (6)
Financing activities     (2,322)     (8)
Net change in cash and cash equivalents   $ 23,612    $ (6,681)

Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was $10.4 million and consisted primarily of a net loss of $15.7 million 
adjusted for non-cash stock-based compensation of $1.6 million and decreases in net operating assets of $3.9 million.

Net cash used in operating activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $6.7 million and consisted primarily of a net loss of $7.4 million 
adjusted for non-cash stock-based compensation of $0.8 million.
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Investing Activities

Net cash provided by investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was primarily due to proceeds from the redemption of U.S treasury 
bills.

Net cash used in investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was due to the purchase of property and equipment.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2025 was primarily due to the payment of financing issuance costs incurred in 
connection with the 2024 Private Placement that were incurred in the previous year and paid in the current quarter.

Net cash used in financing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was primarily due to tax payments related to the settlement of equity 
awards partially offset by cash received for purchases of our common stock under our employee stock purchase plan. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.

Contractual Obligations 

See Note 6 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.

Recent Accounting Standards

See Note 2 to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-Q.
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Qualitative and Quantitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b‑2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, and are not 
required to provide the information required under this item.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rules 13a‑15(e) and 15d‑15(e) under 
the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report on Form 10-Q. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, 
management recognized that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance of 
achieving the desired control objectives and management necessarily applies its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and 
procedures. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were 
effective at the reasonable assurance level as of March 31, 2025.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended March 31, 2025 that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 
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Part II. OTHER INFORMATION
 
Item 1: Legal Proceedings  

Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Wesco Insurance Co., et al., Case No. N24C-10-015 VLM CCLD (Del. Super. Ct.)

On October 1, 2024, the Company filed a complaint (the “Wesco Complaint”), captioned Forte Biosciences, Inc. v. Wesco Insurance Co., et al., Case 
No. N24C-10-015 VLM CCLD, in the Superior Court of the State of Delaware, against its current and former carriers of Directors & Officers liability 
insurance, Wesco Insurance Company, Beazley Insurance Company, and Palms Insurance Company, Limited (collectively, “Insurance Defendants”).  The 
Wesco Complaint brings claims for declaratory relief, breach of contract, and bad faith, alleging that the Insurance Defendants breached their contractual and 
legal obligations by refusing to acknowledge and perform their obligation to provide insurance coverage to the Company in connection with: (i) the action 
captioned Camac Fund, LP v. Paul A. Wagner, et al., C.A. No. 2023-0817-MTZ (Del. Ch.), described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on 
March 28, 2025; (ii) a books and records action brought by Camac in November 2022, which was captioned Camac Fund L.P. v Forte Biosciences Inc., C.A. 
No. 2022-1075-NAC (Del. Ch.), described in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 28, 2025; and (iii) two books demands for books 
and records under Delaware General Corporation Law Section 220, made by Camac on August 26, 2022 and August 23, 2023, respectively.  The Complaint 
seeks a declaratory judgment that one or more of the Insurance Defendants have an obligation to provide insurance coverage to the Company and the named 
defendants in the referenced actions, reimbursement and compensatory damages from the Insurance Defendants for breach of contract, and consequential and 
punitive damages for the Insurance Defendants’ bad faith coverage positions. 

 

Item 1A.  Risk Factors. 

You should consider carefully the following information about the risks described below, together with the other information contained in this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q and in our other public filings, in evaluating our business. If any of the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition, 
results of operations, and future growth prospects would likely be materially and adversely affected. In these circumstances, the market price of our common 
stock would likely decline. 

Our ability to execute on our business strategy is subject to a number of risks, which are discussed more fully below in this section. You should carefully 
consider these risks before making an investment in our common stock. These risks include, among others, the following:

• Forte will require additional capital to fund its operations and if Forte fails to obtain necessary financing, Forte will not be able to complete the 
development and commercialization of its current lead product candidate, FB102, or any future product candidates.

• Forte’s business is almost entirely dependent on the success of developing FB102, which may not be successful.

• Results from early preclinical studies and clinical trials may not be predictive of results from later stage studies or clinical trials. 

• Forte has no approved products and has a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate its technology and product development 
capabilities and predict its future performance.

• Forte has incurred net losses in every year since its inception and anticipates that it will continue to incur net losses in the future.

• Forte’s ability to successfully develop any product candidate is highly uncertain.

• Clinical development is a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. Forte may incur additional costs or experience delays in 
completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of any product candidate.
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• Forte’s planned preclinical studies, current clinical trials or future clinical trials or those of its future collaborators may reveal significant adverse 
events and may result in a safety profile that could inhibit regulatory approval or market acceptance of any of its product candidates.

• Positive results from early preclinical studies and current clinical trials are not necessarily predictive of the results of any future clinical trials of 
product candidates. Forte may be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize any product candidates. 

• Interim top-line and preliminary data from future clinical trials that Forte announces or publishes from time to time may change as more patient data 
become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

• The market opportunities for FB102 may be limited and Forte’s estimates of the incidence and prevalence of its target patient populations may be 
inaccurate.

• Forte is very early in its development efforts. FB102 will require significant additional clinical development before Forte seeks regulatory approval 
of any product candidate. If Forte is unable to advance FB102 to clinical development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize a 
product candidate or experiences significant delays in doing so, its business will be materially harmed.

• If Forte is unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for any product candidate Forte develops, its competitors could develop and 
commercialize products or technology similar or identical to Forte’s, and its ability to successfully commercialize any product candidate Forte may 
develop, and its technology, may be adversely affected.

• Forte expects to rely on third parties to conduct its preclinical studies and clinical trials and to manufacture its product candidates.

• Forte was previously non-compliant with Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement and should Forte not be compliant in the future, that could result 
in the delisting of our common stock and limit investor’s ability to trade in our common stock.

• The market price of Forte’s common stock is expected to be volatile. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s 
securities, stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation against those companies. Litigation has previously arisen, and more 
could arise, in connection with the 2023 Private Placement or the 2024 Private Placement, which could be costly, divert management’s attention and 
otherwise materially harm our business.

• If Forte experiences material weaknesses in or otherwise fails to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may 
not be able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, 
as a result, the value of our common stock.

• A variety of risks associated with public health threats and epidemics, including epidemic diseases such as COVID-19, or the emergence of another 
public health emergency could materially adversely affect Forte’s business.

Risks related to Forte’s business, technology and industry

Forte will require additional capital to fund its operations and if Forte fails to obtain necessary financing, Forte will not be able to complete the 
development and commercialization of its current lead product candidate, FB102, or any future product candidates.

Forte’s operations have consumed substantial amounts of cash since inception. Forte expects to continue to spend substantial amounts to conduct preclinical 
studies and clinical trials of its current and future programs, to validate the manufacturing process and specifications for its product candidate, to seek regulatory 
approvals for its product 
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candidate and to launch and commercialize any products for which Forte receives regulatory approval, including potentially building its own commercial 
organization. As of March 31, 2025, Forte had approximately $45.9 million of cash and cash equivalents on hand. Based on its current operating plan, Forte 
believes that its current cash available will enable it to fund its operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements through at least twelve months from the 
issuance date of this Form 10-Q.  However, its future capital requirements and the period for which its existing resources will support its operations may vary 
significantly from what Forte currently expects, and Forte will in any event require additional capital in order to complete the clinical development of FB102. 
Forte’s monthly spending levels will vary based on new and ongoing development and corporate activities. Because the length of time and activities associated 
with development of FB102 and any future product candidates is highly uncertain, Forte is unable to estimate the actual funds it will require for development 
and any approved marketing and commercialization activities. Forte’s future funding requirements, both near and long-term, will depend on many factors, 
including, but not limited to:
 

• the initiation, progress, timing, costs and results of additional preclinical studies and clinical trials for FB102 and any future product candidates 
and any need to conduct additional such studies as may be required by a regulator;

• the clinical development plans Forte establishes for FB102 and any future product candidates;

• the terms of any collaboration agreements Forte may choose to initiate or conclude;

• the outcome, timing and cost of meeting regulatory requirements established by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”), and other 
comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

• delay or failure in obtaining the necessary approvals from regulators or institutional review boards (“IRBs”) in order to commence a clinical trial 
at a prospective trial site, or their suspension or termination of a clinical trial once commenced;

• failure of third-party contractors, such as contract research organizations (“CROs”), or investigators to comply with regulatory requirements, 
including Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”);

• governmental or regulatory delays and changes in regulation or policy relating to the development and commercialization of its product candidate 
by the FDA or other comparable foreign regulatory authorities;

• undertaking and completing additional preclinical studies to generate data required to support the continued clinical development of a product 
candidate;

• inability to enroll sufficient patients to complete a protocol;

• difficulty in having patients complete a trial or return for post-treatment follow-up;

• clinical sites deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial;

• problems with biopharmaceutical product candidate storage, stability and distribution;

• its inability to add new or additional clinical trial sites;

• varying interpretations of the data generated from its preclinical or clinical trials;

• Forte’s inability to manufacture, or obtain from third parties, adequate supply of biopharmaceutical product candidate sufficient to complete its 
preclinical studies and clinical trials;

• the costs of establishing, maintaining, and overseeing a quality system compliant with current good manufacturing practice requirements 
(“cGMPs”) and a supply chain for the development and manufacture of its product candidate;

• the cost of defending intellectual property disputes, including patent infringement actions brought by third parties against Forte, FB102;

• the effect of competing technological and market developments;

• the cost and timing of establishing, expanding and scaling manufacturing capabilities;
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• the effect of potential worsening global economic conditions and the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in the 
United States and worldwide resulting from epidemic diseases such as COVID-19, the military conflicts in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, 
trade policies, potential trade wars, and actions or inactions of the U.S. or other major national governments (including the imposition of tariffs 
and retaliatory measures), and any potential future financial institution failures, and otherwise; 

• the effect of inflationary pressure on the United States capital markets and our ability to raise capital, including any impact of adverse 
developments affecting the financial services industry, such as those based on liquidity constraints or concerns;

• the cost of establishing sales, marketing and distribution capabilities for any product candidate for which Forte may receive regulatory approval 
in regions where Forte chooses to commercialize its products on its own; and

• potential unforeseen business disruptions or market fluctuations that delay its product development or clinical trials and increase its costs or 
expenses, such as business or operational disruptions, delays, or system failures due to malware, unauthorized access, terrorism, war, natural 
disasters, strikes, geopolitical conflicts, restrictions on trade, import or export restrictions, or public health crises.

 
In March 2025, the Company filed a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 that went effective in April 2025 to register the issuance of up to $300 

million in securities. 
 

On November 21, 2024, the Company issued 4,931,389 shares of our common stock at a purchase price of $5.5520 per share, and 4,615,555 pre-funded 
warrants to purchase shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.5510 per pre-funded warrant ("2024 Private Placement"). The pre-funded warrants have 
an exercise price of $0.001 per share of common stock, are immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The gross proceeds of the 
2024 Private Placement were $53.0 million and the Company incurred $3.4 million in issuance costs. Certain executive officers and senior management of the 
Company participated in this 2024 Private Placement, purchasing $475 thousand in shares of common stock at a purchase price of $5.552 per share. In 
connection with the 2024 Private Placement, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 that was declared effective on December 20, 2024.

In July 2023, the Company completed the 2023 Private Placement financing pursuant to which the Company sold (i) 606,678 shares of Common Stock, 
and (ii) 387,566 pre-funded warrants to purchase Common Stock at a purchase price of $25.13 per pre-funded warrant. The pre-funded warrants have an 
exercise price of $0.025 per share of Common Stock, were immediately exercisable and remain exercisable until exercised in full. The gross proceeds of the 
2023 Private Placement were approximately $25 million, before deducting offering expenses payable by the Company. While the proceeds from the Private 
Placements provided further funding for the Company’s operations, the Company will still require additional capital to fund its operations and complete the 
development and commercialization of FB102 or any future product candidates.

Forte does not have any committed external source of funds or other support for its development efforts, and Forte cannot be certain that additional 
funding will be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Until Forte can generate sufficient product or royalty revenue to finance its cash requirements, which 
Forte may never do, Forte expects to finance its future cash needs through a combination of public or private equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, 
strategic alliances, licensing arrangements and other marketing or distribution arrangements. If Forte raises additional funds through public or private equity 
offerings, the terms of these securities may include liquidation or other preferences that adversely affect its stockholders’ rights. Further, to the extent that Forte 
raises additional capital through the sale of common stock or securities convertible into or exchangeable for common stock, each existing investors’ ownership 
interest will be diluted. If Forte raises additional capital through debt financing, Forte would be subject to fixed payment obligations and may be subject to 
covenants limiting or restricting its ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, declaring dividends or 
acquiring or licensing intellectual property rights. If Forte raises additional capital through marketing and distribution arrangements or other collaborations, 
strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, Forte may have to relinquish certain valuable rights to its product candidate, technologies, future 
revenue streams or research programs or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to it. Forte also could be required to seek collaborators for one or 
more of its current or future product candidates at an earlier stage than otherwise would be desirable or relinquish its 
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rights to product candidates or technologies that Forte otherwise would seek to develop or commercialize itself. In addition, our ability to raise additional funds 
may be adversely impacted by potential worsening global economic conditions and the recent disruptions to, and volatility in, the credit and financial markets in 
the United States and worldwide resulting from trade policies, potential trade wars, and actions or inactions of the U.S. or other major national governments 
(including the imposition of tariffs and retaliatory measures), the military conflicts in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, the effect of inflationary pressure on 
the United States capital markets, adverse developments affecting the financial services industry (such as the closure of Silicon Valley Bank in March 2023 and 
any similar bank closures) and otherwise. If Forte is unable to raise additional capital in sufficient amounts or on terms acceptable to it, Forte may have to 
significantly delay, scale back or discontinue the development or commercialization of its current product candidate, FB102, or one or more of its other current 
or future research and development initiatives. Any of the above events could significantly harm its business, prospects, financial condition and results of 
operations and cause the price of its common stock to decline.

Forte’s business through 2021 had been almost entirely dependent on the success of FB-401 and Forte subsequently decided to discontinue the 
advancement of FB-401. In 2022, Forte decided to devote significant time and resources to developing FB102, which may not be successful.

Through 2021, Forte invested substantially all of its efforts and financial resources into the research and development of FB-401, which was its only 
product candidate to enter clinical trials. In September 2021, Forte announced that it would not be continuing the advancement of FB-401.

Following the announcement of the FB-401 trial results, the Company ceased further development of FB-401 and conducted an extensive process to 
evaluate strategic alternatives. Following such process, the Company determined to focus on developing its FB102 program, and has completed a healthy 
volunteer trial for FB102. The Company plans to continue development of FB102 and initiated a patient-based trial in the third quarter of 2024, for which top-
line results are expected in the second quarter of 2025. We will be required to devote significant time and resources to developing FB102, which may not be 
successful.

Results from early-preclinical and clinical studies may not be predictive of results from later-stage studies or clinical trials.

We are still early in our testing of FB102, and FB102 is our only product candidate in clinical development. While initial preclinical data demonstrated 
positive activity, additional clinical studies may produce negative or inconclusive results. The FDA or a non-US regulatory authority may require us to conduct 
additional testing. Success of FB102 in early preclinical studies does not mean that future clinical trials will be successful. In addition, preclinical data are often 
susceptible to various interpretations and analyses, and many companies whose product candidates performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies have 
nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including those with greater resources and experience 
than us, have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results in preclinical studies and early clinical trials. Any of these 
events could limit the commercial potential of our product candidate and have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financial condition and 
results of operations.

Forte’s prospects are highly dependent on a single product candidate, FB102. If we are unable to complete further development of, obtain approval for and 
commercialize FB102 for one or more indications in a timely manner, our business will be harmed. 

Forte’s long-term prospects are highly dependent on future acceptance and revenues from a single product, FB102.  FB102 is our only product candidate 
at this time. Forte recently completed a healthy volunteer trial for FB102 and subsequently initiated a patient-based trial for FB102 in the third quarter of 2024, 
for which top-line results are expected in the second quarter of 2025.  Any further development of FB102 would require substantial capital and time to complete 
and there is no guarantee that any future clinical trial, if pursued, would be timely or successful, or that FB102 will be approved or, if approved, that 
commercialization would be successful.

Forte has no approved products and has a limited operating history, which may make it difficult to evaluate its technology and product development 
capabilities and predict its future performance.

We are very early in our development efforts of FB102 and, prior to discontinuing the advancement of FB-401, were early in our clinical development 
efforts of FB-401.
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Prior to the closing of the Merger, Forte’s predecessor company was formed in 2017 as a privately held company. Forte has no products approved for 
commercial sale and has not generated any revenue from product sales. Forte’s ability to generate product revenue or profits was dependent on the successful 
development and eventual commercialization of FB-401 prior to Forte’s decision to discontinue development of FB-401 and, following Forte’s decision to 
focus on development of FB102, Forte’s prospects are currently highly dependent on Forte’s ability to successfully develop FB102. Given the early stage of 
FB102, which recently completed a healthy volunteer trial, and the highly uncertain nature of early-stage drug development, Forte may never be able to develop 
or commercialize a marketable product.

Forte’s current and future programs and product candidates will require additional discovery research, preclinical development, clinical development, 
regulatory approval to commercialize the product, manufacturing validation, obtaining manufacturing supply, capacity and expertise, building of a commercial 
and distribution organization, substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before Forte generates any revenue from product sales. In addition, any 
drug product candidate must be approved for marketing by the FDA or certain other health regulatory agencies before Forte may commercialize any product in 
the respective jurisdictions.

Forte’s limited operating history may make it difficult to evaluate its, or any new, technology and industry and predict its future performance. Forte’s 
short history as an operating company makes any assessment of its future success or viability subject to significant uncertainty. Forte will encounter risks and 
difficulties frequently experienced by early-stage companies in evolving fields, for example the failure of the FB-401 trial. If Forte does not address these risks 
successfully, its business will suffer. Similarly, Forte expects that its financial condition and operating results will fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter 
and year to year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond its control. As a result, its stockholders should not rely upon the results of any quarterly 
or annual period as an indicator of future operating performance.

Forte has incurred net losses in every year since its inception and anticipates that it will continue to incur net losses in the future.

Forte is a clinical-stage life sciences company with a limited operating history. Investment in product development in the life sciences industry, 
including of biopharmaceutical products, is highly speculative because it entails substantial upfront capital expenditures and significant risk that any potential 
product candidate will fail to demonstrate adequate effect or an acceptable safety profile, gain regulatory approval and become commercially viable. Forte’s 
current lead product candidate, FB102, is currently in clinical development. Forte has no products approved for commercial sale and has not generated any 
revenue from product sales to date, and Forte will continue to incur significant research and development and other expenses related to its ongoing operations. 
As a result, Forte is not profitable and has incurred losses in each year since its inception in 2017. For the three months ended March 31, 2025, Forte reported a 
net loss of $15.7 million. As of March 31, 2025, Forte had an accumulated deficit of $169.7 million. Forte expects to continue to incur significant losses for the 
foreseeable future, and Forte expects these losses to increase as Forte continues its research and development of, and seeks regulatory approvals for, its current 
lead product candidate, FB102, and any future product candidates Forte may seek to develop. Forte anticipates that its expenses will increase substantially if, 
and as, it:

• conducts additional preclinical studies and clinical trials for FB102 and any future product candidates;

• continues to discover and develop additional applications for FB102 and any future product candidates;

• maintains, expands and protects its intellectual property portfolio;

• hires or contracts additional clinical, scientific, manufacturing and commercial personnel to support its product development and 
commercialization efforts;

• validates a manufacturing process and specifications for FB102 and any future product candidates;

• establishes in-house manufacturing capabilities;

• establishes a commercial manufacturing source and secures supply chain capacity sufficient to provide clinical trial material and commercial 
quantities of any product candidate for which Forte may obtain regulatory approval;

• acquires or in-licenses other product candidates and technologies;
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• seeks various regulatory approvals;

• establishes a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any product candidate for which Forte may obtain regulatory 
approval; and

• adds operational, compliance, financial and management information systems and personnel to support being a public company.

To become and remain profitable, Forte or any potential future collaborator must develop and eventually commercialize products with significant market 
potential at an adequate profit margin after cost of goods sold and other expenses. This will require Forte to be successful in a range of challenging activities, 
including completing additional preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining marketing approval for FB102 or any future product candidates, manufacturing, 
marketing and selling products for which Forte may obtain marketing approval and satisfying any post-marketing requirements. Forte may never succeed in any 
or all of these activities and, even if Forte does, Forte may never generate revenue that is significant enough to achieve profitability. If Forte does achieve 
profitability, it may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis. Forte’s failure to become and remain profitable would decrease 
the value of the company and could impair its ability to raise capital, maintain its research and development efforts, expand its business or continue its 
operations.

Even if Forte succeeds in obtaining regulatory approval and commercializing its current product candidate, FB102, Forte may continue to incur 
substantial research and development and other expenditures to develop and market additional applications for its current product candidate or any future 
product candidates. Forte may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect its 
business. The size of its future net losses will depend, in part, on the rate of future growth of its expenses and its ability to generate revenue. Forte’s prior losses 
and expected future losses have had and will continue to have an adverse effect on its stockholders’ equity and working capital.

 
Forte’s ability to successfully develop any product candidate is highly uncertain.

Forte’s ability to successfully develop FB102 or any other future product candidate is highly uncertain and is dependent on numerous factors, many of 
which are beyond Forte’s control. Product candidates that appear promising in the early phases of development may fail to reach the market for several reasons, 
including:

• preclinical study or clinical study results may show the product candidate to be less effective than desired or to have harmful or problematic side 
effects or toxicities;

• clinical trial results may show the product candidate to be less effective than expected (e.g., a clinical trial could fail to meet its primary 
endpoint(s)) or to have unacceptable side effects or toxicities;

• failure to execute the clinical trials caused by slow enrollment in clinical trials, patients dropping out of clinical trials, length of time to achieve 
clinical trial endpoints, additional time requirements for data analysis, inability to validate the manufacturing process or to achieve cGMP 
compliance for the product candidate or inability to identify a suitable bioanalytical assay method agreeable to applicable regulators;

• failure to receive the necessary regulatory approvals or a delay in receiving such approvals, delays in preparation responding to an FDA request 
for additional clinical data or unexpected safety or manufacturing issues;

• manufacturing costs, formulation issues, manufacturing deficiencies or other factors that that make FB102 or any future product candidate 
uneconomical; and

• proprietary rights of others and their competing products and technologies that may prevent FB102 or any future product candidate from being 
commercialized.

The length of time necessary to complete clinical trials and to submit an application for marketing approval of a drug product candidate for a final 
decision by a regulatory authority may be difficult to predict for FB102 or any future product candidate, in large part because of its limited regulatory history.

Even if Forte is successful in obtaining market approval for a drug product, commercial success of any approved products will also depend in large part 
on marketing acceptance, the availability of insurance coverage and 
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adequate reimbursement from third-party payors, including government payors, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and managed care organizations, 
which may be affected by existing and future healthcare reform measures designed to reduce the cost of healthcare. For example, in August 2022, Congress 
passed the Inflation Reduction Act of 2022, which includes prescription drug provisions that have significant implications for the pharmaceutical industry and 
Medicare beneficiaries, including allowing the federal government to negotiate a maximum fair price for certain high-priced single source Medicare drugs, 
imposing penalties and excise tax for manufacturers that fail to comply with the drug price negotiation requirements, requiring inflation rebates for all Medicare 
Part B and Part D drugs, with limited exceptions, if their drug prices increase faster than inflation, and redesigning Medicare Part D to reduce out-of-pocket 
prescription drug costs for beneficiaries, among other changes. Only high-expenditure single-source drugs that have been approved for at least 7 years (11 years 
for single-source biologics) can qualify for negotiation, with the negotiated price taking effect two years after the selection year. For 2026, CMS selected 10 
high-cost Medicare Part D drugs in 2023 and the negotiated maximum fair price for each drug has been announced. CMS has selected 15 additional Medicare 
Part D drugs for negotiated maximum fair pricing in 2027. For 2028, up to an additional 15 drugs, which may be covered under either Medicare Part B or Part 
D, will be selected, and for 2029 and subsequent years, up to 20 additional Part B or Part D drugs will be selected. Various industry stakeholders, including 
pharmaceutical companies and the Pharmaceutical Research and Manufacturers of America, have initiated lawsuits against the federal government asserting that 
the price negotiation provisions of the Inflation Reduction Act are unconstitutional.  In April 2025, the President issued an executive order and an 
accompanying fact sheet focused on lowering drug prices, but it is unclear what actions will be implemented by the Department of Health and Human Services, 
CMS, and FDA under the new leadership, and how those actions will impact our industry and our business. The impact of these judicial challenges as well as 
legislative, executive, and administrative actions and any future healthcare measures and agency rules implemented by the government on us and the 
pharmaceutical industry as a whole is unclear. 
 

Individual states in the United States have also become increasingly active in implementing regulations designed to control pharmaceutical product 
pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and marketing cost disclosure and transparency 
measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. For example, FDA has authorized the state of 
Florida to develop a program to import certain prescription drugs from Canada for a limited period to help reduce drug costs, provided that Florida’s Agency for 
Health Care Administration meets the requirements set forth by the FDA. Other states may follow Florida. We expect that additional state and federal healthcare 
reform measures will be adopted in the future. Any reduction in reimbursement from Medicare or other government programs may result in a reduction in 
payments from private payors. Third-party payors could require Forte to conduct additional studies, including post-marketing studies related to the cost-
effectiveness of the product, to qualify for reimbursement, which could be costly and divert its resources. If government and other healthcare payors were not to 
provide adequate insurance coverage and reimbursement levels for any of its drug products once approved, market acceptance and commercial success would 
be reduced.

In addition, if any of Forte’s drug product candidates, including FB102, are approved for marketing, Forte will be subject to significant regulatory 
obligations regarding the submission of safety and other post-marketing information and reports and registration. If approved, any of its drug products would be 
subject to restrictions on its products’ labels and other conditions of regulatory approval that may limit its ability to market its products. Forte will also need to 
comply (and ensure that its third-party contractors comply) with cGMPs, and Good Clinical Practice (“GCP”), as Forte (and its third-party contractors) will be 
required to comply with these requirements for the products or product candidates used in its clinical trials or post-approval studies. In addition, Forte will need 
to comply with GCPs for any clinical trial conducted for any therapeutic indications Forte may develop for approval. In addition, there is always the risk that 
Forte or a regulatory authority might identify previously unknown problems with a drug product post-approval, such as adverse events of unanticipated severity 
or frequency. Compliance with these requirements and other regulatory requirements is costly and any failure to comply or other issues with its product post-
approval could have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Clinical development is a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. Forte may incur additional costs or experience delays in completing, 
or ultimately be unable to complete, the development and commercialization of any product candidate.

To obtain the requisite regulatory approvals to commercialize any product candidate, Forte must demonstrate through extensive clinical trials that its 
product candidate is safe and effective in humans for its intended use. Clinical testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement and can take many years 
to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. As seen with the FB-401 trial, Forte may be unable to establish clinical endpoints, dose levels and 
regimens or bioanalytical assay methods that applicable regulatory authorities would consider clinically meaningful, and a clinical trial can fail at any stage of 
testing. The outcome of preclinical studies and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, and interim results of these studies 
or trials do not necessarily predict final results. Differences in trial design between early-stage clinical trials and later-stage clinical trials make it difficult to 
extrapolate the results of earlier clinical trials to later clinical trials. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and 
analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidate performed satisfactorily in preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless 
failed to obtain marketing approval of their product candidate.

Successful completion of clinical trials is a prerequisite to submitting a BLA to the FDA, and similar marketing applications to comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities, for each product candidate, and, consequently, the ultimate approval and commercial marketing of any product candidate.

Forte may experience delays in initiating or completing any future clinical trials. Forte also may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a 
result of, any future clinical trials that Forte could conduct that could delay or prevent its ability to receive marketing approval or commercialize its product 
candidate, including:

• regulators or IRBs, or ethics committees may not authorize Forte or its investigators to commence a clinical trial or conduct a clinical trial at a 
prospective trial site;

• Forte may experience delays in reaching, or fail to reach, agreement on acceptable terms with prospective trial sites and prospective CROs, the 
terms of which can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and trial sites;

• clinical trials of any product candidate may fail to show safety, purity or potency, or produce negative or inconclusive results and Forte may 
decide, or regulators may require it, to conduct additional preclinical studies or clinical trials or Forte may decide to abandon product 
development programs;

• the number of patients required for clinical trials of any product candidate may be larger than Forte anticipates, enrollment in these clinical trials 
may be slower than Forte anticipates, or participants may drop out of these clinical trials or fail to return for post-treatment follow-up at a higher 
rate than Forte anticipates;

• clinical trials of its product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and Forte may decide, or regulators may require it, to 
conduct additional clinical trials or abandon product development programs;

• regulators may require Forte to perform additional or unanticipated clinical trials to obtain approval or Forte may be subject to additional post-
marketing testing requirements to maintain regulatory approval;

• regulators may revise the requirements for approving its product candidates, or such requirements may not be as Forte anticipate;

• Forte’s third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to it in a timely manner, or at 
all, or may deviate from the clinical trial protocol or drop out of the trial, which may require that Forte add new clinical trial sites or investigators;

• the cost of clinical trials of its product candidates may be more than Forte anticipates or more than its available financial resources, and Forte may 
need to delay or suspend one or more trials until Forte completes additional financing transactions or otherwise receives adequate funding;
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• the supply or quality of Forte’s product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of its product candidate may be 
insufficient or inadequate and may not achieve compliance with applicable cGMPs;

• Forte’s product candidates may have undesirable side effects or other unexpected characteristics, causing it or its investigators, regulators or IRBs 
or ethics committees to suspend or terminate clinical trials, or reports may arise from clinical testing of its product candidate that raise safety or 
efficacy concerns about its product candidate;

• clinical trials of Forte’s product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, which may result in it deciding, or regulators requiring 
it, to conduct additional clinical trials or suspend or terminate its clinical trials;

• the FDA or other regulatory authorities may disagree with the design, implementation or results of its clinical trials, or require Forte to submit 
additional data such as long-term toxicology studies or impose other requirements before permitting it to initiate a clinical trial;

• regulatory authorities may suspend or withdraw their approval of a product or impose restrictions on its distribution;

• Forte’s limited experience in filing and pursuing a BLA necessary to gain regulatory approval;

• any failure to develop substantial evidence of clinical efficacy and safety, and to develop quality standards and manufacturing processes to 
demonstrate consistent safety, purity, identity, and/or potency standards;

• a decision by Forte, IRBs, or regulators to suspend or terminate its clinical trials for various reasons, including noncompliance with regulatory 
requirements or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

• regulatory inspections of its clinical trials, clinical trial sites or manufacturing facilities, which may, among other things, require Forte to 
undertake corrective action or suspend or terminate its clinical trials if regulators find it not to be in compliance with applicable regulatory 
requirements;

• Forte’s ability to produce sufficient quantities of the product candidate to complete its clinical trials;

• varying interpretations of the data generated from its clinical trials; and

• changes in governmental regulations or administrative action.

Forte could also encounter delays if a clinical trial is suspended or terminated for any reason. A suspension or termination may be imposed due to a 
number of factors, including failure to conduct the clinical trial in accordance with regulatory requirements or its clinical protocols, inspection of the clinical 
trial operations or trial site by the FDA or other regulatory authorities resulting in the imposition of a clinical hold, unforeseen safety issues or adverse side 
effects, failure to demonstrate a benefit from using a product or treatment, failure to establish or achieve clinically meaningful trial endpoints, changes in 
governmental regulations or administrative actions or lack of adequate funding to continue the clinical trial. Many of the factors that cause, or lead to, a delay in 
the commencement or completion of clinical trials may also ultimately lead to the denial of regulatory approval of its product candidate. Further, the FDA or 
other regulatory authorities may disagree with its clinical trial design and its interpretation of data from clinical trials or may change the requirements for 
approval even after they have reviewed and commented on the design for its clinical trials.

Forte’s product development costs will increase if it experiences delays in clinical testing or marketing approvals. Forte does not know whether any of its 
clinical trials will begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Significant clinical trial delays also could shorten 
any periods during which Forte may have the exclusive right to commercialize its product candidate and may allow its competitors to bring products to market 
before Forte does, potentially impairing its ability to successfully commercialize its product candidate upon approval and harming its business and results of 
operations. Any delays in its future clinical development programs may harm its business, financial condition and prospects significantly.
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Forte’s planned additional preclinical studies or current and future clinical trials or those of its future collaborators may reveal significant adverse events 
and may result in a safety profile that could inhibit regulatory approval or market acceptance of any of its product candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approvals for the commercial sale of any products, Forte must demonstrate through lengthy, complex and expensive 
preclinical studies and clinical trials that FB102 is both safe and effective for use in each target indication. Preclinical and clinical testing is expensive and can 
take many years to complete, and its outcome is inherently uncertain. Failure can occur at any time during the preclinical or clinical trial process. The results of 
preclinical studies as well as early clinical trials of a product candidate may not be predictive of the results of later-stage clinical trials. In addition, initial 
success in clinical trials may not be indicative of results obtained when such clinical trials are completed. There is typically an extremely high rate of attrition 
from the failure of product candidate proceeding through clinical trials.

Forte’s FB102 may fail to show the desired safety and efficacy profile. A number of companies in the life sciences industry have suffered significant 
setbacks in advanced clinical trials due to lack of efficacy and/or unacceptable safety issues, notwithstanding promising results in earlier preclinical studies or 
clinical trials. Most product candidates that commence clinical trials are never approved as products and there can be no assurance that any of its future clinical 
trials would be successful or support further clinical development of any product candidates.

If significant adverse events or other side effects are observed in any of its current or potential future preclinical studies or clinical trials, Forte may have 
difficulty recruiting patients to its clinical trials, patients may drop out of such trials or Forte may be required to significantly redesign or terminate trials or its 
development efforts of one or more product candidates altogether. Forte, the FDA, or other applicable regulatory authorities or an IRB may suspend or 
terminate clinical trials of a product candidate at any time for various reasons, including a belief that patients in such trials are being exposed to unacceptable 
health risks or adverse side effects. Some potential therapeutics developed in the life sciences industry that initially showed therapeutic promise in early-stage 
clinical trials have later been found to cause side effects that prevented their further development. Even if the side effects do not preclude the drug from 
obtaining or maintaining marketing approval, undesirable side effects may inhibit market acceptance of the approved product due to its tolerability versus other 
therapies. Any of these developments could materially harm Forte’s business, financial condition and prospects.

Positive results from early preclinical studies are not necessarily predictive of the results of any current or future clinical trials of product candidates. Forte 
may be unable to successfully develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize any product candidates.

Any positive results from its preclinical studies and clinical trials of any product candidates may not necessarily be predictive of the results from 
required later clinical trials. Similarly, even if Forte is able to complete its current Phase 1 clinical trial and any future clinical trials of FB102 or any other 
product candidates according to its current development timeline, the positive results from such clinical trial or future clinical trials may not be replicated in 
subsequent clinical trial results.

Many companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries have suffered significant setbacks in clinical trials after achieving positive results in 
early-stage development, and Forte cannot be certain that it will not face similar setbacks. These setbacks have been caused by, among other things, preclinical 
findings, or safety or efficacy observations made in preclinical studies and clinical trials, including previously unreported adverse events. Moreover, preclinical 
and clinical data are often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses and many companies that believed their product candidate performed satisfactorily 
in preclinical studies and clinical trials nonetheless failed to obtain FDA or similar regulatory approval.

Interim top-line and preliminary data from current and future clinical trials that Forte announces or publishes from time to time may change as more 
patient data become available and are subject to audit and verification procedures that could result in material changes in the final data.

From time to time, Forte may publish interim top-line or preliminary data from its clinical trials. Interim data from these clinical trials that Forte may 
complete are subject to the risk that one or more of the outcomes may materially change as patient enrollment continues and more patient data become 
available. Preliminary or top-line data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may result in the final data being materially different from 
the preliminary data Forte previously published. As a result, any such interim and preliminary data 
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should be viewed with caution until the final data are available. Adverse differences between preliminary or interim data and final data could significantly harm 
its business prospects.
 
If Forte fails to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, Forte could become subject to significant fines or penalties or incur 
costs that could have a material adverse effect on the success of its business.

Forte is subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the handling, 
use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes, research and development activities involve the use of biological and hazardous 
materials and produce hazardous waste products. Forte generally contracts with third parties for the disposal of these materials and wastes. Forte cannot 
eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials, which could cause an interruption of its commercialization efforts, research and development 
efforts and business operations, environmental damage resulting in costly clean-up and liabilities under applicable laws and regulations governing the use, 
storage, handling and disposal of these materials and specified waste products. Although Forte believes that the safety procedures utilized by its third-party 
manufacturers for handling and disposing of these materials generally comply with the standards prescribed by these laws and regulations, Forte cannot 
guarantee that this is the case or eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In such an event, Forte may be held liable for any 
resulting damages and such liability could exceed its resources and state or federal or other applicable authorities may curtail its use of certain materials and/or 
interrupt its business operations. Furthermore, environmental laws and regulations are complex, change frequently and have tended to become more stringent. 
Forte cannot predict the impact of such changes and cannot be certain of its future compliance. In addition, Forte may incur substantial costs in order to comply 
with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These current or future laws and regulations may impair its research, development 
or production efforts. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Although Forte maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover it for costs and expenses Forte may incur due to injuries to its employees resulting 
from the use of biological waste or hazardous materials or other work-related injuries, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential 
liabilities. Forte does not carry specific biological waste or hazardous waste insurance coverage, workers compensation or property and casualty and general 
liability insurance policies that include coverage for damages and fines arising from biological or hazardous waste exposure or contamination.
 
The market opportunities for FB102 may be limited and Forte’s estimates of the incidence and prevalence of its target patient populations may be 
inaccurate.

Forte’s projections of both the number of people who have the diseases Forte is targeting, as well as the subset of people with these diseases in a position 
to receive its therapies, if approved, are based on its beliefs and estimates. These estimates have been derived from a variety of sources, including scientific 
literature, input from key opinion leaders, patient foundations or secondary market research databases, and may prove to be incorrect. Further, new studies may 
change the estimated incidence or prevalence of these diseases or regulatory approvals may include limitations for use or contraindications that decrease the 
addressable patient population. The number of patients may turn out to be lower than expected. Additionally, the potentially addressable patient population for 
its product candidate may be limited or may not be amenable to treatment with its product candidate. Even if Forte obtains significant market share for its 
product candidate, because certain of the potential target populations are small, Forte may never achieve profitability without obtaining regulatory approval for 
additional indications.

 
Forte faces significant competition from other life sciences companies, and its operating results will suffer if Forte fails to compete effectively.

The life sciences industry is characterized by intense competition and rapid innovation. Forte’s competitors may be able to develop other compounds or 
products that are able to achieve similar or better results. Forte’s potential competitors include major multinational pharmaceutical, established biotechnology 
companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies and universities and other research institutions. Many of its competitors have substantially greater financial, 
technical and other resources, such as larger research and development staff, experienced marketing and manufacturing organizations and well-established sales 
forces. Smaller or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large, 
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established companies. Established pharmaceutical companies may also invest heavily to accelerate discovery and development of novel therapeutics or to in-
license novel therapeutics that could make any product candidate that Forte develops obsolete. Mergers and acquisitions in the life sciences industry may result 
in even more resources being concentrated amongst its competitors. Competition may increase further as a result of advances in the commercial applicability of 
technologies and greater availability of capital for investment in these industries. Forte’s competitors, either alone or with collaborative partners, may succeed in 
developing, acquiring or licensing therapies that are more effective, safer, more easily commercialized or less costly than FB102 or may develop proprietary 
technologies or secure patent protection that Forte may need for the development of potential technologies and products. Forte believes the key competitive 
factors that will affect the development and commercial success of its product candidate are efficacy, safety, tolerability, reliability, convenience of use, 
compliance with regulatory requirements, acceptance by patients or prescribers, competitive pricing and reimbursement.

Forte anticipates competing with the largest life sciences companies in the world, many of which have greater financial, human, and manufacturing 
resources than Forte currently has. In addition to these fully integrated life sciences companies, Forte will also compete with those companies whose products 
target the same indications as FB102 or any future product candidate Forte develops. They include pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, 
academic institutions and other research organizations. Any treatments developed by its competitors could be superior to any product candidates Forte develops. 
It is possible that these competitors will succeed in developing technologies that are more effective than Forte’s potential products or that would render any of 
Forte’s product candidate obsolete or noncompetitive. Forte anticipates that it will face increased competition in the future as additional companies enter its 
market and scientific developments surrounding competing therapies continue to accelerate.
 
Even if FB102 or any other product candidate that Forte develops receives marketing approval, it may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by 
physicians, patients, third-party payors, consumers and others in the medical or life sciences community necessary for commercial success.

If FB102 or any other future product candidate Forte develops receives marketing approval, it may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance 
by physicians, patients, third-party payors, consumers and others in the medical community. If any such product candidate Forte develops does not achieve an 
adequate level of acceptance, Forte may not generate significant product revenues and Forte may not become profitable. The degree of market acceptance of 
any of Forte’s product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

• efficacy, safety and potential advantages compared to alternative treatments;

• the labeled uses or limitations for use, including age limitations or contraindications, for its product candidate compared to alternative treatments;

• convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

• the willingness of the target patient population to try new therapies and of physicians to prescribe these therapies;

• public perception of new therapies;

• the strength of marketing and distribution support;

• the ability to offer its products, if approved, for sale at competitive prices;

• the ability to obtain sufficient third-party insurance coverage and adequate reimbursement; and

• the prevalence and severity of any side effects.
 
Forte’s operations and financial results could be adversely impacted by the public health emergencies or other disruptions to the industry.

While the extent of the impact of public health outbreaks on Forte’s business and financial results is uncertain, including indirect impact via third parties 
Forte contracts with, a continued and prolonged public health crisis could have a negative impact on its business, financial condition and operating results. To 
the extent any global pandemic, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, impacts operations in the United States, its clinical studies could be slowed or 
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delayed, or in a more severe scenario, its business, financial condition and operating results could be more severely affected. 

Forte will need to grow the size of its organization, and may experience difficulties in managing this growth.

As of March 31, 2025, Forte had 14 full-time employees. As its research, development, manufacturing and commercialization plans and strategies 
develop to focus on the development of FB102 and any future product candidates, and as Forte continues to transition into operating as a public company, Forte 
expects to need additional managerial, operational, sales, marketing, financial and other personnel. Future growth would impose significant added 
responsibilities on members of management, including:

• identifying, recruiting, compensating, integrating, maintaining and motivating additional employees;

• managing its internal research and development efforts effectively, including identifying clinical candidates, scaling its manufacturing process 
and navigating the clinical and FDA review process for its product candidate; and

• improving its operational, financial and management controls, reporting systems and procedures.

Forte’s future financial performance and its ability to commercialize FB102 or any future product candidate will depend, in part, on its ability to 
effectively manage any future growth, and its management may also have to divert a disproportionate amount of its attention away from day-to-day activities in 
order to devote a substantial amount of time to managing these growth activities.
Forte currently relies, and for the foreseeable future will continue to rely, in substantial part on certain organizations, advisors and consultants to provide certain 
services, including many aspects of regulatory affairs, clinical management and manufacturing. There can be no assurance that the services of these 
organizations, advisors and consultants will continue to be available to Forte on a timely basis when needed or that Forte can find qualified replacements. In 
addition, if Forte is unable to effectively manage its outsourced activities or if the quality or accuracy of the services provided by consultants is compromised 
for any reason, its preclinical studies and clinical trials may be extended, delayed or terminated, and Forte may not be able to obtain regulatory approval of 
FB102 or any other future product candidate or otherwise advance its business. There can be no assurance that Forte will be able to manage its existing 
consultants or find other competent outside contractors and consultants on economically reasonable terms, or at all.

If Forte is not able to effectively expand its organization by hiring new employees and expanding its groups of consultants and contractors, Forte may 
not be able to successfully implement the tasks necessary to further develop and commercialize any product candidate and, accordingly, may not achieve its 
research, development and commercialization goals.

Forte’s current operations are located in Texas, and Forte or the third parties upon whom Forte depends may be adversely affected by natural disasters or 
the resurgence of the COVID-19 outbreak or other pandemics, and its business continuity and disaster recovery plans may not adequately protect Forte 
from a serious disaster.

Forte’s current operations are located in Texas. Any unplanned event, such as flood, fire, tornado, explosion, earthquake, extreme weather condition, 
medical epidemics, such as the COVID-19 outbreak, power shortage, telecommunication failure or other natural or man-made accidents or incidents that result 
in it being unable to fully utilize its facilities, or the manufacturing facilities of its third-party contract manufacturers, may have a material and adverse effect on 
its ability to operate its business, particularly on a daily basis, and have significant negative consequences on its financial and operating conditions. Loss of 
access to these facilities may result in increased costs, delays in the development of its product candidate or interruption of its business operations. Any natural 
disasters could further disrupt its operations and have a material and adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. If a 
natural disaster, power outage or other event occurred that prevented it from using all or a significant portion of its headquarters, that damaged critical 
infrastructure, such as its research facilities or the manufacturing facilities of its third-party contract manufacturers, or that otherwise disrupted operations, it 
may be difficult or, in certain cases, impossible, for Forte to continue its business for a substantial period of time. As part of its risk management policy, Forte 
maintains insurance coverage at levels that Forte believes are appropriate for its business. However, in the event of an accident or incident at these facilities, 
Forte cannot assure you that the amounts of insurance will be sufficient to satisfy any damages and losses. If its facilities, 
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or the manufacturing facilities of its third-party contract manufacturers, are unable to operate because of an accident or incident or for any other reason, even for 
a short period of time, any or all of its research and development programs may be harmed. Any business interruption may have a material and adverse effect on 
its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

If Forte loses key management personnel, or if Forte fails to recruit additional highly skilled personnel, its ability to identify and develop new or next 
generation product candidate will be impaired, could result in loss of markets or market share and could make Forte less competitive.

Forte’s ability to compete in the highly competitive healthcare industry depends upon its ability to attract and retain highly qualified managerial, 
scientific and medical personnel. Forte is highly dependent on its management, scientific and medical personnel, including Paul Wagner, Ph.D. The loss of the 
services of any of its executive officers, other key employees, and other scientific and medical advisors, and its inability to find suitable replacements could 
result in delays in product development and harm its business.

To retain valuable employees in a competitive market, in addition to salary and cash incentives, Forte has provided stock options that vest over time. The 
value to employees of equity awards that vest over time may be significantly affected by decreases in our stock price that are beyond our control and may at any 
time be insufficient to counteract more lucrative offers from other companies. We may face challenges in retaining and recruiting such individuals due to 
sustained declines in our stock price that could reduce the retention value of equity awards. Despite its efforts to retain valuable employees, members of its 
management, scientific and development teams may terminate their employment with Forte on short notice. Employment of its key employees is at-will, which 
means that any of its employees could leave its employment at any time, with or without notice. Forte does not maintain “key man” insurance policies on the 
lives of these individuals or the lives of any of its other employees. Forte’s success also depends on its ability to continue to attract, retain and motivate highly 
skilled junior, mid-level and senior managers as well as junior, mid-level and senior scientific and medical personnel.
 
Forte’s internal computer systems, or those used by its Clinical Research Organizations ("CROs"), Contract Manufacturing Organizations ("CMOs") or 
other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches.

We are dependent upon information technology systems, infrastructure and data. In the ordinary course of our business, we directly or indirectly collect, 
use, generate, transfer, disclose, maintain, dispose of, or otherwise process (collectively, “Process” or “Processing”) sensitive data, including intellectual 
property, confidential information, preclinical and clinical trial data, proprietary business information, personal data and personally identifiable health 
information of our clinical trial subjects and employees, in our data centers and on our networks, or on those of third-party service providers. The secure 
Processing of this information is critical to our operations. Our obligations under applicable laws, regulations, contracts, industry standards, and other 
documentation may include maintaining the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of such data in our possession or control, maintaining reasonable and 
appropriate security safeguards as part of an information security program, and restrictions on the use and disclosure of such data. These obligations create 
potential liability to regulators, business partners, personnel, and other relevant stakeholders. The multitude and complexity of our computer systems and those 
of our CROs, CMOs, clinical sites or other contractors or consultants make them inherently vulnerable to service interruption or destruction, malicious intrusion 
attempts and other attacks, and random attacks. Security breaches or incidents, whether resulting from inadvertent or intentional acts or omissions by third-party 
service providers, employees, contractors or others pose a risk that sensitive data, including our intellectual property, trade secrets or personal information of 
our employees, patients, business partners, or others could have been and may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public or otherwise lost, destroyed, 
altered, disclosed, disseminated, damaged, made unavailable or otherwise Processed without authorization.

Although we take measures designed to protect such information from unauthorized Processing, our internal computer systems and those of our CROs, 
CMOs, clinical sites and other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to cyberattacks, computer viruses, bugs or worms, and other attacks by computer 
hackers, cracking, application security attacks, social engineering, supply chain attacks and vulnerabilities through our third-party service providers, denial-of-
service attacks (such as credential stuffing), extortion, and intentional disruptions of service; computer and network vulnerabilities or the negligence and 
malfeasance of individuals with authorized access to our 
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information, failure or damage from natural disasters, terrorism, war, fire and telecommunication and electrical failures. Ransomware attacks, including those 
from organized criminal threat actors, nation-states and nation-state supported actors, are becoming increasingly prevalent and severe and can lead to significant 
interruptions, delays, or outages in our operations, loss of data (including sensitive customer information), loss of income, significant extra expenses to restore 
data or systems, reputational loss and the diversion of funds. To alleviate the financial, operational and reputational impact of a ransomware attack, it may be 
preferable to make extortion payments, but we may be unwilling or unable to do so (including, for example, if applicable laws or regulations prohibit such 
payments). Third parties may also attempt to fraudulently induce our employees, contractors, consultants, or third-party service providers into disclosing 
sensitive information such as usernames, passwords, or other information or otherwise compromise the security of our computer systems, networks, and/or 
physical facilities in order to gain access to our data. Cyberattacks are increasing in their frequency, sophistication and intensity. The techniques used by cyber 
criminals change frequently, may not be recognized until launched and can originate from a wide variety of sources, including outside groups, such as external 
service providers, organized crime affiliates, terrorist organizations or hostile foreign governments or agencies. Geopolitical tensions or conflicts have in the 
past led to, and may in the future lead to, increased risk of cybersecurity attacks. Moreover, advancements in technology, such as artificial intelligence and 
machine learning, are changing and may continue to change the way companies are subjected to attempts to gain unauthorized access and disrupt systems, 
thereby increasing the risks of security threats and attacks. Additionally, some of our employees work remotely, which may pose additional data security risks. 
While we have invested, and continue to invest, in the protection of our data and information technology infrastructure, there can be no assurance that our 
efforts, or the efforts of our partners, vendors, CROs, CMOs, clinical sites and other contractors and consultants will prevent service interruptions, or identify 
breaches or incidents in our or their systems, that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information, 
which could result in financial, legal, business or reputational harm to us. Furthermore, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to protect us from, or 
adequately mitigate, liabilities or costs resulting from security breaches and incidents. The successful assertion of one or more large claims against us that 
exceeds our available insurance coverage, or results in changes to our insurance policies (including premium increases or the imposition of large deductible or 
co-insurance requirements), could have an adverse effect on our business. In addition, we cannot be sure that our existing insurance coverage will continue to be 
available on acceptable terms or that our insurers will not deny coverage as to any future claim.

If any such event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a disruption of our development of product candidates. For 
example, the loss or unauthorized modification or unavailability of clinical trial data from completed or ongoing clinical trials for FB102 could result in delays 
in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data, or may limit our ability to effectively execute a product 
recall, if required. We expect to incur significant costs in an effort to detect and prevent security breaches and incidents, and we may face increased costs and 
requirements to expend substantial resources in the event of an actual or perceived security breach or incident. To the extent that any disruption or security 
breach or incident were to result in a loss of or damage to our data or applications, or the loss, destruction, alteration, prevention of access to, disclosure, or 
dissemination of, or damage or unauthorized access to, our data (including trade secrets or other confidential information, intellectual property, proprietary 
business information, and personal, confidential, or proprietary information) processed or maintained on our behalf, or any of these is perceived or believed to 
have occurred, we could incur liability and the further development of any product candidates could be delayed. Any such event or the perception that it has 
occurred, could also result in legal claims, demands, litigation or other proceedings by private actors, regulatory investigations or other proceedings, liability 
under laws that protect the privacy of personal information and significant regulatory penalties, injunctive relief, mandatory corrective action, and other 
remedies, and damage to our reputation and a loss of confidence in us and our ability to conduct clinical trials, which could delay the clinical development of 
our product candidates.

Forte’s employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and vendors acting on its behalf may engage in misconduct or other 
improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and requirements.

Forte is exposed to the risks of employee fraud or other illegal activity by its employees, independent contractors, consultants, commercial partners and 
vendors acting on its behalf. Misconduct by these parties could include intentional, reckless and/or negligent conduct that fails to comply with the laws of the 
FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, provide true, complete and accurate information to the FDA and other similar foreign regulatory bodies, 
comply with manufacturing standards Forte has established, comply with healthcare fraud and 
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abuse laws in the United States and similar foreign fraudulent misconduct laws or report financial information or data accurately or to disclose unauthorized 
activities to us. If Forte obtains FDA approval of any product candidate and begin commercializing such product in the United States, its potential exposure 
under such laws will increase significantly, and its costs associated with compliance with such laws are also likely to increase. These laws may impact, among 
other things, its current activities with principal investigators and research patients, as well as proposed and future sales, marketing and education programs.

Manufacturers of biopharmaceutical products and their facilities, vendors and suppliers are subject to continual review and periodic unannounced 
inspections by the FDA and other regulatory authorities for compliance with cGMP regulations, which include requirements relating to quality control and 
quality assurance as well as to the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation. Furthermore, its manufacturing facilities must be approved by 
regulatory agencies before these facilities can be used to manufacture its products or product candidates, and they will also be subject to additional regulatory 
inspections. Any material changes Forte may make to its manufacturing process or to the components used in its products may require additional prior approval 
by the FDA and state or foreign regulatory authorities. Failure to comply with FDA or other applicable regulatory requirements may result in criminal 
prosecution, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, partial or total suspension of production or withdrawal of a product from the market.

A variety of risks associated with testing and developing a product candidate internationally could materially adversely affect Forte’s business.

Forte may seek regulatory approval of its product candidate outside of the United States and, if so, Forte expects that it will be subject to additional risks 
related to operating in foreign countries if Forte obtains the necessary approvals, including:

• differing regulatory requirements in foreign countries;

• unexpected changes in tariffs, trade barriers, price and exchange controls, import or export controls, and other regulatory requirements;

• economic weakness, including inflation, or political instability in particular foreign economies and markets;

• compliance with tax, employment, immigration and labor laws for employees living or traveling abroad;

• foreign taxes, including withholding of payroll taxes;

• foreign currency fluctuations, which could result in increased operating expenses and reduced revenue, and other obligations incident to doing 
business in another country;

• difficulties staffing and managing foreign operations;

• workforce uncertainty in countries where labor unrest is more common than in the United States;

• potential liability under the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (“FCPA”), or comparable foreign regulations;

• challenges enforcing its contractual and intellectual property rights, especially in those foreign countries that do not respect and protect 
intellectual property rights to the same extent as the United States;

• production shortages resulting from any events affecting raw material supply or manufacturing capabilities abroad; and

• business interruptions resulting from geo-political actions, including war, terrorism and public health crises, such as COVID-19 and its variants.

These and other risks associated with its international operations may materially adversely affect its ability to attain or maintain profitable operations. 
Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of a product candidate in one jurisdiction does not guarantee that Forte will be able to obtain or maintain 
regulatory approval in any other jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the 
regulatory approval process in others. For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in 
foreign jurisdictions must also approve the product, manufacturing, and in many cases reimbursement of the product candidate in those countries. Approval 
procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those 
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in the United States, including additional preclinical studies or clinical trials as clinical studies conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory 
authorities in other jurisdictions. In some cases, the price that Forte intends to charge for its products is also subject to approval by regulatory authorities. If 
Forte fails to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing approvals, its target market will be reduced 
and its ability to realize the full market potential of a product candidate will be harmed.

Forte currently has no marketing and sales organization and has no experience in marketing products. If Forte is unable to establish marketing and sales 
capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to market and sell its product candidate, Forte may not be able to generate product revenue.

Forte currently has no sales, marketing or distribution capabilities and has no experience in marketing products. If and when Forte reaches the 
commercialization stage, Forte intends to develop an in-house marketing organization and sales force, which will require significant capital expenditures, 
management resources and time. Forte will have to compete with other life sciences companies to recruit, hire, train and retain marketing and sales personnel.

There can be no assurance that Forte would be able to develop in-house sales and distribution capabilities or establish or maintain relationships with 
third-party collaborators to commercialize any product in the United States or overseas.

Comprehensive tax reform legislation could adversely affect Forte’s business and financial condition.

Recent changes to U.S. tax laws, as well as changes to U.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the future, could impact the tax treatment of Forte’s business 
and financial condition. For example, on December 22, 2017, President Trump signed into law the Tax Act, that significantly reformed the Code. The Tax Act, 
among other things, contains significant changes to corporate taxation, including changes to U.S. federal tax rates, limitation of the tax deduction for interest 
expense, and the modification and repeal of many business deductions and credits (including the reduction of the business tax credit for certain clinical testing 
expenses incurred in the testing of certain drugs for rare diseases or conditions generally referred to as “orphan drugs”). There could be additional changes to 
existing tax law, including an increase in the corporate and other tax rates. In addition, many countries in Europe, as well as a number of other countries and 
organizations, have recently considered changes to existing tax law that could adversely affect Forte’s financial condition and results of operations.

Forte’s ability to use net operating losses and research and development credits to offset future taxable income or tax liability may be subject to certain 
limitations.

As of December 31, 2024, Forte has federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of $32.2 million and $11.6 million, respectively, of which a 
portion of the federal and all of the state net operating loss carryforwards, begin expiring in 2037.  Under the current law, the remaining federal amount of $32.2 
million has an indefinite life and generally may not be carried back to prior taxable years. These NOL carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to 
offset future taxable income or tax liabilities, respectively. In addition, in general, under Sections 382, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is 
subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change NOLs to offset future taxable income or taxes. For these purposes, an ownership change generally 
occurs where the aggregate stock ownership of one or more stockholders or groups of stockholders who owns at least 5% of a corporation’s stock increases its 
ownership by more than 50 percentage points over its lowest ownership percentage within a specified testing period. Forte’s existing NOL carryforwards may 
be subject to limitations arising from previous ownership changes, and if Forte undergoes an ownership change in connection with or after the Merger, its 
ability to utilize NOL carryforwards could be further limited by Section 382. In addition, future changes in its stock ownership, many of which are outside of its 
control, could result in an ownership change under Sections 382. Forte’s NOL carryforwards may also be impaired under state law. Accordingly, Forte may not 
be able to utilize a material portion of its NOL carryforwards. Furthermore, its ability to utilize its NOL carryforwards is conditioned upon its attaining 
profitability and generating U.S. federal and state taxable income. As described above, Forte has incurred significant net losses since its inception and 
anticipates that Forte will continue to incur significant losses for the foreseeable future; and therefore, Forte does not know whether or when Forte will generate 
the U.S. federal or state taxable income necessary to utilize its NOL carryforwards that are subject to limitation by Sections 382.

Unstable market and economic conditions, including adverse developments affecting the financial services industry, such as actual events or concerns 
involving liquidity, defaults or non-performance by financial 
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institutions or transactional counterparties, may have serious adverse consequences on Forte’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and 
stock price.

As widely reported, global credit and financial markets have experienced extreme volatility and disruptions in the past, including severely diminished 
liquidity and credit availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about 
economic stability. There can be no assurance that further deterioration in credit and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. 
Forte’s general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and 
unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets deteriorate, or do not improve, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more 
difficult, more costly, and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse 
effect on its growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require Forte to delay or abandon preclinical and clinical development plans. In 
addition, there is a risk that one or more of its current service providers, manufacturers and other partners may not survive these difficult economic times, which 
could directly affect its ability to attain its operating goals on schedule and on budget. Furthermore, its stock price may decline due in part to the volatility of the 
stock market and the general economic downturn.

In particular, there is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and various other countries, most 
significantly China, with respect to trade policies, treaties, tariffs, taxes, and other limitations on cross-border operations. The U.S. government has made and 
continues to make significant additional changes in U.S. trade policy and may continue to take future actions that could negatively impact U.S. trade.  For 
example, legislation has been introduced in Congress to limit certain U.S. biotechnology companies from using equipment or services produced or provided by 
select Chinese biotechnology companies, and others in Congress have advocated for the use of existing executive branch authorities to limit those Chinese 
service providers’ ability to engage in business in the U.S. We cannot predict what actions may ultimately be taken with respect to trade relations between the 
United States and China or other countries, what products and services may be subject to such actions or what actions may be taken by the other countries in 
retaliation. If we are unable to obtain or use services from existing service providers or become unable to export or sell our products to any of our customers or 
service providers, our business, liquidity, financial condition, and/or results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, actual events involving limited liquidity, defaults, non-performance or other adverse developments that affect financial institutions, 
transactional counterparties or other companies in the financial services industry or the financial services industry generally, or concerns or rumors about any 
events of these kinds or other similar risks, have in the past and may in the future lead to market-wide liquidity problems. For example, on March 10, 2023, 
SVB was closed by the California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation, which appointed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation, or the FDIC, 
as receiver. Similarly, on March 12, 2023, Signature Bank and Silvergate Capital Corp. were each swept into receivership. 

Although we assess our banking relationships as we believe necessary or appropriate, our access to funding sources and other credit arrangements in 
amounts adequate to finance or capitalize our current and projected future business operations could be significantly impaired by factors that affect us, the 
financial institutions with which we have arrangements directly, or the financial services industry or economy in general. These factors could include, among 
others, events such as liquidity constraints or failures, the ability to perform obligations under various types of financial, credit or liquidity agreements or 
arrangements, disruptions or instability in the financial services industry or financial markets, or concerns or negative expectations about the prospects for 
companies in the financial services industry. These factors could involve financial institutions or financial services industry companies with which we have 
financial or business relationships but could also include factors involving financial markets or the financial services industry generally.

In addition, investor concerns regarding the U.S. or international financial systems could result in less favorable commercial financing terms, including 
higher interest rates or costs and tighter financial and operating covenants, or systemic limitations on access to credit and liquidity sources, thereby making it 
more difficult for us to acquire financing on acceptable terms or at all. 
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Changes in United States trade policy, including recently announced tariffs, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, and 
results of operations. 
 

Changes in United States trade policy, including recently announced tariffs, could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition, 
and results of operations. The imposition of retaliatory or new tariffs or increases in existing tariffs on goods imported from countries where we source from 
third party suppliers could result in increased material costs for us. If we are unable to mitigate these risks through supply chain adjustments, such as changing 
third party suppliers, the development, testing and clinical trials of our drug candidates may be delayed or infeasible, and regulatory approval or commercial 
launch of any resulting product may be delayed or not obtained, which could significantly harm our business. 
 
Risks related to government regulation
 
Forte is very early in its development efforts. FB102 will require significant additional preclinical and clinical development before Forte seeks regulatory 
approval of any product candidate. If Forte is unable to advance FB102 to clinical development, obtain regulatory approval and ultimately commercialize a 
product candidate or experiences significant delays in doing so, its business will be materially harmed.

Forte is very early in its development efforts and will invest substantially all of its efforts and financial resources in the development of FB102. Its ability 
to generate product revenues, which Forte does not expect will occur for many years, if ever, will depend on the successful development and eventual 
commercialization of a product candidate, which may never occur. Forte currently generates no revenue from sales of any products, and Forte may never be 
able to develop or commercialize a marketable product. The success of FB102 will depend on several factors, including the following:

• successful completion of additional preclinical and clinical studies;

• successful enrollment in, and completion of, clinical trials;

• receipt of regulatory approvals from applicable regulatory authorities for FB102;

• establishing cGMP-compliant clinical supply and commercial manufacturing operations or making arrangements with third-party manufacturers 
for clinical supply and commercial manufacturing;

• obtaining and maintaining patent and trade secret protection or regulatory exclusivity for FB102;

• launching commercial sales of FB102, if and when approved or allowed for marketing, whether alone or in collaboration with others;

• acceptance of FB102, if and when approved, by patients, the medical community and third-party payors;

• obtaining and maintaining third-party insurance coverage and adequate reimbursement;

• enforcing and defending intellectual property rights and claims;

• the marketing of FB102; and

• maintaining a continued acceptable safety profile of FB102 following approval or commercialization.

If Forte does not achieve one or more of these factors in a timely manner or at all, Forte could experience significant delays or an inability to 
successfully commercialize FB102, which would materially harm its business. If Forte does not receive regulatory approvals for FB102, it may not be able to 
continue its operations.
 
Changes in the legal and regulatory environment could limit Forte’s future business activities, increase its operating or regulatory costs, reduce demand for 
product candidates or result in litigation.

The conduct of Forte’s business, including the development, testing, production, storage, distribution, sale, display, advertising, marketing, labeling, 
health and safety practices are subject to various laws and regulations administered by federal, state and local governmental agencies in the United States, as 
well as to laws and regulations administered by government entities and agencies outside the United States in markets in which its products candidates and 
components thereof (such as packaging) may be manufactured or sold.
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These laws and regulations and interpretations thereof may change, sometimes dramatically, as a result of a variety of factors, including political, 
economic or social events. Such changes may include changes in:

• FDA regulations;

• laws related to product candidate labeling;

• advertising and marketing laws and practices;

• laws and programs restricting the sale and advertising of certain products;

• increased regulatory scrutiny of, and increased litigation involving, product claims and concerns regarding the actual or possible effects or side 
effects of its product candidate; and

• state and federal consumer protection and disclosure laws.

New laws, regulations or governmental policy and their related interpretations, or changes in any of the foregoing, may alter the environment in which 
Forte does business and, therefore, may impact its operating results or increase its costs or liabilities. 

Further, under the new leadership at the HHS under the current administration, mass layoffs due to the reduction in force initiative and other measures 
implemented by the Department of Government Efficiency may impact the normal operations of the FDA as well as other federal agencies. FDA may lack 
adequate staff and resources to meet current review, approval, and inspection schedules, which could delay our anticipated timelines. In January 2025, an 
executive order entitled “Unleashing Prosperity Through Deregulation”, was issued which calls for at least 10 existing regulations to be repealed whenever an 
executive department or agency publicly proposes for notice and comment or otherwise promulgates a new regulation. It is unclear how our industry and our 
clinical programs will be impacted by policies and regulations implemented under the new administration and FDA commissioner, or other executive orders. 
There is significant uncertainty in the industry and how federal agencies like the FDA will change in the coming years under the new administration. To the 
extent agency changes and new policies lead to disruptions in FDA’s operations, our correspondence and regulatory review processes with the FDA may be 
materially delayed. 
 
Inadequate funding, layoffs, changes in agency leadership, and other policies and executive orders impacting the normal operations of the FDA, the SEC 
and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other personnel, prevent new products and services from 
being developed or commercialized in a timely manner or otherwise prevent those agencies from performing normal business functions on which the 
approval of Forte’s product candidates rely, which would negatively impact its business.

The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including government budget and funding levels, 
ability to hire and retain key personnel and accept the payment of user fees, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency 
have fluctuated in recent years as a result. Changes in the leadership of the FDA and other federal agencies under the current administration, including return-to-
office policy, hiring freeze, layoffs, and other measures implemented by the Department of Government Efficiency, may also lead to changes in the operations 
of the FDA and other federal agencies, which may have a material impact on our business operations and the industry as a whole.  In addition, government 
funding of the SEC and other government agencies on which its operations may rely, including those that fund research and development activities is subject to 
the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable.

If a prolonged government shutdown or other disruption occurs, including due to government shutdowns, furloughs, budget constraints, travel 
restrictions, staffing shortages, or if global health or other concerns continue to prevent the FDA or other regulatory authorities from conducting their regular 
inspections, reviews, or other regulatory activities in a timely manner, it could significantly impact the ability of the FDA to timely review and process its 
regulatory submissions, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, including our ability to access the public markets and obtain necessary 
capital in order to properly capitalize and continue our operations.
 
Forte’s relationships with healthcare providers, including physicians and clinical investigators, CROs, and third-party payors in connection with its current 
and future business activities may be subject to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws, false claims laws, transparency laws, government price 
reporting, and health information privacy and security laws, which could expose Forte to significant losses, including, among other 
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things, criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational harm, exclusion from federal health care programs, administrative burdens, 
and diminished profits and future earnings.

Healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors in the United States and elsewhere play a primary role in the recommendation and prescription 
of pharmaceutical products. Arrangements with third-party payors and customers can expose pharmaceutical manufactures to broadly applicable fraud and 
abuse and other healthcare laws and regulations, including, without limitation, the federal Anti-Kickback Statute and the federal False Claims Act, which may 
constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which such companies sell, market and distribute pharmaceutical products. In 
particular, the research, promotion, sales and marketing of healthcare items and services, as well as certain business arrangements in the healthcare industry, are 
subject to extensive laws designed to prevent fraud, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a 
wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and promotion, structuring and commission(s), certain customer incentive programs and other business 
arrangements generally. Activities subject to these laws also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of patient recruitment for clinical 
trials. The applicable federal, state and foreign healthcare laws and regulations laws that may affect Forte’s ability to operate include, but are not limited to:

• the federal Anti-Kickback Statute, which prohibits, among other things, knowingly and willfully soliciting, receiving, offering or paying any 
remuneration (including any kickback, bribe or rebate), directly or indirectly, overtly or covertly, in cash or in kind, to induce, or in return for, 
either the referral of an individual, or the purchase, lease, order or recommendation of any good, facility, item or service for which payment may 
be made, in whole or in part, under a federal healthcare program, such as the Medicare and Medicaid programs. In addition, a claim including 
items or services resulting from a violation of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute can constitute a false or fraudulent claim under the False Claims 
Act (“FCA”). The Anti-Kickback Statute has been interpreted to apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical manufacturers on the one hand 
and a referral source on the other, including prescribers, purchasers, and formulary managers. There are a number of statutory exceptions and 
regulatory safe harbors protecting some common activities from prosecution, but the exceptions and safe harbors are drawn narrowly and require 
strict compliance in order to offer protection;

• federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the FCA, and civil monetary penalty laws, which prohibit, among other things, individuals 
or entities from knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, false or fraudulent claims for payment to, or approval by Medicare, Medicaid, 
or other federal healthcare programs, knowingly making, using or causing to be made or used a false record or statement material to a false or 
fraudulent claim or an obligation to pay or transmit money to the federal government, or knowingly concealing or knowingly and improperly 
avoiding or decreasing or concealing an obligation to pay money to the federal government. Manufacturers can be held liable under the FCA even 
when they do not submit claims directly to government payors if they are deemed to “cause” the submission of false or fraudulent claims. The 
FCA also permits a private individual acting as a “whistleblower” to bring actions on behalf of the federal government alleging violations of the 
FCA and to share in any monetary recovery;

• HIPAA, which created new federal criminal statutes that prohibit knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to 
defraud any healthcare benefit program or obtain, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or promises, any of the money or 
property owned by, or under the custody or control of, any healthcare benefit program, regardless of the payor (e.g., public or private) and 
knowingly and willfully falsifying, concealing or covering up by any trick or device a material fact or making any materially false statements in 
connection with the delivery of, or payment for, healthcare benefits, items or services relating to healthcare matters. A person or entity can be 
found guilty of violating HIPAA without actual knowledge of the statute or specific intent to violate it;

• HIPAA, as amended by HITECH, and their respective implementing regulations, which impose, among other things, requirements on certain 
covered healthcare providers, health plans, and healthcare clearinghouses as well as their respective business associates that perform services for 
them that involve the use, or disclosure of, individually identifiable health information, relating to the privacy, security and transmission of 
individually identifiable health information without appropriate authorization. HITECH also created new tiers of civil monetary penalties, 
amended HIPAA to make civil and criminal penalties directly applicable to business associates, and gave state attorneys general new authority to 
file 
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civil actions for damages or injunctions in federal courts to enforce the federal HIPAA laws and seek attorneys’ fees and costs associated with 
pursuing federal civil actions;

• the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act requires applicable manufacturers of covered drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies for 
which payment is available under Medicare, Medicaid or the Children’s Health Insurance Program, with specific exceptions, to annually report to 
CMS information regarding payments and other transfers of value to physicians (defined to include doctors, dentists, optometrists, podiatrists and 
chiropractors), certain non-physician healthcare professionals (such as physician assistants and nurse practitioners, among others), and teaching 
hospitals as well as information regarding ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family members;

• federal consumer protection and unfair competition laws, which broadly regulate marketplace activities and activities that potentially harm 
consumers;

• analogous state and foreign laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false claims laws, which may apply to sales or marketing 
arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services reimbursed by non-governmental third-party payors, including private insurers, 
and may be broader in scope than their federal equivalents; state and foreign laws that require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the 
pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government or 
otherwise restrict payments that may be made to healthcare providers; state and foreign laws that require drug manufacturers to report 
information related to payments and other transfers of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures; and state and 
foreign laws governing the privacy and security of health information in certain circumstances, many of which differ from each other in 
significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA, thus complicating compliance efforts; and

• General Data Protection Regulation and other ex-U.S. protections.

The distribution of pharmaceutical products is subject to additional requirements and regulations, including extensive record-keeping, licensing, storage 
and security requirements intended to prevent the unauthorized sale of pharmaceutical products.

The scope and enforcement of each of these laws is uncertain and subject to rapid change in the current environment of healthcare reform. Federal and 
state enforcement bodies have recently increased their scrutiny of interactions between healthcare companies and healthcare providers, which has led to a 
number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and settlements in the healthcare industry. Ensuring business arrangements comply with applicable 
healthcare laws, as well as responding to possible investigations or inquiries by government authorities, can be time- and resource-consuming and can divert a 
company’s attention from the business.

The failure to comply with any of these laws or regulatory requirements subjects entities to possible legal or regulatory action. Depending on the 
circumstances, failure to meet applicable regulatory requirements can result in civil, criminal and administrative penalties, damages, fines, disgorgement, 
individual imprisonment, possible exclusion from participation in federal and state funded healthcare programs, contractual damages and the curtailment or 
restricting of its operations, as well as additional reporting obligations and oversight if Forte becomes subject to a corporate integrity agreement or other 
agreement to resolve allegations of non-compliance with these laws. Any action for violation of these laws, even if successfully defended, could cause a 
pharmaceutical manufacturer to incur significant legal expenses and divert management’s attention from the operation of the business. Prohibitions or 
restrictions on sales or withdrawal of future marketed products could materially affect business in an adverse way.

Forte maintains a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee misconduct, and the precautions Forte 
takes to detect and prevent inappropriate conduct may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses or in protecting Forte from 
governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws or regulations. Efforts to ensure that its 
business arrangements will comply with applicable healthcare laws may involve substantial costs. It is possible that governmental and enforcement authorities 
will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes, regulations or case law interpreting applicable fraud and abuse or other 
healthcare laws and regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and Forte is 
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not successful in defending ourselves or asserting its rights, those actions could have a significant impact on its business, including the imposition of civil, 
criminal and administrative penalties, damages, disgorgement, monetary fines, possible exclusion from participation in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal 
healthcare programs, contractual damages, reputational harm, diminished profits and future earnings, and curtailment of our operations, any of which could 
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations. In addition, the approval and commercialization of any of our product 
candidates outside the United States will also likely subject Forte to foreign equivalents of the healthcare laws mentioned above, among other foreign laws.
 
Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval of any of its product candidates in one jurisdiction does not mean that Forte will be successful in obtaining 
regulatory approval for its product candidate in other jurisdictions.

Obtaining and maintaining regulatory approval does not guarantee that Forte will be able to obtain or maintain regulatory approval in any other 
jurisdiction, while a failure or delay in obtaining regulatory approval in one jurisdiction may have a negative effect on the regulatory approval process in others. 
For example, even if the FDA grants marketing approval of a product candidate, comparable regulatory authorities in foreign jurisdictions must also approve the 
manufacturing, marketing and promotion of the product candidate in those countries. Approval procedures vary among jurisdictions and can involve 
requirements and administrative review periods different from, and greater than, those in the United States, including additional preclinical studies and clinical 
trials conducted in one jurisdiction may not be accepted by regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. In many jurisdictions outside the United States, a 
product candidate must be approved for reimbursement before it can be approved for sale in that jurisdiction. In some cases, the price that Forte intends to 
charge for its products may also be subject to approval.

Forte may also submit marketing applications in other countries. Regulatory authorities in jurisdictions outside of the United States have requirements 
for approval of a product candidate with which Forte must comply prior to marketing in those jurisdictions. Obtaining foreign regulatory approvals and 
compliance with foreign regulatory requirements could result in significant delays, difficulties and costs for Forte and could delay or prevent the introduction of 
its products in certain countries. If Forte fails to comply with the regulatory requirements in international markets and/or receive applicable marketing 
approvals, its target market will be reduced and its ability to realize the full market potential of its product candidate will be harmed.
 
Preclinical and clinical development is uncertain. Forte’s preclinical studies and clinical trials may experience delays or may never advance to the next 
stage of development, which would adversely affect its ability to obtain regulatory approvals to commercialize these programs on a timely basis or at all, 
which would have an adverse effect on its business.

To proceed with its development plans and ultimately commercialization of FB102, Forte will be required to conduct additional preclinical studies and 
clinical trials. Forte cannot be certain of the timely completion or outcome of its preclinical testing and studies and cannot predict if the FDA or other regulatory 
authorities will accept its proposed clinical programs, including the design, dose level, and dose regimen, or if the outcome of its preclinical testing and studies 
will ultimately support the development of its clinical programs.
 
If Forte is not able to obtain, or if there are delays in obtaining, required regulatory approvals for any product candidates it may develop, Forte will not be 
able to commercialize, or will be delayed in commercializing, such product candidates, and its ability to generate revenue will be materially impaired.

Any product candidate Forte may develop and the activities associated with the development and commercialization of such product candidate, including 
its design, testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkeeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale, distribution, import and export are 
subject to comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other regulatory agencies in the United States and by comparable authorities in other countries. Before 
Forte can commercialize any product candidate, Forte must obtain marketing approval. Forte has never received approval to market any product candidates 
from regulatory authorities in any jurisdiction and it is possible that no product candidates will ever obtain regulatory approval. Forte, as a company, has no 
experience in filing and supporting the applications necessary to gain regulatory approvals and expects to rely on third-party CROs and/or regulatory 
consultants to assist it in this process. Securing regulatory approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information 
to the various regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the drug candidate’s safety, efficacy, purity, and potency.
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Securing regulatory approval also requires the submission of information about the drug manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing 
facilities by, the relevant regulatory authority. Any product candidate Forte develops may not be effective, may be only moderately effective or may prove to 
have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that may preclude it from obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit 
commercial use.

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is expensive, may take many years if additional clinical trials are 
required, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product 
candidate involved. Changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment of additional statutes or regulations, or 
changes in regulatory review for each submitted IND/BLA, or equivalent application types, may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an application. The 
FDA and comparable authorities in other countries have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide 
that its data are insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical, clinical or other studies. Any product candidate Forte seeks to develop could be 
delayed in receiving, or fail to receive, regulatory approval for many reasons, including the following:

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design, including study population, dose level, dose regimen, 
endpoint measure of efficacy, and bioanalytical assay methods, or implementation of its clinical trials;

• Forte may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that its product candidate is safe 
and effective for its proposed indication;

• the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities for 
approval;

• Forte may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with its interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

• the data collected from clinical trials of its product candidate may not be sufficient to support the submission of a BLA or other submission or to 
obtain regulatory approval in the United States or elsewhere;

• the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party manufacturers 
with which Forte contracts for clinical and commercial supplies; and

• the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering its 
clinical data insufficient for approval.

Of the large number of biopharmaceutical products in development, only a small percentage successfully complete the FDA or foreign regulatory 
approval processes and are commercialized. The lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of future clinical trial results may result in Forte failing 
to obtain regulatory approval to market its product candidate, which would significantly harm its business, results of operations and prospects.

The FDA may also require a panel of experts, referred to as an Advisory Committee, to deliberate on the adequacy of the safety and efficacy data to 
support approval. The opinion of the Advisory Committee, although not binding, may have a significant impact on its ability to obtain approval of any product 
candidate that Forte develops based on the completed clinical trials.

In addition, even if Forte were to obtain approval, regulatory authorities may approve its product candidate for fewer or more limited indications than 
Forte requests, may include limitations for use or contraindications that limit the suitable patient population, may not approve the price Forte intends to charge 
for its products, may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials or may approve a product candidate with a label that 
does not include the labeling claims necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of that product candidate. Any of the foregoing scenarios could 
materially harm the commercial prospects for any product candidate Forte develops.
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If Forte experiences delays in obtaining approval or if Forte fails to obtain approval of any product candidate it seeks to develop, the commercial 
prospects for such product candidate may be harmed, and its ability to generate revenues will be materially impaired.
 
Forte’s product candidate, FB102, or any future product candidate Forte develops, may cause undesirable side effects or have other properties that could 
delay or prevent their regulatory approval, limit the commercial profile of an approved label or result in significant negative consequences following 
marketing approval, if any.

Undesirable side effects caused by any of its product candidates could cause Forte to interrupt, delay or halt additional preclinical studies or could cause 
Forte or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials and could result in a more restrictive clinical label or the delay or denial of regulatory 
approval by the FDA or other regulatory authorities for its product candidate. Results of its clinical studies or trials could reveal a high and unacceptable 
severity and prevalence of side effects. In such an event, its clinical studies or trials could be suspended or terminated, and the FDA or comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities could order Forte to cease further development of or deny approval of its product candidate for any or all targeted indications. 
Additionally, its regulators could require significant modifications or amendments to ongoing clinical studies or trials that limit the available study population or 
lead to withdrawal of participation by already enrolled subjects. Any treatment-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled 
patients to complete the study or trial or result in potential product liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm Forte’s business, financial condition and 
prospects significantly.

Further, clinical studies or trials by their nature utilize a sample of the potential patient population. With a limited number of patients and limited 
duration of exposure, rare and severe side effects of its product candidate may only be uncovered with a significantly larger number of patients exposed to the 
product candidate. If its product candidate receives marketing approval and Forte or others identify undesirable side effects caused by such product candidate 
(or any other similar drugs) after such approval, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

• regulatory authorities may withdraw or limit their approval of such product candidate;

• regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “boxed” warning or a contraindication;

• Forte may be required to create a medication guide outlining the risks of such side effects for distribution to patients;

• Forte may be required to change the way such product candidate is distributed or administered, conduct additional clinical trials or change the 
labeling of the product candidate;

• regulatory authorities may require a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (“REMS”), plan to mitigate risks, which could include medication 
guides, physician communication plans, or elements to assure safe use, such as restricted distribution methods, patient registries and other risk 
minimization tools;

• Forte may be subject to regulatory investigations and government enforcement actions;

• Forte may decide to remove such product candidate from the marketplace;

• Forte could be sued and held liable for injury caused to individuals exposed to or using its product candidate; and

• Forte’s reputation may suffer.

Forte believes that any of these events could prevent it from achieving or maintaining market acceptance of the affected product candidate and could 
substantially increase the costs of commercializing its product candidate, if approved, and significantly impact its ability to successfully commercialize its 
product candidate and generate revenues.
 
Even if Forte receives regulatory approval of any product candidate, Forte will be subject to ongoing regulatory compliance obligations and continued 
regulatory review, which may result in significant additional expense. Additionally, if Forte fails to comply with regulatory requirements or experiences 
unanticipated problems with its 
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product candidate, if approved, Forte could be subject to labeling and other restrictions, market withdrawal, and penalties.

If FB102 or any other product candidate Forte develops is approved, it will be subject to ongoing regulatory requirements for manufacturing, labeling, 
packaging, storage, distribution, advertising, promotion, sampling, record-keeping, export, import, conduct of post-marketing studies and submission of safety, 
efficacy and other post-market information, including both federal and state requirements in the United States and requirements of comparable foreign 
regulatory authorities. In addition, Forte will be subject to continued compliance with cGMP and GCP requirements for any clinical trials that Forte conducts 
post-approval.

Manufacturers and manufacturers’ facilities are required to comply with extensive FDA, and comparable foreign regulatory authority requirements, 
including ensuring that quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMP regulations. As such, Forte and its contract manufacturers will be 
subject to continual review and inspections to assess compliance with cGMP and adherence to commitments made in any NDA, other marketing application, 
and previous responses to inspection observations. Accordingly, Forte and others with whom Forte works must continue to expend time, money, and effort in 
all areas of regulatory compliance, including manufacturing, production and quality control.

The FDA has significant post-marketing authority, including, for example, the authority to require labeling changes based on new safety information and 
to require post-marketing studies or clinical trials to evaluate serious safety risks related to the use of a drug. Any regulatory approvals that Forte receives for a 
product candidate may be subject to limitations on the approved indicated uses for which the product may be marketed or to the conditions of approval, or 
contain requirements for potentially costly post-marketing testing, including Phase 4 clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety and efficacy of the 
product candidate. The FDA may also require a REMS program as a condition of approval of any product candidate Forte develops, which could entail 
requirements for long-term patient follow-up, a medication guide, physician communication plans or additional elements to ensure safe use, such as restricted 
distribution methods, patient registries and other risk minimization tools. In addition, if the FDA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority approves a 
product candidate, Forte will have to comply with requirements including submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports and 
registration.

The FDA may impose consent decrees or withdraw approval if compliance with regulatory requirements and standards is not maintained or if problems 
occur after the product reaches the market. Later discovery of previously unknown problems with any product candidate Forte develops, including adverse 
events of unanticipated severity or frequency, or with its third-party manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or failure to comply with regulatory 
requirements, may result in revisions to the approved labeling to add new safety information; imposition of post-market studies or clinical trials to assess new 
safety risks; or imposition of distribution restrictions or other restrictions under a REMS program. Other potential consequences include, among other things:

• restrictions on the marketing or manufacturing of its products, withdrawal of the product from the market or voluntary or mandatory product 
recalls;

• fines, warning or untitled enforcement letters or holds on clinical trials;

• refusal by the FDA to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications filed by Forte or suspension or revocation of license 
approvals;

• product seizure or detention or refusal to permit the import or export any product candidate; and

• injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

The FDA strictly regulates marketing, labeling, advertising, and promotion of products that are placed on the market. Products may be promoted only for 
the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions of the approved label or other regulatory marketing pathway. The FDA and other agencies 
actively enforce the laws and regulations prohibiting the promotion of off-label uses and a company that is found to have improperly promoted off-label uses 
may be subject to significant liability. However, physicians may, in their independent medical judgment, prescribe legally available products for off-label uses. 
The FDA does not regulate the behavior of physicians in their choice of treatments but the FDA does restrict manufacturer’s communications on the subject of 
off-label use of their products. In addition, the policies of the FDA and of other regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may 
be enacted that could prevent, limit or delay regulatory approval of any product candidate Forte develops. If Forte is slow or unable to adapt to changes in 
existing requirements or the 
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adoption of new requirements or policies, or if Forte is not able to maintain regulatory compliance, Forte may lose any marketing approval that Forte may have 
obtained which would adversely affect its business, prospects and ability to achieve or sustain profitability.

The policies of the FDA and of other regulatory authorities may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit 
or delay regulatory approval of any product candidate Forte develops. In June 2024, the U.S. Supreme Court overruled the Chevron doctrine in the Loper Bright 
decision, which gives deference to regulatory agencies’ statutory interpretations in litigation against federal government agencies, such as the FDA, where the 
law is ambiguous. This landmark Supreme Court decision may invite more companies and other stakeholders to bring lawsuits against the FDA to challenge 
longstanding decisions and policies of the FDA, including FDA’s statutory interpretations of market exclusivities and the “substantial evidence” requirements 
for drug approvals, which could undermine the FDA’s authority, lead to uncertainties in the industry, and disrupt the FDA’s normal operations, any of which 
could delay the FDA’s review of our regulatory submissions. Further, under the new leadership at the HHS, agency reorganization, departure of high-profile 
regulators at the FDA, layoffs due to the reduction in force initiative may impact the normal operations at the FDA as well as other federal agencies. FDA may 
lack adequate staff and resources to meet current review, approval, and inspection schedules, which could delay our anticipated timelines. In January 2025, 
President Trump issued an executive order entitled “Unleashing Prosperity Through Deregulation”, which calls for at least 10 existing regulations to be repealed 
whenever an executive department or agency publicly proposes for notice and comment or otherwise promulgates a new regulation. Fewer agency guidance 
documents could interfere with FDA programs or lead to more Complete Response Letters or refusals to approve products. It is unclear how our industry and 
our clinical programs will be impacted by policies and regulations implemented under the new administration and the new FDA commissioner, Dr. Martin 
Makary, or other executive orders. There is significant uncertainty in the industry and how federal agencies like the FDA will change in the coming years under 
the new administration. To the extent the agency reorganization and other agency changes lead to disruptions in FDA’s operations, including changes resulting 
from executive orders; freeze on hiring, federal funding for research, and external communications; layoffs; return-to-office policies, and changes in funding for 
certain programs at the FDA, correspondence and regulatory review processes with the FDA may be materially delayed. Forte cannot predict the likelihood, 
nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive action, either in the United States or abroad. To 
the extent any legislative, administrative, or executive actions impose constraints on the FDA’s ability to engage in oversight and implementation activities in 
the normal course, our business may be negatively impacted. In addition, if Forte is slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or the adoption 
of new requirements or policies, or if Forte is not able to maintain regulatory compliance, Forte may lose any marketing approval that Forte may have obtained, 
and Forte may not achieve or sustain profitability.

Non-compliance by Forte or any future collaborator with regulatory requirements, including safety monitoring or pharmacovigilance requirements, can 
also result in significant financial penalties.

Forte’s business activities may be subject to the FCPA and similar anti-bribery and anti-corruption laws of other countries in which Forte operates, as well 
as U.S. and certain foreign export controls, trade sanctions, and import laws and regulations. Compliance with these legal requirements could limit its 
ability to compete in foreign markets and subject it to liability if Forte violates them.

If Forte expand its operations outside of the United States, Forte must dedicate additional resources to comply with numerous laws and regulations in 
each jurisdiction in which Forte plans to operate. The FCPA prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment or offering of 
anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of the foreign 
entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the 
United States to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all 
transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for 
international operations.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA 
presents particular challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other 
hospital employees are considered foreign officials. Certain payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be 
improper payments to government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions.
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Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or the sharing with certain non-U.S. 
nationals, of information classified for national security purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. If Forte expands its 
presence outside of the United States, it will require Forte to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude Forte from 
developing, manufacturing, or selling any product candidates, if approved, outside of the United States, which could limit its growth potential and increase its 
development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial civil and criminal penalties and suspension or 
debarment from government contracting. The Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. 
exchanges for violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions.

Additionally, U.S. and foreign anti-corruption, anti-money laundering, export control, sanctions, and other trade laws and regulations, which are 
collectively referred to as Trade Laws, prohibit companies and their employees, agents, clinical research organizations, legal counsel, accountants, consultants, 
contractors, and other partners from authorizing, promising, offering, providing, soliciting, or receiving directly or indirectly, corrupt or improper payments or 
anything else of value to or from recipients in the public or private sector. Violations of Trade Laws can result in substantial criminal fines and civil penalties, 
imprisonment, the loss of trade privileges, debarment, tax reassessments, breach of contract and fraud litigation, reputational harm, and other consequences. 
Forte has direct or indirect interactions with officials and employees of government agencies or government-affiliated hospitals, universities, and other 
organizations. Forte also expects its non-U.S. activities to increase in time. Forte plans to engage third parties for clinical trials and/or to obtain necessary 
permits, licenses, patent registrations, and other regulatory approvals and Forte can be held liable for the corrupt or other illegal activities of its personnel, 
agents, or partners, even if Forte do not explicitly authorize or have prior knowledge of such activities.

Compliance with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the export of any of Forte’s current and future approved products may create delays in the 
introduction of its products in international markets or, in some cases, prevent the export of its products to some countries altogether. Furthermore, U.S. export 
control laws and economic sanctions prohibit the shipment of certain products and services to countries, governments, and persons targeted by U.S. sanctions. If 
Forte fails to comply with export and import regulations and such economic sanctions, penalties could be imposed, including fines and/or denial of certain 
export privileges. Moreover, any new export or import restrictions, new legislation or shifting approaches in the enforcement or scope of existing regulations, or 
in the countries, persons, or products targeted by such regulations, could result in decreased use of its products by, or in its decreased ability to export its 
approved products to, existing or potential customers with international operations. Any decreased use of its approved products or limitation on its ability to 
export or sell its products would likely adversely affect Forte’s business.

In particular, there is currently significant uncertainty about the future relationship between the United States and various other countries, most 
significantly China, with respect to trade policies, treaties, tariffs, taxes, and other limitations on cross-border operations. The U.S. government has made and 
continues to make significant additional changes in U.S. trade policy and may continue to take future actions that could negatively impact U.S. trade. For 
example, legislation has been introduced in Congress to limit certain U.S. biotechnology companies from using equipment or services produced or provided by 
select Chinese biotechnology companies, and others in Congress have advocated for the use of existing executive branch authorities to limit those Chinese 
service providers’ ability to engage in business in the U.S. We cannot predict what actions may ultimately be taken with respect to trade relations between the 
United States and China or other countries, what products and services may be subject to such actions or what actions may be taken by the other countries in 
retaliation. If we are unable to obtain or use services from existing service providers or become unable to export or sell our products to any of our customers or 
service providers, our business, liquidity, financial condition, and/or results of operations would be materially and adversely affected.

Risks related to Forte’s intellectual property
 
If Forte is unable to obtain and maintain patent protection for any product candidate Forte develops, its competitors could develop and commercialize 
products or technology similar or identical to Forte’s, and its ability 
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to successfully commercialize any product candidate Forte may develop, and its technology, may be adversely affected.

Forte’s success depends in large part on its ability to obtain and maintain patent protection in the United States and other countries with respect to any 
product candidate and other technologies Forte may develop. Given that the development of its technology is at an early stage, its intellectual property portfolio 
with respect to certain aspects of its technology and any product candidates is also at an early stage. Forte has filed and intends to file patent applications on 
these aspects of its technology and any product candidates; however, there can be no assurance that any such patent applications will issue as granted patents. 

Composition of matter patents for biological and pharmaceutical products are generally considered to be the strongest form of intellectual property 
protection for those types of products, as such patents provide protection without regard to any method of use. Forte cannot be certain, however, that the claims 
in its future patent applications covering the composition of matter of any product candidates will be considered patentable by the United States Patent and 
Trademark Office (“USPTO”), or by patent offices in foreign countries, or that the claims in any of its issued patents will be considered valid and enforceable 
by courts in the United States or foreign countries. 

Furthermore, in some cases, Forte may not be able to obtain issued claims covering compositions of matter relating to any product candidates it develops 
and instead may need to rely on filing patent applications with claims covering a method of use and/or method of manufacture. Method of use patents protect 
the use of a product for the specified method. This type of patent does not prevent a competitor from making and marketing a product that is identical to any 
product Forte develops for an indication that is outside the scope of the patented method. Moreover, even if competitors do not actively promote their products 
for its targeted indications, physicians may prescribe these products “off-label” for those uses that are covered by its method of use patents. Although off-label 
prescriptions may infringe or contribute to the infringement of method of use patents, the practice is common and such infringement is difficult to prevent or 
prosecute. There can be no assurance that any such patent applications will issue as granted patents, and even if they do issue, such patent claims may be 
insufficient to prevent third parties, such as Forte’s competitors, from utilizing its technology. Any failure to obtain or maintain patent protection with respect to 
any product candidate Forte develops could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
 
If the scope of any patent protection Forte obtains is not sufficiently broad, or if Forte loses any future patent protection, its ability to prevent its competitors 
from commercializing similar or identical technology and product candidates would be adversely affected.

The patent position of life sciences companies generally is highly uncertain, involves complex legal and factual questions, and has been the subject of 
much litigation in recent years. As a result, the issuance, scope, validity, enforceability, and commercial value of any future patent rights are highly uncertain. 
Forte’s future patent applications may not result in patents being issued which protect any product candidates Forte develops, or other technologies or which 
effectively prevent others from commercializing competitive technologies and product candidates.

No consistent policy regarding the scope of claims allowable in patents in the biotechnology field has emerged in the United States. The patent situation 
outside of the United States is even more uncertain. Changes in either the patent laws or their interpretation in the United States and other countries may 
diminish Forte’s ability to protect its inventions and enforce its intellectual property rights, and more generally could affect the value of its intellectual property. 
In particular, its ability to stop third parties from making, using, selling, offering to sell, or importing products that infringe its intellectual property will depend 
in part on its success in obtaining and enforcing patent claims that cover its technology, inventions and improvements. With respect to company-owned 
intellectual property, Forte cannot be sure that patents will be granted with respect to any patent applications filed by it in the future, nor can Forte be sure any 
patents that may be granted to Forte in the future will be commercially useful in protecting its products and the methods used to manufacture those products. 
Moreover, even any patents that may issue to Forte do not guarantee Forte the right to practice its technology in relation to the commercialization of its 
products. The area of patent and other intellectual property rights in biotechnology is an evolving one with many risks and uncertainties, and third parties may 
have blocking patents that could be used to prevent Forte from commercializing any future product candidates. Any patents that may issue to Forte in the future 
may be challenged, invalidated, or circumvented, which could limit its ability to stop competitors from marketing related products or 
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limit the length of the term of patent protection that Forte may have for any product candidate it develops. In addition, the rights granted under any patents that 
may issue to Forte may not provide Forte with protection or competitive advantages against competitors with similar technology. Furthermore, its competitors 
may independently develop similar technologies. For these reasons, Forte may have competition for any product candidate it develops. Moreover, because of 
the extensive time required for development, testing and regulatory review of a potential product, it is possible that, before any particular product candidate can 
be commercialized, any related patent that may issue to Forte may expire or remain in force for only a short period following commercialization, thereby 
reducing any advantage of the patent.

Any patents that Forte may own in the future may be challenged, narrowed, circumvented, or invalidated by third parties. Consequently, Forte does not 
know whether any product candidate or other technologies it develops will be protectable or remain protected by valid and enforceable patents. Forte’s 
competitors or other third parties may be able to circumvent Forte’s future patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-
infringing manner which could materially adversely affect its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its inventorship, scope, validity, or enforceability, and patents that Forte may obtain may be challenged in 
the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad. Forte may be subject to a third party preissuance submission of prior art to the USPTO or to foreign 
patent authorities or become involved in opposition, derivation, revocation, reexamination, post-grant and inter partes review, or interference proceedings or 
other similar proceedings challenging future patent rights. An adverse determination in any such submission, proceeding or litigation could reduce the scope of, 
or invalidate or render unenforceable, Forte’s future patent rights, allow third parties to commercialize any product candidates Forte develops or other 
technologies, and compete directly with Forte, without payment to Forte, or result in Forte’s inability to manufacture or commercialize products without 
infringing third-party patent rights. Moreover, Forte may have to participate in interference proceedings declared by the USPTO to determine priority of 
invention or in post-grant challenge proceedings, such as oppositions in a foreign patent office, that challenge its priority of invention or other features of 
patentability with respect to any future owned patents and patent applications. Such challenges may result in loss of patent rights, loss of exclusivity, or in 
patent claims being narrowed, invalidated, or held unenforceable, which could limit its ability to stop others from using or commercializing similar or identical 
technology and products, or limit the duration of the patent protection of any product candidates Forte develops. Such proceedings also may result in substantial 
cost and require significant time from its scientists and management, even if the eventual outcome is favorable to us.

In addition, given the amount of time required for the development, testing, and regulatory review of future product candidates, Forte’s future patents 
protecting such a product candidate might expire before or shortly after any such product candidate is approved and commercialized. As a result, its intellectual 
property may not provide Forte with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours.

Forte may in the future co-own patent rights relating to future product candidates with third parties. Forte may need the cooperation of any such co-
owners of its patent rights in order to enforce such patent rights against third parties, and such cooperation may not be provided to us. Any of the foregoing 
could have a material adverse effect on its competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and prospects.
 
Forte’s rights to develop and commercialize any future product candidates may be subject, in part, to the terms and conditions of future licenses granted to 
it by others.

Forte may rely upon licenses to certain patent rights and proprietary technology from third parties that are important or necessary to the development of 
any product candidate Forte develops. Patent rights that Forte in-licenses in the future may be subject to a reservation of rights by one or more third parties. As a 
result, any such third parties may have certain rights to such intellectual property.

In addition, subject to the terms of any such license agreements, Forte may not have the right to control the preparation, filing, prosecution and 
maintenance, and Forte may not have the right to control the enforcement, and defense of patents and patent applications covering the technology that Forte 
licenses from third parties. Forte cannot be certain that its in-licensed patent applications (and any patents issuing therefrom) that are controlled by its licensors 
will be prepared, filed, prosecuted, maintained, enforced, and defended in a manner consistent with the best interests of its business. If its licensors fail to 
prosecute, maintain, enforce, and defend such patents rights, or lose rights to those patent applications (or any patents issuing therefrom), the rights Forte has 
licensed may be 
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reduced or eliminated, its right to develop and commercialize any of its product candidates that are subject of such licensed rights could be adversely affected, 
and Forte may not be able to prevent competitors from making, using and selling competing products. Moreover, Forte cannot be certain that such activities by 
its potential future licensors will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents or other 
intellectual property rights. In addition, even where Forte may have the right to control patent prosecution of patents and patent applications that Forte may 
license to and from third parties, Forte may still be adversely affected or prejudiced by actions or inactions of its potential future licensees, licensors and their 
counsel that took place prior to the date of assumption of control over patent prosecution.
 
If Forte fails to comply with its obligations in agreements under which we option or license intellectual property rights from future collaborators or 
licensors or otherwise experience disruptions to our business relationships with future collaborators or licensors, we could lose intellectual property rights 
that are important to our business.

Forte may enter into agreements with future collaborators that impose various economic, development, diligence, commercialization, and other 
obligations on us. Such collaboration agreements may also require us to meet development timelines, or to exercise commercially reasonable efforts to develop 
and commercialize licensed products. Our future collaborators might conclude that we have materially breached our obligations under such agreements and 
might therefore terminate or seek damages under the agreements, thereby removing or limiting our ability to develop and commercialize products and 
technology covered by these agreements. Termination of these agreements could cause Forte to lose the rights to certain patents or other intellectual property, or 
the underlying patents could fail to provide the intended exclusivity, and competitors or other third parties may have the freedom to seek regulatory approval of, 
and to market, products similar to or identical to ours and we may be required to cease our development and commercialization of certain of our product 
candidates. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on our competitive position, business, financial conditions, results of operations, and 
growth prospects.

Moreover, disputes may arise regarding intellectual property subject to a collaboration agreement, including:

• the scope of the option or license rights granted under the agreement and other interpretation-related issues;

• the extent to which our technology and processes infringe on intellectual property of the collaborator that is not subject to the option or license 
rights granted under the agreement;

• the sublicensing of patent and other rights under our collaborative development relationships;

• Forte’s diligence obligations under the agreement and what activities satisfy those diligence obligations;

• the inventorship and ownership of inventions and know-how resulting from the joint creation or use of intellectual property by our collaborators 
and us and our other partners; and

• the priority of invention of patented technology.

Forte may enter into agreements to option or license intellectual property or technology from third parties that are complex, and certain provisions in 
such agreements may be susceptible to multiple interpretations. The resolution of any contract interpretation disagreement that may arise could narrow what we 
believe to be the scope of our rights to the relevant intellectual property or technology, or increase what we believe to be our financial or other obligations under 
the relevant agreement, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, and growth prospects. 
Moreover, if disputes over intellectual property that Forte has optioned or licensed prevent or impair our ability to maintain such arrangements on commercially 
acceptable terms, we may be unable to successfully develop and commercialize the affected product candidates, which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial conditions, results of operations, and growth prospects. 
 
Forte may not be able to protect its intellectual property and proprietary rights throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates Forte develops and other technologies in all countries throughout the world would be 
prohibitively expensive, and the laws of foreign countries may not protect its rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Consequently, Forte may 
not be able to prevent third 
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parties from practicing its inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products made using its inventions in and into the 
United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use its technologies in jurisdictions where Forte has not obtained patent protection to develop their own 
products and, further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where Forte has patent protection but enforcement is not as strong as that in the 
United States. These products may compete with Forte’s products, and Forte’s patents or other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to 
prevent them from competing.

Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal 
systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents, trade secrets, and other intellectual property 
protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology products, which could make it difficult for Forte to stop the infringement of its patents or marketing of 
competing products in violation of its intellectual property and proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce its intellectual property and proprietary 
rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial costs and divert its efforts and attention from other aspects of its business, could put its patents at risk of 
being invalidated or interpreted narrowly, could put its patent applications at risk of not issuing, and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. 
Forte may not prevail in any lawsuits that it initiates, and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, its 
efforts to enforce its intellectual property and proprietary rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the 
intellectual property that Forte develops or licenses.

Many countries have compulsory licensing laws under which a patent owner may be compelled to grant licenses to third parties. In addition, many 
countries limit the enforceability of patents against government agencies or government contractors. In these countries, the patent owner may have limited 
remedies, which could materially diminish the value of such patent. If Forte is forced to grant a license to third parties with respect to any future patents relevant 
to its business, its competitive position may be impaired, and its business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects may be adversely affected.

In Europe, beginning June 1, 2023, European applications and patents may be subjected to the jurisdiction of the Unified Patent Court (“UPC”) unless 
those are explicitly opted out. Also, European applications will have the option, upon grant of a patent, of becoming a Unitary Patent which will be subject to 
the jurisdiction of the UPC. This will be a significant change in European patent practice. As the UPC is a new court system, there is no precedent for the court, 
increasing the uncertainty. As a single court system can invalidate a European patent, we, where applicable may opt out of the UPC and as such, each European 
patent would need to be challenged in each individual country.
 
Intellectual property discovered through government funded programs may be subject to federal regulations such as “march-in” rights, certain reporting 
requirements and a preference for United States-based companies. Compliance with such regulations may limit our exclusive rights and limit our ability to 
contract with non-United States manufacturers. 

Although we do not currently own issued patents or pending patent applications that have been generated through the use of United States government 
funding, we may obtain intellectual property rights in future on patents and patent applications that have been generated through the use of United States 
government funding or grants. Pursuant to the Bayh-Dole Act of 1980, the United States government has certain rights in inventions developed with 
government funding. On December 8, 2023, the National Institute of Standards and Technology ("NIST") released the Draft Interagency Guidance Framework 
for Considering the Exercise of March-In Rights ("Guidance") to the public for comment. The Guidance represents the first federal framework specifying that 
price can be a factor in considering whether the government may exercise its march-in authority pursuant to 35 U.S.C. 200 et seq. (Bayh-Dole). These United 
States government march-in rights include a non-exclusive, non-transferable, irrevocable worldwide license to use inventions for any governmental purpose. In 
addition, the United States government has the right, under certain limited circumstances, to require us to grant exclusive, partially exclusive, or non-exclusive 
licenses to any of these inventions to a third party if it determines that: (1) adequate steps have not been taken to commercialize the invention; (2) government 
action is necessary to meet public health or safety needs; or (3) government action is necessary to meet requirements for public use under federal regulations, 
also referred to as march-in rights. If the United States government exercised its march-in rights in our future intellectual property rights that are generated 
through the use of United States government funding or grants, we could be forced to license or sublicense intellectual property developed by us or that we 
license on terms unfavorable to us, and there 
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can be no assurance that we would receive compensation from the United States government for the exercise of such rights. The United States government also 
has the right to take title to these inventions if the grant recipient fails to disclose the invention to the government or fails to file an application to register the 
intellectual property within specified time limits. Intellectual property generated under a government funded program is also subject to certain reporting 
requirements, compliance with which may require us to expend substantial resources. In addition, the United States government requires that any products 
embodying any of these inventions or produced through the use of any of these inventions be manufactured substantially in the United States. This preference 
for United States industry may be waived by the federal agency that provided the funding if the owner or assignee of the intellectual property can show that 
reasonable but unsuccessful efforts have been made to grant licenses on similar terms to potential licensees that would be likely to manufacture substantially in 
the United States or that under the circumstances domestic manufacture is not commercially feasible. This preference for United States industry may limit our 
ability to contract with non-United States product manufacturers for products covered by such intellectual property.
 
Obtaining and maintaining Forte’s patent protection depends on compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment, and other 
requirements imposed by government patent agencies, and its patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these requirements.

Periodic maintenance fees, renewal fees, annuity fees, and various other government fees on patents and applications will be due to be paid to the 
USPTO and various government patent agencies outside of the United States over the lifetime of its owned patents and applications. The USPTO and various 
non-U.S. government agencies require compliance with several procedural, documentary, fee payment, and other similar provisions during the patent 
application process. In some cases, an inadvertent lapse can be cured by payment of a late fee or by other means in accordance with the applicable rules. There 
are situations, however, in which non-compliance can result in abandonment or lapse of the patent or patent application, resulting in a partial or complete loss of 
patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event, potential competitors might be able to enter the market with similar or identical products or 
technology, which could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.
 
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, thereby impairing Forte’s ability to protect any products it develops.

Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the 
prosecution of patent applications and the enforcement or defense of issued patents. Assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, prior to March 
2013, in the United States, the first to invent the claimed invention was entitled to the patent, while outside the United States, the first to file a patent application 
was entitled to the patent. After March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or the America Invents Act, enacted in September 2011, the United 
States transitioned to a first inventor to file system in which, assuming that other requirements for patentability are met, the first inventor to file a patent 
application will be entitled to the patent on an invention regardless of whether a third party was the first to invent the claimed invention. A third party that files a 
patent application in the USPTO after March 2013, but before Forte, could therefore be awarded a patent covering an invention of ours even if Forte had made 
the invention before it was made by such third party. This will require Forte to be cognizant going forward of the time from invention to filing of a patent 
application. Since patent applications in the United States and most other countries are confidential for a period of time after filing or until issuance, Forte 
cannot be certain that it is the first to file any patent application related to any product candidates it develops or other technologies.

The America Invents Act also includes a number of significant changes that affect the way patent applications will be prosecuted and also may affect 
patent litigation. These include allowing third party submission of prior art to the USPTO during patent prosecution and additional procedures to attack the 
validity of a patent by USPTO administered post-grant proceedings, including post-grant review, inter partes review, and derivation proceedings. Because of a 
lower evidentiary standard in USPTO proceedings compared to the evidentiary standard in United States federal courts necessary to invalidate a patent claim, a 
third party could potentially provide evidence in a USPTO proceeding sufficient for the USPTO to hold a claim invalid even though the same evidence would 
be insufficient to invalidate the claim if first presented in a district court action. Accordingly, a third party may attempt to use the USPTO procedures to 
invalidate Forte’s patent claims that would not have been invalidated if first challenged by the third party as a defendant in a district court action. Therefore, the 
America Invents Act and its 
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implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of Forte’s owned future patent applications and the enforcement or 
defense of its owned future issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial condition, results of operations, and 
prospects.

In addition, the patent positions of companies in the development and commercialization of biologics and pharmaceuticals are particularly uncertain. The 
U.S. Supreme Court has ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or 
weakening the rights of patent owners in certain situations. It is unpredictable how decisions by the federal courts, the U.S. Congress or the USPTO may impact 
the value of Forte’s patent rights. For example, the Supreme Court of the United States held in Amgen v. Sanofi (2023) that a functionally claimed genus was 
invalid for failing to comply with the enablement requirement of the Patent Act. In addition, the Federal circuit recently issued a decision involving the 
interaction of patent term adjustment ("PTA"), terminal disclaimers, and obvious-type double patenting. This combination of events has created uncertainty 
with respect to the validity and enforceability of patents, once obtained. Depending on future actions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts, and the USPTO, 
the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s future patent portfolio and 
its ability to protect and enforce its intellectual property in the future.
 
Forte's future issued patents covering product candidates Forte develops could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court or before 
administrative bodies in the United States or abroad.

In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace. Grounds for a validity 
challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness or non-enablement. Grounds for an 
unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld relevant information from the USPTO, or 
made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may raise claims challenging the validity or enforceability of Forte’s owned patents before 
administrative bodies in the United States or abroad, even outside the context of litigation. Such mechanisms include re-examination, post-grant review, inter 
partes review, interference proceedings, derivation proceedings, and equivalent proceedings in foreign jurisdictions (e.g., opposition proceedings). Such 
proceedings could result in the revocation of, cancellation of, or amendment to Forte’s future patents in such a way that they no longer cover its product 
candidate or other technologies. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity 
question, for example, Forte cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of which Forte and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If 
a third party were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or unenforceability, Forte would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on any 
product candidates it develops or other technologies. Such a loss of patent protection would have a material adverse impact on Forte’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects.
 
Patent terms may be inadequate to protect our competitive position on our products and services for an adequate amount of time.

Patents have a limited lifespan. In the United States and abroad, if all maintenance fees/annuity fees are timely paid, the natural expiration of a patent is 
generally 20 years from its earliest non-provisional filing date. The protection a patent affords is limited. Even if patents covering Forte’s products are obtained, 
once the patent life has expired, Forte may be open to competition from competitive products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing 
and regulatory review of new products, patents protecting such products might expire before or shortly after such products are commercialized. As a result, 
Forte’s future owned and licensed patent portfolio may not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or 
identical to ours.
 
If Forte does not obtain patent term extension and/or data exclusivity for any product candidate that Forte may develop, its business may be materially 
harmed.

Depending upon the timing, duration and specifics of any FDA marketing approval of any product candidate Forte may develop, one or more of its 
future owned U.S. patents may be eligible for limited patent term extension under the Hatch-Waxman Act. The Hatch-Waxman Act permits a patent term 
extension of up to five years as compensation for patent term lost during the FDA regulatory review process. A patent term extension cannot extend the 
remaining term of a patent beyond a total of 14 years from the date of product approval, only one patent may be extended and only those claims covering the 
approved drug, a method for using it, or a method for manufacturing it 
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may be extended. Similar extensions as compensation for patent term lost during regulatory review processes are also available in certain foreign countries and 
territories, such as in Europe under a Supplementary Patent Certificate. However, Forte may not be granted an extension in the United States and/or foreign 
countries and territories because of, for example, failing to exercise due diligence during the testing phase or regulatory review process, failing to apply within 
applicable deadlines, failing to apply prior to expiration of relevant future patents, or otherwise failing to satisfy applicable requirements. Moreover, the 
applicable time period or the scope of patent protection afforded could be less than Forte requests. If Forte is unable to obtain patent term extension or the term 
of any such extension is shorter than what Forte requests, its competitors may obtain approval of competing products following its patent expiration, and its 
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects could be materially harmed.
 
Forte may be subject to claims challenging the inventorship of its patents and other intellectual property.

Forte may be subject to claims that former employees, collaborators or other third parties have an interest in its owned patent rights, trade secrets, or 
other intellectual property as an inventor or co-inventor. For example, Forte may have inventorship disputes arise from conflicting obligations of employees, 
consultants or others who are involved in developing its product candidate or other technologies. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these and other 
claims challenging inventorship or its ownership of its owned patent rights, trade secrets or other intellectual property. If Forte fails in defending any such 
claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, Forte may lose valuable intellectual property rights, such as exclusive ownership of, or right to use, intellectual 
property that is important to its product candidate and other technologies. Even if Forte is successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in 
substantial costs and be a distraction to management and other employees. Any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, 
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
 
If Forte is unable to protect the confidentiality of its trade secrets, its business and competitive position would be harmed.

In addition to seeking patents for its product candidate and other technologies, Forte also relies on trade secrets and confidentiality agreements to protect 
its unpatented know-how, technology, and other proprietary information and to maintain its competitive position. Trade secrets and know-how can be difficult 
to protect. Forte expects its trade secrets and know-how to over time be disseminated within the industry through independent development, the publication of 
journal articles describing the methodology, and the movement of personnel from academic to industry scientific positions.

Forte currently, and may in the future continue to, relies on third parties to assist it in developing and manufacturing its product candidates. Accordingly, 
Forte must, at times, share know-how and trade secrets with them. Forte may in the future also enter into research and development collaborations with third 
parties that may require it to share know-how and trade secrets under the terms of its research and development partnerships or similar agreements. Forte seeks 
to protect its know-how, trade secrets and other proprietary technology, in part, by entering into non-disclosure and confidentiality agreements, and including in 
its vendor and service agreements terms protecting its confidential information, know-how and trade secrets, with parties who have access to such information, 
such as its employees, scientific collaborators, CROs, contract manufacturers, consultants, advisors and other third parties. Forte also enters into confidentiality 
and invention or patent assignment agreements with its employees and consultants as well as trains its employees not to bring or use proprietary information or 
technology from former employers to Forte or in their work, and Forte reminds former employees when they leave their employment of their confidentiality 
obligations. However, Forte cannot guarantee that Forte has entered into such agreements with each party that may have or have had access to its trade secrets 
or proprietary technology and processes. Forte also seeks to preserve the integrity and confidentiality of its data and other confidential information by 
maintaining physical security of its premises and physical and electronic security of its information technology systems.

Despite Forte’s efforts, any of the aforementioned parties may breach the agreements and disclose Forte’s proprietary information, including its trade 
secrets, or there may be lapses or failures in its physical and electronic security systems which lead to its proprietary information being disclosed, and Forte may 
not be able to obtain adequate remedies in the event of any such breaches. Monitoring unauthorized uses and disclosures is difficult, and Forte does not know 
whether the steps it has taken to protect its proprietary technologies will be effective. If any of 
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its scientific advisors, employees, contractors and consultants who are parties to these agreements breaches or violates the terms of any of these agreements, 
Forte may not have adequate remedies for any such breach or violation, and Forte could lose its trade secrets as a result. Moreover, if confidential information 
that is licensed or disclosed to Forte by its partners, collaborators, or others is inadvertently disclosed or subject to a breach or violation, Forte may be exposed 
to liability to the owner of that confidential information. Enforcing a claim that a party illegally disclosed or misappropriated a trade secret is difficult, 
expensive, and time-consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, some courts inside and outside the United States are less willing or unwilling to 
protect trade secrets. If any of its trade secrets were to be lawfully obtained or independently developed by a competitor or other third party, Forte would have 
no right to prevent them from using that technology or information to compete with us. If any of its trade secrets were to be disclosed to or independently 
developed by a competitor or other third party, Forte’s competitive position would be materially and adversely harmed.
 
Forte may be subject to claims that its employees, consultants, or advisors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their current or former 
employers or claims asserting ownership of what Forte regards as its own intellectual property.

Many of Forte’s employees, consultants, and advisors are currently or were previously employed at universities or other healthcare companies, including 
its competitors and potential competitors. Although Forte tries to ensure that its employees, consultants, and advisors do not use the proprietary information or 
know-how of others in their work for Forte, Forte may be subject to claims that Forte or these individuals have used or disclosed intellectual property, including 
trade secrets or other proprietary information, of any such individual’s current or former employer. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. 
If Forte fails in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, Forte may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if 
Forte is successful in defending against such claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.

In addition, while it is Forte’s policy to require its employees and contractors who may be involved in the conception or development of intellectual 
property to execute agreements assigning such intellectual property to Forte, Forte may be unsuccessful in executing such an agreement with each party who, in 
fact, conceives or develops intellectual property that Forte regards as its own. The assignment of intellectual property rights may not be self-executing, or the 
assignment agreements may be breached, and Forte may be forced to bring claims against third parties, or defend claims that they may bring against us, to 
determine the ownership of what Forte regards as its intellectual property. Such claims could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations, and prospects.
 
Third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, misappropriation or other violation against Forte or its collaborators may prevent or delay the 
development and commercialization of any product candidates Forte develops and other technologies.

The field of therapeutics targeting autoimmune and autoimmune-related diseases is competitive and dynamic. Due to the focused research and 
development that is taking place by several companies, including Forte and its competitors, in this field, the intellectual property landscape is in flux, and it may 
remain uncertain in the future. As such, there may be significant intellectual property related litigation and proceedings relating to Forte’s owned, and other 
third party, intellectual property and proprietary rights in the future.

Forte’s commercial success depends in part on its and its collaborators’ ability to avoid infringing, misappropriating and otherwise violating the patents 
and other intellectual property rights of third parties. There is a substantial amount of complex litigation involving patents and other intellectual property rights 
in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, as well as administrative proceedings for challenging patents, including interference, derivation and 
reexamination proceedings before the USPTO or oppositions and other comparable proceedings in foreign jurisdictions. As discussed above, recently, due to 
changes in U.S. law referred to as patent reform, new procedures including inter partes review and post-grant review have been implemented. As stated above, 
this reform adds uncertainty to the possibility of challenge to Forte’s future patents.

Numerous U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications owned by third parties exist relating to autoimmune technologies and in the 
fields in which Forte is developing its product candidate. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued, the risk 
increases that its product candidate and other technologies may give rise to claims of infringement of the patent rights of others. Forte cannot 
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assure you that its product candidate and other technologies that Forte has developed, are developing or may develop in the future will not infringe existing or 
future patents owned by third parties. Forte may not be aware of patents that have already been issued and that a third party, for example, a competitor in the 
fields in which Forte is developing its product candidate and other technologies, might assert infringement by future Forte product candidates or other 
technologies, including claims to compositions, formulations, methods of manufacture or methods of use or treatment that cover future Forte product candidates 
or other technologies. It is also possible that patents owned by third parties of which Forte is aware, but which Forte does not believe Forte infringes or that 
Forte believes Forte has valid defenses to any claims of patent infringement, could be found to be infringed by Forte. It is not unusual that corresponding patents 
issued in different countries have different scopes of coverage, such that in one country a third-party patent does not pose a material risk, but in another country, 
the corresponding third-party patent may pose a material risk to Forte’s product candidates. As such, we monitor third-party patents in the fields in which Forte 
is developing its product candidate. In addition, because patent applications can take many years to issue, there may be currently pending patent applications 
that may later result in issued patents that future Forte product candidates or other technologies may infringe. Generative artificial intelligence (AI) resources 
that are publicly available also present a risk that Forte may inadvertently obtain, incorporate, or use a third party’s intellectual property. Forte cannot provide 
any assurances that third-party patents do not exist which might be enforced against its current technology, manufacturing methods, product candidates, or 
future methods or products resulting in either an injunction prohibiting its manufacture or future sales, or, with respect to its future sales, an obligation on its 
part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties, which could be significant.

Forte may identify third-party patents in which it will determine that the best course of action is to challenge the validity of such third-party patents in a 
post-grant proceeding at the USPTO, such as in a reexamination, or a post-grant and inter partes review. Such third-party patents may have claims broadly 
covering autoimmune technologies in which Forte is developing its product candidate. Forte recently identified U.S. Patent No. 11,278,505, owned by the 
University of Massachusetts, which claims broad field of autoimmune technologies. Forte filed a petition for post grant review of U.S. Patent No. 11,278,505 
(the “’505 Patent”), owned by the University of Massachusetts, at the Patent Trial and Appeal Board ("PTAB") on December 22, 2022. On July 3, 2023, the 
PTAB issued a decision to institute review. On June 24, 2024, the PTAB issued a final written decision, finding all claims of the ’505 Patent unpatentable. The 
University of Massachusetts filed a request for rehearing on July 24, 2024. The PTAB denied the request for rehearing on October 30, 2024. The University of 
Massachusetts filed a notice of appeal on December 30, 2024.  The outcome of such post-grant proceedings is uncertain and if the USPTO upholds the validity 
of a third-party patent, it could have an adverse impact on Forte’s ability to commercialize its future products, including either an injunction prohibiting its 
manufacture or future sales, or, with respect to its future sales, an obligation on its part to pay royalties and/or other forms of compensation to third parties, 
which could be significant. Regardless of outcome, challenging the validity of third-party patents can have an adverse impact on us due to legal fees and 
expenses, diversion of management resources, negative publicity, reputational harm and other factors.

Third parties may have patents or obtain patents in the future and claim that the manufacture, use or sale of Forte’s product candidates or other 
technologies infringes upon these patents. In the event that any third-party claims that Forte infringes their patents or that Forte is otherwise employing their 
proprietary technology without authorization and initiates litigation against us, even if Forte believes such claims are without merit, a court of competent 
jurisdiction could hold that such patents are valid, enforceable and infringed by Forte’s product candidates or other technologies. In this case, the holders of 
such patents may be able to block Forte’s ability to commercialize the applicable product candidate or technology unless Forte obtains a license under the 
applicable patents, or until such patents expire or are finally determined to be held invalid or unenforceable. Such a license may not be available on 
commercially reasonable terms or at all. Even if Forte is able to obtain a license, the license would likely obligate Forte to pay license fees or royalties or both, 
and the rights granted to Forte might be non-exclusive, which could result in its competitors gaining access to the same intellectual property. If Forte is unable 
to obtain a necessary license to a third-party patent on commercially reasonable terms, Forte may be unable to commercialize its product candidates or other 
technologies, or such commercialization efforts may be significantly delayed, which could in turn significantly harm Forte’s business.

Defense of infringement claims, regardless of their merit, would involve substantial litigation expense and would be a substantial diversion of 
management and other employee resources from Forte’s business, and may impact its reputation. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against 
Forte, Forte may be enjoined from further developing or commercializing its infringing product candidate or other technologies. In addition, Forte may 
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have to pay substantial damages, including treble damages and attorneys’ fees for willful infringement, obtain one or more licenses from third parties, pay 
royalties and/or redesign its infringing product candidate or technologies, which may be impossible or require substantial time and monetary expenditure. In that 
event, Forte would be unable to further develop and commercialize any future product candidate or other technologies, which could harm its business 
significantly.

Engaging in litigation to defend against third parties alleging that Forte has infringed, misappropriated or otherwise violated their patents or other 
intellectual property rights is very expensive, particularly for a company of its size, and time-consuming. Some of its competitors may be able to sustain the 
costs of litigation or administrative proceedings more effectively than Forte can because of greater financial resources. Patent litigation and other proceedings 
may also absorb significant management time. Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings against Forte 
could impair its ability to compete in the marketplace. The occurrence of any of the foregoing could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial 
condition or results of operations.
 
Forte may become involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce its patents and other intellectual property rights, which could be expensive, time-consuming, 
and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe Forte’s future patents, or Forte may be required to defend against claims of infringement. In addition, its patents also may 
become involved in inventorship, priority or validity disputes. To counter or defend against such claims can be expensive and time-consuming. In an 
infringement proceeding, a court may decide that a future patent owned by Forte is invalid or unenforceable, the other party’s use of its patented technology 
falls under the safe harbor to patent infringement under 35 U.S.C. § 271(e)(1), or may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the 
grounds that its owned future patents do not cover the technology in question. An adverse result in any litigation proceeding could put one or more of its owned 
future patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted narrowly. Even if Forte establishes infringement, the court may decide not to grant an injunction against 
further infringing activity and instead award only monetary damages, which may or may not be an adequate remedy. Furthermore, because of the substantial 
amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of Forte’s confidential information could be 
compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.

Even if resolved in Forte’s favor, litigation or other legal proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause Forte to incur significant 
expenses and could distract its personnel from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, 
motions, or other interim proceedings or developments, and if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial 
adverse effect on the price of Forte’s common stock. Such litigation or proceedings could substantially increase its operating losses and reduce the resources 
available for development activities or any future sales, marketing, or distribution activities. Forte may not have sufficient financial or other resources to 
conduct such litigation or proceedings adequately. Some of its competitors may be able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively 
than Forte can because of their greater financial resources and more mature and developed intellectual property portfolios. Uncertainties resulting from the 
initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other proceedings could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s ability to compete in the marketplace.
 
Intellectual property rights do not necessarily address all potential threats.

The degree of future protection afforded by Forte’s intellectual property rights is uncertain because intellectual property rights have limitations and may 
not adequately protect its business or permit Forte to maintain its competitive advantage. For example:

• others may be able to make products that are similar to Forte’s product candidate or utilize similar technology but that are not covered by the 
claims of the patents that Forte may own;

• Forte, or its current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by the issued patent or 
pending patent application that Forte may own in the future;

• Forte, or its current or future licensors or collaborators, might not have been the first to file patent applications covering certain of its or their 
inventions;
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• others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of Forte’s technologies without infringing Forte’s owned 
intellectual property rights;

• it is possible that Forte’s future pending owned patent applications will not lead to issued patents;

• future issued patents that Forte holds rights to may be held invalid or unenforceable, including as a result of legal challenges by its competitors or 
other third parties;

• Forte’s competitors or other third parties might conduct research and development activities in countries where Forte does not have patent rights 
and then use the information learned from such activities to develop competitive products for sale in its major commercial markets;

• Forte may not develop additional proprietary technologies that are patentable;

• the patents of others may harm Forte’s business; and

• Forte may choose not to file a patent in order to maintain certain trade secrets or know-how, and a third party may subsequently file a patent 
covering such intellectual property.

Should any of these events occur, they could have a material adverse effect on Forte’s business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
 
Risks related to Forte’s reliance on third parties
 
We rely on third parties to conduct our preclinical studies, and plan to rely on third parties to conduct clinical trials, and those third parties may not 
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials, research and studies.

We plan to utilize and depend upon independent investigators and collaborators, such as medical institutions, CROs, CMOs, and strategic partners to 
conduct and support our preclinical studies under agreements with us and plan to continue to do so for our future clinical trials. These third parties have had and 
will continue to have a significant role in the conduct of our preclinical studies and planned clinical trials and the subsequent collection and analysis of data.

 These third parties are not our employees, and except for remedies available to us under our agreements with such third parties, we have limited ability 
to control the amount or timing of resources that any such third party will devote to our preclinical studies or our planned clinical trials. The third parties we rely 
on for these services may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors, for whom they may also be conducting clinical 
trials or other drug development activities, which could affect their performance on our behalf. Some of these third parties may terminate their engagements 
with us at any time. We also expect to have to negotiate budgets and contracts with CROs, clinical trial sites and CMOs and we may not be able to do so on 
favorable terms, which may result in delays to our development timelines and increased costs. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements with, or replace 
or add any third parties, it would involve substantial cost and require extensive management time and focus, or involve a transition period, and may delay our 
drug development activities, as well as materially impact our ability to meet our desired clinical development timelines.

Our heavy reliance on these third parties for such drug development activities will reduce our control over these activities. As a result, we will have less 
direct control over the conduct, timing and completion of preclinical studies and clinical trials and the management of data developed through preclinical studies 
and clinical trials than would be the case if we were relying entirely upon our own staff. Nevertheless, we are responsible for ensuring that each of our studies 
and trials is conducted in accordance with applicable protocol, legal and regulatory requirements and scientific standards, and our reliance on third parties does 
not relieve us of our regulatory responsibilities. For example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance 
with the general investigational plan and protocols for the trial. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with GCP standards, regulations for conducting, 
recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are reliable and accurate and that the rights, integrity and 
confidentiality of trial participants are protected. The EMA also requires us to comply with similar standards. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP 
requirements through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial sites. If we or any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP 
requirements, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may 
require us to perform 
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additional clinical trials before approving our marketing applications. There can be no assurance that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such 
regulatory authority will determine that any of our clinical trials substantially comply with GCP regulations. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted 
with product produced under current cGMP regulations and will require a large number of test patients. Our failure or any failure by these third parties to 
comply with these regulations or to recruit a sufficient number of patients, may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the regulatory approval 
process. Moreover, our business may be implicated if any of these third parties violates federal or state fraud and abuse or false claims laws and regulations or 
healthcare privacy and security laws.

 If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with 
regulatory requirements or our stated protocols, or if these third parties need to be replaced, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, 
marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product candidates. 
As a result, our financial results and the commercial prospects for our product candidates would be harmed, our costs could increase and our ability to generate 
revenue could be delayed.

We have contracted with third parties for the manufacture of our product candidates for preclinical studies and expect to continue to do so for additional 
preclinical studies, clinical trials and ultimately for commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient 
quality and quantities of our product candidates or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or 
commercialization efforts.

We do not currently have the infrastructure or internal capability to manufacture supplies of our product candidates for use in development and 
commercialization. We have relied and expect to continue to rely, on third-party manufacturers for the production of our product candidates for preclinical 
studies and clinical trials under the guidance of members of our organization. We do not have long-term supply agreements, and we purchase our required drug 
product on a purchase order basis, which means that aside from any binding purchase orders we have from time to time, our supplier could cease supplying to 
us or change the terms on which it is willing to continue supplying to us at any time. If we were to experience an unexpected loss of supply of any of our 
product candidates for any reason, whether as a result of manufacturing, supply or storage issues or otherwise, we could experience delays, disruptions, 
suspensions or terminations of, or be required to restart or repeat, any pending or ongoing preclinical studies or clinical trials.

We expect to continue to rely on third-party manufacturers for the commercial supply of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing 
approval. We may be unable to maintain or establish required agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to 
establish agreements with third-party manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including:

• the failure of the third party to manufacture our product candidates according to our schedule and specifications, or at all, including if our third-
party contractors give greater priority to the supply of other products over our product candidates or otherwise do not satisfactorily perform 
according to the terms of the agreements between us and them;

• the reduction or termination of production or deliveries by suppliers, or the raising or prices or renegotiation of terms;

• the termination or nonrenewal of arrangements or agreements by our third-party contractors at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us;

• the breach by the third-party contractors of our agreements with them;

• the failure of third-party contractors to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, including cGMPs;

• the breach by the third-party contractors of our agreements with them;

• the failure of the third party to manufacture our product candidates according to our specifications;

• the mislabeling of clinical supplies, potentially resulting in the wrong dose amounts being supplied or active drug or placebo not being properly 
identified;
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• clinical supplies not being delivered to clinical sites on time, leading to clinical trial interruptions, or of drug supplies not being distributed to 
commercial vendors in a timely manner, resulting in lost sales; and

• the misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how.

We do not have complete control over all aspects of the manufacturing process of our contract manufacturing partners and are dependent on these 
contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMP regulations for manufacturing our product candidates. Third-party manufacturers may not be able to 
comply with cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements outside of the United States. If our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture 
material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA, EMA or comparable regulatory authorities, they will not be able 
to secure and/or maintain marketing approval for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we do not have control over the ability of our contract 
manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA, EMA or a comparable foreign regulatory authority 
does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the future, we will need to find alternative 
manufacturing facilities, and those new facilities would need to be inspected and approved by FDA, EMA or comparable regulatory authority prior to 
commencing manufacturing, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain marketing approval for or market our product candidates, if 
approved. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result in sanctions being imposed on us, 
including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or recalls of product candidates or drugs, 
operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of our product candidates or drugs and harm our 
business and results of operations.
 
Third-party relationships are important to Forte’s business. If Forte is unable to maintain its collaborations, enter into new relationships or if these 
relationships are not successful, its business could be adversely affected.

Forte has limited capabilities for product development and do not yet have any capability for sales, marketing or distribution. Accordingly, Forte enters 
into relationships with other companies to provide it with important technologies, and Forte may receive additional technologies and funding under these and 
other collaborations in the future. Relationships Forte enters into may pose a number of risks, including the following:

• third parties have, and future third-party collaborators may have, significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will 
apply;

• current and future third parties may not perform their obligations as expected;

• current and future third parties may not pursue development and commercialization of any product candidate that achieve regulatory approval or 
may elect not to continue or renew development or commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in the third parties’ 
strategic focus or available funding, or external factors, such as a strategic merger that may divert resources or create competing priorities;

• third parties may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product candidate, 
repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

• current and future third parties could independently develop, or develop with third parties, products that compete directly or indirectly with 
Forte’s products and product candidate if the third parties believe that the competitive products are more likely to be successfully developed or 
can be commercialized under terms that are more economically attractive than ours;

• product candidates discovered in collaboration with Forte may be viewed by its current or future third parties as competitive with their own 
product candidate or products, which may cause such third parties to cease to devote resources to the commercialization of its product candidate;

• current and future third parties may fail to comply with applicable regulatory requirements regarding the development, manufacture, distribution 
or marketing of a product candidate or product;
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• current and future third parties with marketing and distribution rights to one or more of Forte’s product candidates that achieve regulatory 
approval may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and distribution of such product or products;

• disagreements with current or future third parties, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course 
of development, might cause delays or terminations of the research, development or commercialization of product candidate, might lead to 
additional responsibilities for Forte with respect to product candidate, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time-
consuming and expensive;

• current and future third parties may not properly maintain or defend its intellectual property rights or may use its proprietary information in such 
a way as to invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate its intellectual property or proprietary information or expose Forte to potential 
litigation;

• current and future third parties may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose Forte to litigation and potential 
liability;

• if a current or future third parties of ours is involved in a business combination, the collaborator might deemphasize or terminate the development 
or commercialization of any product candidate licensed to it by Forte; and

• current and future relationships may be terminated by the collaborator, and, if terminated, Forte could be required to raise additional capital to 
pursue further development or commercialization of the applicable product candidate.

If Forte’s relationships do not result in the successful discovery, development and commercialization of products or if one of its third parties terminates 
its agreement with Forte, Forte may not receive any future research funding or milestone or royalty payments under the collaboration. If Forte does not receive 
the funding Forte expects under these agreements, its development of its technology and product candidates could be delayed, and Forte may need additional 
resources to develop product candidate and its technology. All of the risks relating to product development, regulatory approval and commercialization 
described in this prospectus also apply to the activities of its collaborators.

Additionally, if any of Forte’s current or future third parties terminate their agreement with Forte, Forte may find it more difficult to attract new 
collaborators and its perception in the business and financial communities could be adversely affected.

Relationships are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business 
combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators. Forte faces significant 
competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Forte’s ability to reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will depend, among other things, upon its 
assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a 
number of factors. If Forte is unable to reach agreements with suitable third parties on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, Forte may have to curtail the 
development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of its other development programs, delay its potential 
commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase its expenditures and undertake development or commercialization 
activities at its own expense. If Forte elects to increase its expenditures to fund development or commercialization activities on its own, Forte may need to 
obtain additional expertise and additional capital, which may not be available to it on acceptable terms, or at all. If Forte fails to enter into relationships or does 
not have sufficient funds or expertise to undertake the necessary development and commercialization activities, Forte may not be able to further develop its 
product candidates, bring them to market and generate revenue from sales of drugs or continue to develop its technology, and its business may be materially and 
adversely affected.

General Risks
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The market price of Forte’s common stock is expected to be volatile. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, 
stockholders have often instituted class action securities litigation against those companies.

The market price of Forte’s common stock could be subject to significant fluctuations. For example, Forte’s announcement in September 2021 that the 
clinical trial of FB-401 for the treatment of AD failed to meet statistical significance for its primary endpoint of EASI-50 (the proportion of patients with at least 
a 50% improvement in atopic dermatitis disease severity as measured by EASI) resulted in a significant decline in the market price of Forte’s common stock. 
Following the announcement on September 2, 2021, the price of Forte’s common stock dropped $588.25 per share, or approximately 82%, from $714.75 per 
share as of the close of business on September 2, 2021 to $126.50 per share as of the close of business on September 3, 2021. The closing price of Forte’s 
common stock on May 9, 2025, was $6.38 per share. Some of the factors that may cause the market price of Forte’s common stock to fluctuate include:

• any strategic decisions that Forte pursues or announces, including Forte’s decision to focus on the development of FB102;

• Forte’s ability to obtain regulatory approvals for any product candidates it develops, and delays or failures to obtain such approvals;

• failure of any of Forte’s product candidates, if approved, to achieve commercial success;

• Forte’s failure to maintain its existing third-party license and supply agreements;

• failure by Forte or its licensors to prosecute, maintain, or enforce its intellectual property rights;

• changes in laws or regulations applicable to product candidates Forte develops;

• any inability to obtain adequate supply of any product candidates Forte develops or the inability to do so at acceptable prices;

• adverse regulatory authority decisions;

• introduction of new products, services or technologies by Forte’s competitors;

• failure to meet or exceed financial and development projections Forte may provide to the public;

• failure to meet or exceed the financial and development projections of the investment community;

• the perception of the pharmaceutical industry by the public, legislatures, regulators and the investment community;

• announcements of significant acquisitions, strategic collaborations, joint ventures or capital commitments by Forte or its competitors;

• disputes or other developments relating to proprietary rights, including patents, litigation matters, and  Forte’s ability to obtain patent protection 
for its technologies;

• additions or departures of key personnel;

• significant lawsuits, including patent or stockholder litigation;

• claims or litigation related to the Rights Plan;

• if securities or industry analysts do not publish research or reports about Forte’s business, or if they issue an adverse or misleading opinion 
regarding its business and stock;

• changes in the market valuations of similar companies;

• general market or macroeconomic conditions;

• the ability for Forte’s common stock to continue to be listed on Nasdaq;

• sales of Forte’s common stock by Forte or its stockholders in the future;
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• trading volume of Forte’s common stock;

• announcements by commercial partners or competitors of new commercial products, clinical progress or the lack thereof, significant contracts, 
commercial relationships or capital commitments;

• adverse publicity generally, including with respect to other products and potential products in such markets;

• the introduction of technological innovations or new therapies that compete with potential products of Forte;

• changes in the structure of health care payment systems; and

• period-to-period fluctuations in Forte’s financial results.

Moreover, the stock markets in general have experienced substantial volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of individual 
companies. These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.

In the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, stockholders have often instituted class action securities 
litigation against those companies. Such litigation, if instituted, could result in substantial costs and diversion of management attention and resources, which 
could significantly harm the company’s profitability and reputation. In addition, such securities litigation often has ensued after a reverse merger or other 
merger and acquisition activity. Such litigation if brought could negatively impact our business.

In addition, as discussed in the “Legal Proceedings” section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed in March 2025, in August 2023, a stockholder 
filed a complaint against Forte and its directors and officers related to the 2023 Private Placement. Additional lawsuits arising out of the 2023 Private Placement 
may be filed in the future. Regardless of the outcome of any litigation related to the 2023 Private Placement, such litigation could result in substantial costs and 
diversion of management attention and resources, which could significantly harm the company’s profitability and reputation.
 
Unstable market and economic conditions may have serious adverse consequences on our business, financial condition and stock price.

The global credit and financial markets have recently experienced extreme volatility and disruptions, including severely diminished liquidity and credit 
availability, declines in consumer confidence, declines in economic growth, increases in unemployment rates and uncertainty about economic stability. The 
financial markets and the global economy may also be adversely affected by the current or anticipated impact of military conflict, including the conflicts in 
Ukraine and the Middle East, terrorism or other geopolitical events. Sanctions imposed by the United States and other countries in response to such military 
conflicts, including in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, may also adversely impact the financial markets and the global economy, and any economic 
countermeasures by affected countries and others could exacerbate market and economic instability. There can be no assurance that further deterioration in 
credit and financial markets and confidence in economic conditions will not occur. Our general business strategy may be adversely affected by any such 
economic downturn, volatile business environment or continued unpredictable and unstable market conditions. If the current equity and credit markets 
deteriorate, it may make any necessary debt or equity financing more difficult, more costly and more dilutive. Failure to secure any necessary financing in a 
timely manner and on favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our growth strategy, financial performance and stock price and could require us to 
delay or abandon clinical development plans. In addition, there is a risk that one or more of our current service providers, manufacturers and other partners may 
not survive an economic downturn, which could directly affect our ability to attain our operating goals on schedule and on budget.
 
Forte has previously been and may in the future be noncompliant with Nasdaq’s minimum bid price requirement, which could result in the delisting of our 
common stock, negatively affect the price of our common stock and limit investors’ ability to trade in our common stock.

Our common stock is listed on Nasdaq. Nasdaq rules impose certain continued listing requirements, including the minimum $1 bid price, corporate 
governance standards and number of public stockholders. On September 14, 2023, we were notified by Nasdaq that we are not compliant with its minimum bid 
price requirement because the 
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closing bid price of our common stock was below $1.00 per share for 30 consecutive trading days. Pursuant to Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(A), we were 
provided an initial compliance period of 180 calendar days, or until March 12, 2024 to become compliant. On March 13, 2024, we received an extension of 180 
calendar days, or until September 9, 2024 (the “Deadline Date”), to regain compliance with the minimum bid price requirement for a minimum of ten 
consecutive business days. 

On August 28, 2024, we implemented a 1-for-25 reverse stock split. On September 12, 2024, we received a letter from Nasdaq that, for the 10 
consecutive business days, the closing bid price of our common stock had been at $1.00 per share or greater. Accordingly, we have regained compliance with 
Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) and Nasdaq considers the prior minimum bid price deficiency matter now closed.

If, in the future, we fail to satisfy the continued listing requirements of Nasdaq, such as the minimum bid price requirement, Nasdaq may take steps to 
delist our shares of common stock. Such a delisting would have a negative effect on the price of our shares of common stock, impair the ability to sell or 
purchase our shares of common stock when persons wish to do so, and any delisting would materially and adversely affect our ability to raise capital or pursue 
strategic restructuring, refinancing or other transactions on acceptable terms, or at all. Delisting from Nasdaq could also have other negative results, including 
the potential loss of institutional investor interest and fewer business development opportunities, as well as a limited amount of news and analyst coverage of 
Forte. Delisting could also result in a determination that our shares of common stock are a “penny stock,” which would require brokers trading in our shares of 
common stock to adhere to more stringent rules, possibly resulting in a reduced level of trading activity in the secondary market for our shares of common 
stock. In the event of a delisting, we would attempt to take actions to restore our compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements, but we can provide no 
assurance that any such action taken by us would allow our shares of common stock to become listed again, stabilize the market price or improve the liquidity 
of our securities, prevent our shares of common stock from dropping below the Nasdaq minimum bid price requirement or prevent future non-compliance with 
Nasdaq’s listing requirements.
 
Forte incurs additional costs and demands upon management as a result of complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies.

As a public company, Forte incurs and will continue to incur significant legal, accounting and other expenses including costs associated with public 
company reporting requirements. Forte costs associated with corporate governance requirements, including requirements under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, as well 
as any new requirements implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq. These rules and regulations have increased Forte’s legal and financial compliance costs from 
when it was a private company and makes some activities more time consuming and costly. These rules and regulations also may make it difficult and 
expensive for Forte to obtain and maintain directors’ and officers’ liability insurance. As a result, it may be more difficult for Forte to attract and retain qualified 
individuals to serve on its board of directors or as executive officers, which may adversely affect investor confidence in and could cause Forte’s business or 
stock price to suffer.
 
Anti-takeover provisions in Forte’s charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of Forte more difficult and may prevent attempts 
by Forte’s stockholders to replace or remove the company management.

Provisions in Forte’s certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or prevent an acquisition or a change in management. In addition, because Forte 
is incorporated in Delaware, it is governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, which prohibits stockholders owning in excess of 15% of the 
outstanding company voting stock from merging or combining with Forte. Although Forte believes these provisions collectively will provide for an opportunity 
to receive higher bids by requiring potential acquirors to negotiate with Forte’s board of directors, they would apply even if the offer may be considered 
beneficial by some stockholders. In addition, these provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by Forte’s stockholders to replace or remove then current 
management by making it more difficult for stockholders to replace members of the board of directors, which is responsible for appointing the members of 
management.
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Forte’s bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between Forte and its 
stockholders, which could limit its stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with Forte or its directors, officers or other 
employees.

Forte’s bylaws provide that the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware is the sole and exclusive forum for any derivative action or proceeding 
brought on Forte’s behalf, any action asserting a breach of fiduciary duty owed by any of its directors, officers or other employees to Forte or its stockholders, 
any action asserting a claim against it arising pursuant to any provisions of the DGCL, its certificate of incorporation or its bylaws, or any action asserting a 
claim against it that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine; provided, that these choice of forum provisions do not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty 
or liability created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act, or any other claim for which the federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. The choice of forum 
provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for disputes with Forte or its directors, officers or other 
employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against Forte and its directors, officers and other employees. If a court were to find the choice of forum 
provision contained in the bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, Forte may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in 
other jurisdictions.
 
Forte does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

The current expectation is that Forte will retain its future earnings, if any, to fund the development and growth of its business. As a result, capital 
appreciation, if any, of Forte’s common stock will be its stockholders’ sole source of gain, if any, for the foreseeable future.

 
Future sales of shares by existing stockholders could cause Forte’s stock price to decline.

If existing stockholders of Forte sell, or indicate an intention to sell, substantial amounts of the Forte’s common stock in the public market, the trading 
price of Forte’s common stock could decline. Forte is not able to predict the effect that sales may have on the prevailing market price of Forte’s common stock.

 
If equity research analysts do not publish research or reports, or publish unfavorable research or reports, about Forte, its business or its market, its stock 
price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for Forte’s common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that equity research analysts publish about it and its 
business. Equity research analysts may elect not to provide research coverage of Forte’s common stock, and such lack of research coverage may adversely 
affect the market price of its common stock. In the event it does have equity research analyst coverage, Forte will not have any control over the analysts, or the 
content and opinions included in their reports. The price of Forte’s common stock could decline if one or more equity research analysts downgrade its stock or 
issue other unfavorable commentary or research. If one or more equity research analysts ceases coverage of Forte or fails to publish reports on it regularly, 
demand for its common stock could decrease, which in turn could cause its stock price or trading volume to decline.
 
The company will have broad discretion in the use of proceeds from any capital raising efforts, including the 2023 Private Placement, 2024 Private 
Placement and any future private placement financings, and may invest or spend the proceeds in ways with which its stockholders do not agree and in ways 
that may not increase the value of their investments.

Forte has and will continue to have broad discretion over the use of proceeds from any capital raising efforts, including private placement financings and 
public offerings completed in 2020, 2023 and 2024 and an “at the market” equity offering program commenced in 2022. Its stockholders may not agree with 
Forte’s decisions, and its use of the proceeds may not yield any return on its stockholders’ investments. Forte’s failure to apply the net proceeds of such 
financings effectively could compromise its ability to pursue its growth strategy and Forte might not be able to yield a significant return, if any, on its 
investment of these net proceeds. Forte’s stockholders will not have the opportunity to influence its decisions on how to use the net proceeds from such 
financings.
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If Forte experiences material weaknesses in or otherwise fails to maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting, we may not be 
able to accurately or timely report our financial condition or results of operations, which may adversely affect investor confidence in us and, as a result, the 
value of our common stock.

Forte is subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the rules and regulations of Nasdaq. The Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act requires, among other things, that Forte maintain effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. Forte must 
perform system and process evaluation and testing of its internal control over financial reporting to allow management to report on the effectiveness of its 
internal control over financial reporting in its Annual Report on Form 10-K filing for that year, as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act. This 
requires that Forte incur substantial professional fees and internal costs to expand its accounting and finance functions and that it expends significant 
management efforts. Forte may experience difficulty in meeting these reporting requirements in a timely manner.

During the audit process related to Forte’s fiscal year ended December 31, 2022, management identified a material weakness in Forte’s controls related 
to the review of the annual income tax provision which had been prepared by a third-party accounting firm that has since been remediated. A material weakness 
is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material 
misstatement of annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. 

Forte may in the future discover additional material weaknesses in its system of internal financial and accounting controls and procedures that could 
result in a material misstatement of its financial statements. Forte’s internal control over financial reporting will not prevent or detect all errors and all fraud. A 
control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. 
Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to error or fraud will 
not occur or that all control issues and instances of error or fraud will be detected.

If Forte is not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or if it is unable to maintain proper and effective internal 
controls, Forte may not be able to produce timely and accurate financial statements. If that were to happen, the market price of its common stock could decline 
and it could be subject to sanctions or investigations by Nasdaq, the SEC or other regulatory authorities.
 
Forte is able to take advantage of reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies, which could result in its 
common stock being less attractive to investors.

Forte currently qualifies as a smaller reporting company under the rules of the SEC. As a smaller reporting company, Forte is able to take advantage of 
reduced disclosure requirements, such as simplified executive compensation disclosures and reduced financial statement disclosure requirements in its SEC 
filings. Decreased disclosures in Forte’s SEC filings due to its status as a smaller reporting company may make it harder for investors to analyze its results of 
operations and financial prospects. Forte cannot predict if investors will find its common stock less attractive if it relies on these exemptions. If some investors 
find Forte's common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for the common stock and Forte's stock price may be more 
volatile. Forte may take advantage of the reporting exemptions applicable to a smaller reporting company until it is no longer a smaller reporting company, 
which status would end once it has a public float greater than $250 million. In that event, Forte could still be a smaller reporting company if its annual revenues 
were below $100 million and it has a public float of less than $700 million.
 
Forte’s principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exert significant control over matters subject 
to stockholder approval.

As of March 31, 2025 , Forte’s executive officers, directors, holders of 5% or more of its capital stock and their respective affiliates beneficially owned a 
significant percentage of its outstanding voting stock. These stockholders, acting together, may be able to impact matters requiring stockholder approval. For 
example, they may be able to impact elections of directors, amendments of Forte’s organizational documents or approval of any merger, sale of assets or other 
major corporate transaction. This may prevent or discourage unsolicited acquisition proposals or offers for Forte’s common stock that you may feel are in your 
best interest as one of Forte’s stockholders. The 
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interests of this group of stockholders may not always coincide with your interests or the interests of other stockholders and they may act in a manner that 
advances their best interests and not necessarily those of other stockholders, including seeking a premium value for their common stock, and might affect the 
prevailing market price for Forte’s common stock.
 
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds. 

 
None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

None.

Item 5. Other Information.

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Executive Officers
 

During our last fiscal quarter, no officers or directors, as defined in Rule 16a-1(f), adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or a “non-
Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as defined in Regulation S-K Item 408. 
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Item 6. Exhibits. 

 
 

Exhibit
Number   Description

10.1*+   Amended and Restated 2021 Equity Incentive Plan and forms of agreements thereunder.
     
10.2*+   Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy.
     
10.3*   Letter Agreement, dated November 21, 2024, by and among the Company, OrbiMed Private Investments IX, LP, OrbiMed Genesis Master Fund, 

L.P., and The Biotech Growth Trust PLC.
     
10.4*   Letter Agreement, dated November 21, 2024, by and between the Company and Tybourne Strategic Opportunities Fund II, LP
     
31.1*   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
     
31.2*   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Adopted 

Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. 
     
32.1*±   Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 

of 2002.
     
32.2*±   Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 

2002.
     
101.INS   Inline XBRL Instance Document – the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because XBRL tags are embedded within 

the Inline XBRL document
101.SCH   Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema With Embedded Linkbase Documents
104   Cover page Interactive Data File (embedded with the Inline XBRL document)
 

* Filed herewith.
+ Indicates management contract or compensatory plan.
± The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are deemed furnished and not filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of Forte Biosciences, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any 
general incorporation language contained in such filing.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
  Forte Biosciences, Inc. 
       
Date: May 15, 2025 By:   /s/ Paul Wagner 
      Paul Wagner, Ph.D. 
      Chief Executive Officer 
      (Principal Executive Officer)
       
Date: May 15, 2025 By:   /s/ Antony Riley
      Antony Riley 
      Chief Financial Officer 
      (Principal Financial Officer)

 



 
 

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN

1. Purposes of the Plan. The purposes of this Plan are:

• to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,

• to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and

• to promote the success of the Company’s business.

The Plan permits the grant of Incentive Stock Options, Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, 
Restricted Stock Units and Performance Awards.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions will apply:

2.1 “Administrator” means the Board or any of its Committees as will be administering the Plan, in accordance with Section 4 of the 
Plan.

2.2 “Applicable Laws” means the legal and regulatory requirements relating to the administration of equity- based awards, including 
but not limited to the related issuance of shares of Common Stock, including but not limited to, under U.S. federal and state corporate laws, U.S. federal and 
state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or quoted and the applicable laws of any non-
U.S. country or jurisdiction where Awards are, or will be, granted under the Plan.

2.3 “Award” means, individually or collectively, a grant under the Plan of Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, 
Restricted Stock Units, or Performance Awards.

2.4 “Award Agreement” means the written or electronic agreement setting forth the terms and provisions applicable to each Award 
granted under the Plan. The Award Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

2.5 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.6 “Change in Control” means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(a) Change in Ownership of the Company. A change in the ownership of the Company which occurs on the date that any one 
person, or more than one person acting as a group (“Person”), acquires ownership of the stock of the Company that, together with the stock held by such 
Person, constitutes more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the stock of the Company; provided, however, that for purposes of this 
subsection (a), the acquisition of additional stock by any one Person, who is considered to own more than fifty percent (50%) of

 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 

the total voting power of the stock of the Company will not be considered a Change in Control; provided, further, that any change in the ownership of the 
stock of the Company as a result of a private financing of the Company that is approved by the Board also will not be considered a Change in Control. 
Further, if the stockholders of the Company immediately before such change in ownership continue to retain immediately after the change in ownership, in 
substantially the same proportions as their ownership of shares of the Company’s voting stock immediately prior to the change in ownership, direct or 
indirect beneficial ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the total voting power of the stock of the Company or of the ultimate parent entity of the 
Company, such event will not be considered a Change in Control under this subsection (a). For this purpose, indirect beneficial ownership will include, 
without limitation, an interest resulting from ownership of the voting securities of one or more corporations or other business entities which own the 
Company, as the case may be, either directly or through one or more subsidiary corporations or other business entities; or

(a) Change in Effective Control of the Company. If the Company has a class of securities registered pursuant to Section 12 of 
the Exchange Act, a change in the effective control of the Company which occurs on the date that a majority of members of the Board is replaced during 
any twelve (12) month period by Directors whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board prior to the date of the 
appointment or election. For purposes of this subsection (b), if any Person is considered to be in effective control of the Company, the acquisition of 
additional control of the Company by the same Person will not be considered a Change in Control; or

(b) Change in Ownership of a Substantial Portion of the Company’s Assets. A change in the ownership of a substantial 
portion of the Company’s assets which occurs on the date that any Person acquires (or has acquired during the twelve (12) month period ending on the date 
of the most recent acquisition by such Person or Persons) assets from the Company that have a total gross fair market value equal to or more than fifty 
percent (50%) of the total gross fair market value of all of the assets of the Company immediately prior to such acquisition or acquisitions; provided, 
however, that for purposes of this subsection (c), the following will not constitute a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of the Company’s 
assets: (i) a transfer to an entity that is controlled by the Company’s stockholders immediately after the transfer, or (ii) a transfer of assets by the Company 
to: (A) a stockholder of the Company (immediately before the asset transfer) in exchange for or with respect to the Company’s stock, (B) an entity, fifty 
percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by the Company, (C) a Person, that owns, directly or 
indirectly, fifty percent (50%) or more of the total value or voting power of all the outstanding stock of the Company, or (D) an entity, at least fifty percent 
(50%) of the total value or voting power of which is owned, directly or indirectly, by a Person described in this subsection (c)(ii)(C). For purposes of this 
subsection (c), gross fair market value means the value of the assets of the Company, or the value of the assets being disposed of, determined without regard 
to any liabilities associated with such assets.

For purposes of this Section 2.6, persons will be considered to be acting as a group if they are owners of a corporation that 
enters into a merger, consolidation, purchase or acquisition of stock, or similar business transaction with the Company.



 

 
 

 
 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, a transaction will not be deemed a Change in Control unless the transaction qualifies as a 
change in control event within the meaning of Code Section 409A.

Further and for the avoidance of doubt, a transaction will not constitute a Change in Control if: (x) its sole purpose is to 
change the jurisdiction of the Company’s incorporation, or (y) its sole purpose is to create a holding company that will be owned in substantially the same 
proportions by the persons who held the Company’s securities immediately before such transaction.

1.1 “Code” means the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Reference to a specific section of the Code or regulation 
thereunder will include such section or regulation, any valid regulation or other formal guidance of general or direct applicability promulgated under such 
section, and any comparable provision of any future legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such section or regulation.

1.2 “Committee” means a committee of Directors or of other individuals satisfying Applicable Laws appointed by the Board, or by a 
duly authorized committee of the Board, in accordance with Section 4 hereof.

1.3 “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.

1.4 “Company” means Forte Biosciences, Inc., a Delaware corporation, or any successor thereto.

1.5 “Consultant” means any natural person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company or any of its Parent or Subsidiaries to 
render bona fide services to such entity, provided the services (a) are not in connection with the offer or sale of securities in a capital-raising transaction, 
and (b) do not directly promote or maintain a market for the Company’s securities, in each case, within the meaning of Form S-8 promulgated under the 
Securities Act, and provided further, that a Consultant will include only those persons to whom the issuance of Shares may be registered under Form S-8 
promulgated under the Securities Act.

1.6 “Director” means a member of the Board.

1.7 “Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Code Section 22(e)(3), provided that in the case of Awards other 
than Incentive Stock Options, the Administrator in its discretion may determine whether a permanent and total disability exists in accordance with uniform 
and non-discriminatory standards adopted by the Administrator from time to time.

1.8 “Employee” means any person, including Officers and Directors, employed by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the 
Company. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company will be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the Company.

1.9 “Exchange Act” means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including the rules and regulations promulgated 
thereunder.



 

 
 

 
 

1.10 “Exchange Program” means a program under which (a) outstanding Awards are surrendered or cancelled in exchange for awards 
of the same type (which may have higher or lower exercise prices and different terms), awards of a different type, and/or cash, (b) Participants would have 
the opportunity to transfer any outstanding Awards to a financial institution or other person or entity selected by the Administrator, and/or (c) the exercise 
price of an outstanding Award is reduced or increased. The Administrator will determine the terms and conditions of any Exchange Program in its sole 
discretion.

1.11 “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date and unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the value of Common Stock 
determined as follows:

1.11.1If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without 
limitation the New York Stock Exchange or the Nasdaq Global Select Market, the Nasdaq Global Market, or the Nasdaq Capital Market of The Nasdaq 
Stock Market, its Fair Market Value will be the closing sales price for such stock (or, if no closing sales price was reported on that date, as applicable, on 
the last Trading Day such closing sales price was reported) as quoted on such exchange or system on the date of determination, as reported in The Wall 
Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable;

1.11.2If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair 
Market Value of a Share will be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the day of determination (or, if no bids and 
asks were reported on that date, as applicable, on the last Trading Day such bids and asks were reported), as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such 
other source as the Administrator deems reliable; or

1.11.3In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value will be determined in good faith 
by the Administrator.

1.12 “Fiscal Year” means the fiscal year of the Company.

1.13 “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms qualifies and is otherwise intended to qualify as an incentive stock 
option within the meaning of Code Section 422 and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

1.14 “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option that by its terms does not qualify or is not intended to qualify as an Incentive 
Stock Option.

1.15 “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the rules 
and regulations promulgated thereunder.

1.16 “Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.

1.17 “Outside Director” means a Director who is not an Employee.

1.18 “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Code Section



 

 
 

424(e).



 

 
 

 
 

1.19 “Participant” means the holder of an outstanding Award.

1.20 “Performance Awards” means an Award which may be earned in whole or in part upon attainment of performance goals or other 
vesting criteria as the Administrator may determine and which may be cash- or stock-denominated and may be settled for cash, Shares or other securities or 
a combination of the foregoing under Section 10.

1.21 “Performance Period” means Performance Period as defined in Section 10.1.

1.22 “Period of Restriction” means the period (if any) during which the transfer of Shares of Restricted Stock are subject to 
restrictions and therefore, the Shares are subject to a substantial risk of forfeiture. Such restrictions may be based on the passage of time, the achievement of 
target levels of performance, or the occurrence of other events as determined by the Administrator.

1.23 “Plan” means this 2021 Equity Incentive Plan.

1.24 “Restricted Stock” means Shares issued pursuant to an Award of Restricted Stock under Section 8 of the Plan, or issued pursuant 
to the early exercise of an Option.

1.25 “Restricted Stock Unit” means a bookkeeping entry representing an amount equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share, granted 
pursuant to Section 9. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents an unfunded and unsecured obligation of the Company.

1.26 “Rule 16b‑3” means Rule 16b‑3 of the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b‑3, as in effect when discretion is being 
exercised with respect to the Plan.

1.27 “Section 16b” means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

1.28 “Section 409A” means Code Section 409A and the U.S. Treasury Regulations and guidance thereunder, and any applicable state 
law equivalent, as each may be promulgated, amended or modified from time to time.

1.29 “Securities Act” means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended, including the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

1.30 “Service Provider” means an Employee, Director or Consultant.

1.31 “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 14 of the Plan.

1.32 “Stock Appreciation Right” means an Award, granted alone or in connection with an Option, that pursuant to Section 7 is 
designated as a Stock Appreciation Right.

1.33 “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Code
Section 424(f).



 

 
 

 
 

1.34 “Trading Day” means a day that the primary stock exchange, national market system, or other trading platform, as applicable, 
upon which the Common Stock is listed (or otherwise trades regularly, as determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion) is open for trading.

1.35 “U.S. Treasury Regulations” means the Treasury Regulations of the Code. Reference to a specific Treasury Regulation or 
Section of the Code will include such Treasury Regulation or Section, any valid regulation promulgated under such Section, and any comparable provision 
of any future legislation or regulation amending, supplementing or superseding such Section or regulation.

2. Stock Subject to the Plan.

2.1 Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to adjustment upon changes in capitalization of the Company as provided in Section 14, the 
maximum aggregate number of Shares that may be subject to Awards and sold under the Plan will be equal to (a) 5,000,000 Shares, plus (b) any Shares 
subject to awards granted under the Tocagen, Inc. 2009 Equity Incentive Plan, the Tocagen, Inc. 2017 Equity Incentive Plan, and the Forte Biosciences Inc. 
2018 Equity Incentive Plan that, after the date of stockholder approval of the Plan, expire or otherwise terminate without having been exercised or issued in 
full or are forfeited to or repurchased by the Company due to failure to vest, with the maximum number of Shares to be added to the Plan pursuant to clause 
(b) equal to 1,102,341. In addition, Shares may become available for issuance under Section 3.2. The Shares may be authorized but unissued, or reacquired 
Common Stock.

2.2 Lapsed Awards. If an Award expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, or, with respect to 
Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Units or Performance Shares is forfeited to or repurchased by the Company due to the failure to vest, 
the unpurchased Shares (or for Awards other than Options or Stock Appreciation Rights the forfeited or repurchased Shares) which were subject thereto 
will become available for future grant or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated). Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right settled in 
Shares, the gross number of Shares covered by the portion of the Award so exercised, whether or not actually issued pursuant to such exercise, will cease to 
be available under the Plan. Shares that have actually been issued under the Plan under any Award will not be returned to the Plan and will not become 
available for future distribution under the Plan; provided, however, that if Shares issued pursuant to Awards of Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units or 
Performance Awards are repurchased by the Company or are forfeited to the Company due to the failure to vest, such Shares will become available for 
future grant under the Plan. Shares used to pay the exercise price of an Award or to satisfy the tax liabilities or withholdings related to an Award will not 
become available for future grant or sale under the Plan. To the extent an Award under the Plan is paid out in cash rather than Shares, such cash payment 
will not result in reducing the number of Shares available for issuance under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing and, subject to adjustment as provided 
in Section 14, the maximum number of Shares that may be issued upon the exercise of Incentive Stock Options will equal the aggregate Share number 
stated in Section 3.1, plus, to the extent allowable under Code Section 422 and the
U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, any Shares that become available for issuance under the Plan pursuant to Section 3.2.



 

 
 

 
 

2.3 Share Reserve. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of Shares as 
will be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

3. Administration of the Plan.

3.1 Procedure.

3.1.1Multiple Administrative Bodies. Different Committees with respect to different groups of Service Providers may 
administer the Plan.

3.1.2Rule 16b-3. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the transactions 
contemplated hereunder will be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3.

3.1.3Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan will be administered by (A) the Board or (B) a Committee, 
which Committee will be constituted to comply with Applicable Laws.

3.2 Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific duties 
delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator will have the authority, in its discretion:

3.2.1 to determine the Fair Market Value;

3.2.2 to select the Service Providers to whom Awards may be granted hereunder;

3.2.3 to determine the number of Shares to be covered by each Award granted hereunder;

3.2.4 to approve forms of Award Agreements for use under the Plan;

3.2.5to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any Award granted hereunder. Such 
terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the exercise price, the time or times when Awards may be exercised (which may be based on 
performance criteria), any vesting acceleration or waiver of forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Award or the Shares 
relating thereto (including but not limited to, temporarily suspending the exercisability of an Award if the Administrator deems such suspension to be 
necessary or appropriate for administrative purposes or to comply with Applicable Laws, provided that such suspension must be lifted prior to the 
expiration of the maximum term and post-termination exercisability period of an Award), based in each case on such factors as the Administrator will 
determine;

3.2.6 to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and Awards granted pursuant to the Plan;



 

 
 

 
 

3.2.7to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations relating to sub-
plans established for the purpose of satisfying applicable non‑U.S. laws or for qualifying for favorable tax treatment under applicable non‑U.S. laws;

3.2.8to modify or amend each Award (subject to Section 20.3), including but not limited to the discretionary authority to 
extend the post-termination exercisability period of Awards and to extend the maximum term of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right (subject to Sections 
6.4 and 7.5);

3.2.9to allow Participants to satisfy withholding tax obligations in a manner prescribed in Section 15; 4.2.10to authorize any 
person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the

grant of an Award previously granted by the Administrator;

4.2.11to allow a Participant to defer the receipt of the payment of cash or the delivery of Shares that otherwise would be due to 
such Participant under an Award; and

4.2.12 to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan.

3.3 Effect of Administrator’s Decision. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations and interpretations will be final and binding 
on all Participants and any other holders of Awards and will be given the maximum deference permitted by Applicable Laws.

3.4 Exchange Program. The Administrator may not institute an Exchange Program.

4. Eligibility. Nonstatutory Stock Options, Stock Appreciation Rights, Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, Performance Shares and 
Performance Units may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options may be granted only to Employees.

5. Stock Options.

5.1 Grant of Options. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time, may 
grant Options to Service Providers in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

5.2 Option Agreement. Each Award of an Option will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the exercise price, the 
term of the Option, the number of Shares subject to the Option, the exercise restrictions, if any, applicable to the Option, and such other terms and 
conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

5.3 Limitations. Each Option will be designated in the Award Agreement as either an Incentive Stock 



 

 
 

Option or a Nonstatutory Stock Option. Notwithstanding such designation, however, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with 
respect to which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the Participant during any



 

 
 

 
 

calendar year (under all plans of the Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds one hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), such Options will be treated 
as Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes of this Section 6.3, Incentive Stock Options will be taken into account in the order in which they were granted, 
the Fair Market Value of the Shares will be determined as of the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted, and calculation will be performed 
in accordance with Code Section 422 and the
U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder.

5.4 Term of Option. The term of each Option will be stated in the Award Agreement; provided, however, that the term will be no 
more than ten (10) years from the date of grant thereof. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to a Participant who, at the time the Incentive 
Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or 
any Parent or Subsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Option will be five (5) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the 
Award Agreement.

5.5 Option Exercise Price and Consideration.

5.5.1Exercise Price. The per Share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option will be 
determined by the Administrator, but will be no less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. In addition, 
in the case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to an Employee who owns stock representing more than ten percent (10%) of the voting power of all 
classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Share exercise price will be no less than one hundred ten percent (110%) of the Fair 
Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 6.5.1, Options may be granted with a per Share 
exercise price of less than one hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a transaction described in, and in 
a manner consistent with, Code Section 424(a).

5.5.2Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the Administrator will fix the period within which 
the Option may be exercised and will determine any conditions that must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.

5.5.3Form of Consideration. The Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration for exercising an Option, 
including the method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the Administrator will determine the acceptable form of consideration at the 
time of grant. Such consideration may consist entirely of: (a) cash (including cash equivalents); (b) check; (c) promissory note, to the extent permitted by 
Applicable Laws, (d) other Shares, provided that such Shares have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate exercise price of the 
Shares as to which such Option will be exercised and provided further that accepting such Shares will not result in any adverse accounting consequences to 
the Company, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion; (e) consideration received by the Company under a cashless exercise program (whether 
through a broker or otherwise) implemented by the Company in connection with the Plan; (f) by net exercise; (g) such other consideration and method of 
payment for the issuance of Shares to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, or (h) any combination of the foregoing 



 

 
 

methods of payment. In making its determination as to the type of consideration to accept, the Administrator will consider if acceptance of such 
consideration may be reasonably expected to benefit the Company.



 

 
 

 
 

5.6 Exercise of Option.

5.6.1Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Stockholder. Any Option granted hereunder will be exercisable according to the terms 
of the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. An Option may not be 
exercised for a fraction of a Share.

An Option will be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (a) notice of exercise (in such form as the Administrator 
may specify from time to time) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (b) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the Option is 
exercised (together with applicable tax withholding). Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the 
Administrator and permitted by the Award Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option will be issued in the name of the Participant 
or, if requested by the Participant, in the name of the Participant and his or her spouse. Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on 
the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder 
will exist with respect to the Shares subject to an Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Company will issue (or cause to be issued) such 
Shares promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the 
Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.

Exercising an Option in any manner will decrease the number of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and 
for sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

5.6.2Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, other than upon the 
Participant’s termination as the result of the Participant’s death or Disability, the Participant may exercise his or her Option, to the extent that the Option is 
vested on the date of termination, within three (3) months of termination, or such shorter or longer period of time, as is specified in the Award Agreement 
or in writing by the Administrator, in each case, in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement. Unless 
otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the 
unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified by the 
Administrator, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

5.6.3Disability of Participant. If a Participant ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of the Participant’s Disability, the 
Participant may exercise his or her Option within twelve (12) months of termination, or such longer or shorter period of time as is specified in the Award 
Agreement or in writing by the Administrator (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement) to 
the extent the Option is vested on the date of termination. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if on the date of termination the Participant is 
not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will revert to the Plan. If after termination the Participant



 

 
 

 
 

does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

5.6.4Death of Participant. If a Participant dies while a Service Provider, the Option may be exercised within twelve (12) 
months following the Participant’s death, or within such longer or shorter period of time as is specified in the Award Agreement or in writing by the 
Administrator (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Award Agreement) to the extent that the Option is 
vested on the date of death, by the Participant’s designated beneficiary, provided such beneficiary has been designated prior to the Participant’s death in a 
form (if any) acceptable to the Administrator. If no such beneficiary has been designated by the Participant, then such Option may be exercised by the 
personal representative of the Participant’s estate or by the person(s) to whom the Option is transferred pursuant to the Participant’s will or in accordance 
with the laws of descent and distribution (each, a “Legal Representative”). If the Option is exercised pursuant to this Section 6.6.4, Participant’s designated 
beneficiary or Legal Representative shall be subject to the terms of this Plan and the Award Agreement, including but not limited to the restrictions on 
transferability and forfeitability applicable to the Service Provider. Unless otherwise provided by the Administrator, if at the time of death Participant is not 
vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option will immediately revert to the Plan. If the Option is not so 
exercised within the time specified herein, the Option will terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option will revert to the Plan.

5.6.5 Tolling Expiration. A Participant’s Award Agreement may also provide that:

(a)if the exercise of the Option following the cessation of Participant’s status as a Service Provider (other than upon 
the Participant’s death or Disability) would result in liability under Section 16(b), then the Option will terminate on the earlier of (i) the expiration of the 
term of the Option set forth in the Award Agreement, or (ii) the tenth (10th) day after the last date on which such exercise would result in liability under 
Section 16(b); or

(b)if the exercise of the Option following the cessation of the Participant’s status as a Service Provider (other than 
upon the Participant’s death or Disability) would be prohibited at any time solely because the issuance of Shares would violate the registration requirements 
under the Securities Act, then the Option will terminate on the earlier of (i) the expiration of the term of the Option or (ii) the expiration of a period of thirty 
(30) days after the cessation of the Participant’s status as a Service Provider during which the exercise of the Option would not be in violation of such 
registration requirements.

6. Stock Appreciation Rights.

6.1 Grant of Stock Appreciation Rights. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan, a Stock Appreciation Right may be granted 
to Service Providers at any time and from time to time as will be determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.

6.2 Number of Shares. The Administrator will have complete discretion to determine the number of 



 

 
 

Shares subject to any Award of Stock Appreciation Rights.



 

 
 

 
 

6.3 Exercise Price and Other Terms. The per Share exercise price for the Shares that will determine the amount of the payment to be 
received upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right as set forth in Section 7.6 will be determined by the Administrator and will be no less than one 
hundred percent (100%) of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant. Otherwise, the Administrator, subject to the provisions of the Plan, will 
have complete discretion to determine the terms and conditions of Stock Appreciation Rights granted under the Plan.

6.4 Stock Appreciation Right Agreement. Each Stock Appreciation Right grant will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will 
specify the exercise price, the term of the Stock Appreciation Right, the conditions of exercise, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in 
its sole discretion, will determine.

6.5 Expiration of Stock Appreciation Rights. A Stock Appreciation Right granted under the Plan will expire upon the date 
determined by the Administrator, in its sole discretion, and set forth in the Award Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the rules of Section 6.4 
relating to the maximum term and Section 6.5 relating to exercise also will apply to Stock Appreciation Rights.

6.6 Payment of Stock Appreciation Right Amount. Upon exercise of a Stock Appreciation Right, a Participant will be entitled to 
receive payment from the Company in an amount determined by multiplying:

6.6.1 The difference between the Fair Market Value of a Share on the date of exercise over the exercise
price; times

6.6.2 The number of Shares with respect to which the Stock Appreciation Right is exercised.

At the discretion of the Administrator, the payment upon Stock Appreciation Right exercise may be in cash, in Shares of 
equivalent value, or in some combination thereof.

7. Restricted Stock.

7.1 Grant of Restricted Stock. Subject to the terms and provisions of the Plan, the Administrator, at any time and from time to time, 
may grant Shares of Restricted Stock to Service Providers in such amounts as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine.

7.2 Restricted Stock Agreement. Each Award of Restricted Stock will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify the 
Period of Restriction (if any), the number of Shares granted, and such other terms and conditions as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will determine. 
Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the Company as escrow agent will hold Shares of Restricted Stock until the restrictions on such Shares have 
lapsed.

7.3 Transferability. Except as provided in this Section 8 or as the Administrator determines, Shares of Restricted Stock may not be 
sold, transferred, pledged, assigned, or otherwise alienated or hypothecated until the end of the applicable Period of Restriction.



 

 
 

 
 

7.4 Other Restrictions. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may impose such other restrictions on Shares of Restricted Stock as 
it may deem advisable or appropriate.

7.5 Removal of Restrictions. Except as otherwise provided in this Section 8, Shares of Restricted Stock covered by each Restricted 
Stock grant made under the Plan will be released from escrow as soon as practicable after the last day of the Period of Restriction or at such other time as 
the Administrator may determine. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the time at which any restrictions will lapse or be removed.

7.6 Voting Rights. During the Period of Restriction, Service Providers holding Shares of Restricted Stock granted hereunder may 
exercise full voting rights with respect to those Shares, unless the Administrator determines otherwise.

7.7 Return of Restricted Stock to Company. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock for which 
restrictions have not lapsed will revert to the Company and again will become available for grant under the Plan.

8. Restricted Stock Units.

8.1 Grant. Restricted Stock Units may be granted at any time and from time to time as determined by the Administrator. After the 
Administrator determines that it will grant Restricted Stock Units, it will advise the Participant in an Award Agreement of the terms, conditions, and 
restrictions related to the grant, including the number of Restricted Stock Units.

8.2 Vesting Criteria and Other Terms. The Administrator will set vesting criteria in its discretion, which, depending on the extent to 
which the criteria are met, will determine the number of Restricted Stock Units that will be paid out to the Participant. The Administrator may set vesting 
criteria based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not limited to, continued employment or 
service), applicable federal or state securities laws or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

8.3 Earning Restricted Stock Units. Upon meeting the applicable vesting criteria, the Participant will be entitled to receive a payout 
as determined by the Administrator. Notwithstanding the foregoing, at any time after the grant of Restricted Stock Units, the Administrator, in its sole 
discretion, may reduce or waive any vesting criteria that must be met to receive a payout.

8.4 Form and Timing of Payment. Payment of earned Restricted Stock Units will be made at the time(s) determined by the 
Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may settle earned Restricted Stock Units in cash, Shares, or a 
combination of both.

8.5 Cancellation. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned Restricted Stock Units 



 

 
 

will be forfeited to the Company.
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9. Performance Awards.

9.1 Award Agreement. Each Performance Award will be evidenced by an Award Agreement that will specify any time period during 
which any performance objectives or other vesting provisions will be measured (“Performance Period”), and such other terms and conditions as the 
Administrator determines. Each Performance Award will have an initial value that is determined by the Administrator on or before its date of grant.

9.2 Objectives or Vesting Provisions and Other Terms. The Administrator will set any objectives or vesting provisions that, 
depending on the extent to which any such objectives or vesting provisions are met, will determine the value of the payout for the Performance Awards. 
The Administrator may set vesting criteria based upon the achievement of Company-wide, divisional, business unit, or individual goals (including, but not 
limited to, continued employment or service), applicable federal or state securities laws, or any other basis determined by the Administrator in its discretion.

9.3 Earning Performance Awards. After an applicable Performance Period has ended, the holder of a Performance Award will be 
entitled to receive a payout for the Performance Award earned by the Participant over the Performance Period. The Administrator, in its discretion, may 
reduce or waive any performance objectives or other vesting provisions for such Performance Award.

9.4 Form and Timing of Payment. Payment of earned Performance Awards will be made at the time(s) determined by the 
Administrator and set forth in the Award Agreement. The Administrator, in its sole discretion, may settle earned Performance Awards in cash, Shares, or a 
combination of both.

9.5 Cancellation of Performance Awards. On the date set forth in the Award Agreement, all unearned or unvested Performance 
Awards will be forfeited to the Company, and again will be available for grant under the Plan.

10.Compliance With Section 409A. Awards will be designed and operated in such a manner that they are either exempt from the application of, or 
comply with, the requirements of Section 409A such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest 
applicable under Section 409A, except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. The Plan and each Award Agreement under the 
Plan is intended to be exempt from or meet the requirements of Section 409A and will be construed and interpreted in accordance with such intent 
(including with respect to any ambiguities or ambiguous terms), except as otherwise determined in the sole discretion of the Administrator. To the extent 
that an Award or payment, or the settlement or deferral thereof, is subject to Section 409A the Award will be granted, paid, settled or deferred in a manner 
that will meet the requirements of Section 409A, such that the grant, payment, settlement or deferral will not be subject to the additional tax or interest 
applicable under Section 409A. In no event will the Company or any of its Parent or Subsidiaries have any responsibility, liability, or obligation to 
reimburse, indemnify, or hold harmless a Participant (or any other person) in respect of Awards, for any taxes, penalties or interest that may be imposed on, 
or other costs incurred by, Participant (or any other person) as a result of Section 409A.
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11.Leaves of Absence/Transfer Between Locations. Unless the Administrator provides otherwise or as otherwise required by Applicable Laws, 
vesting of Awards granted hereunder will be suspended during any unpaid leave of absence. A Participant will not cease to be an Employee in the case of 
(a) any leave of absence approved by the Company or (b) transfers between locations of the Company or between the Company, its Parent, or any of its 
Subsidiaries. For purposes of Incentive Stock Options, no such leave may exceed three (3) months, unless reemployment upon expiration of such leave is 
guaranteed by statute or contract. If reemployment upon expiration of a leave of absence approved by the Company is not so guaranteed, then six (6) 
months following the first (1st) day of such leave, any Incentive Stock Option held by the Participant will cease to be treated as an Incentive Stock Option 
and will be treated for tax purposes as a Nonstatutory Stock Option.

12.Limited Transferability of Awards. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, Awards may not be sold, pledged, assigned, 
hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will or by the laws of descent and distribution (which, for purposes of clarification, 
shall be deemed to include through a beneficiary designation if available in accordance with Section 6.6), and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the 
Participant, only by the Participant. If the Administrator makes an Award transferable, such Award will contain such additional terms and conditions as the 
Administrator deems appropriate.

13. Adjustments; Dissolution or Liquidation; Merger or Change in Control.

13.1 Adjustments. In the event that any extraordinary dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other 
securities, or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, 
reclassification, repurchase, or exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting 
the Shares occurs (other than any ordinary dividends or other ordinary distributions), the Administrator, in order to prevent diminution or enlargement of 
the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, will adjust the number and class of shares of stock that may be delivered 
under the Plan and/or the number, class, and price of shares of stock covered by each outstanding Award, and numerical Share limits in Section 3.

13.2 Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Administrator will notify 
each Participant as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of such proposed transaction. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an Award 
will terminate immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed action.

13.3 Merger or Change in Control. In the event of a merger of the Company with or into another corporation or other entity or a 
Change in Control, each outstanding Award will be treated as the Administrator determines (subject to the provisions of the following paragraph) without a 
Participant’s consent, including, without limitation, that (a) Awards will be assumed, or substantially equivalent awards will be substituted, by the acquiring 
or succeeding corporation (or an affiliate thereof) with appropriate adjustments as to the number and kind of shares and prices; (b) upon written notice 
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to a Participant, that the Participant’s Awards will terminate upon or immediately prior to the consummation of such merger or Change in Control;
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(a) outstanding Awards will vest and become exercisable, realizable, or payable, or restrictions applicable to an Award will lapse, in whole or in part prior 
to or upon consummation of such merger or Change in Control, and, to the extent the Administrator determines, terminate upon or immediately prior to the 
effectiveness of such merger or Change in Control; (d) (i) the termination of an Award in exchange for an amount of cash and/or property, if any, equal to 
the amount that would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Participant’s rights as of the date of the occurrence of the 
transaction (and, for the avoidance of doubt, if as of the date of the occurrence of the transaction the Administrator determines in good faith that no amount 
would have been attained upon the exercise of such Award or realization of the Participant’s rights, then such Award may be terminated by the Company 
without payment), or (ii) the replacement of such Award with other rights or property selected by the Administrator in its sole discretion; or (e) any 
combination of the foregoing. In taking any of the actions permitted under this Section 14.3, the Administrator will not be obligated to treat all Awards, all 
Awards held by a Participant, all Awards of the same type, or all portions of Awards, similarly.

In the event that the successor corporation does not assume or substitute for the Award (or portion thereof), the Participant will fully 
vest in and have the right to exercise his or her outstanding Options and Stock Appreciation Rights (or portions thereof) not assumed or substituted for, 
including Shares as to which such Awards would not otherwise be vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock, Restricted Stock Units, 
Performance Shares and Performance Units (or portions thereof) not assumed or substituted for will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-
based vesting (or portions thereof) not assumed or substituted for, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred 
percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms and conditions met, in each case, unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award 
Agreement or other written agreement between the Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable. In addition, unless 
specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement between the Participant and the Company or any of its 
Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable, if an Option or Stock Appreciation Right (or portion thereof) is not assumed or substituted in the event of a merger or 
Change in Control, the Administrator will notify the Participant in writing or electronically that the Option or Stock Appreciation Right (or its applicable 
portion) will be exercisable for a period of time determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, and the Option or Stock Appreciation Right (or its 
applicable portion) will terminate upon the expiration of such period.

For the purposes of this Section 14.3 and Section 14.4 below, an Award will be considered assumed if, following the merger or Change 
in Control, the Award confers the right to purchase or receive, for each Share subject to the Award immediately prior to the merger or Change in Control, 
the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other securities or property) received in the merger or Change in Control by holders of Common Stock for each 
Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of 
a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided, however, that if such consideration received in the merger or Change in Control is not solely common stock 
of the successor corporation or its Parent, the Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received 
upon the exercise of an Option or Stock Appreciation Right or upon the payout of a Restricted Stock Unit, Performance Unit or Performance Share, for 
each Share subject to such Award, to be solely common stock of the
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successor corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of Common Stock in the merger or Change 
in Control.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 14.3 to the contrary, an Award that vests, is earned or paid-out upon the satisfaction of one or 
more performance goals will not be considered assumed if the Company or its successor modifies any of such performance goals without the Participant’s 
consent, in all cases, unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement between the Participant and 
the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable; provided, however, a modification to such performance goals only to reflect the successor 
corporation’s post-Change in Control corporate structure will not be deemed to invalidate an otherwise valid Award assumption.

Notwithstanding anything in this Section 14.3 to the contrary, and unless otherwise provided in an Award Agreement, if an Award that 
vests, is earned or paid-out under an Award Agreement is subject to Section 409A and if the change in control definition contained in the Award Agreement 
(or other agreement related to the Award, as applicable) does not comply with the definition of “change in control” for purposes of a distribution under 
Section 409A, then any payment of an amount that is otherwise accelerated under this Section will be delayed until the earliest time that such payment 
would be permissible under Section 409A without triggering any penalties applicable under Section 409A.

13.4 Outside Director Awards. With respect to Awards granted to an Outside Director, the Outside Director will fully vest in and have 
the right to exercise Options and/or Stock Appreciation Rights as to all of the Shares underlying such Award, including those Shares which otherwise 
would not be vested or exercisable, all restrictions on Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units will lapse, and, with respect to Awards with performance-
based vesting, all performance goals or other vesting criteria will be deemed achieved at one hundred percent (100%) of target levels and all other terms 
and conditions met, unless specifically provided otherwise under the applicable Award Agreement or other written agreement between the Participant and 
the Company or any of its Parent or Subsidiaries, as applicable.

14. Award Limitations.

(a) Outside Director Award Limitations. No Outside Director may be paid, issued, or granted, in any Fiscal Year, equity awards 
(including any Awards issued under this Plan) with an aggregate value (the value of which will be based on their grant date fair value determined in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles) and any other compensation (including without limitation any cash retainers or fees) that, 
in the aggregate, exceed $750,000, increased to
$1,000,000 for such Outside Director for the Fiscal Year in which he or she joins the Board as an Outside Director. Any Awards or other compensation 
paid or provided to an individual for his or her services as an Employee, or for his or her services as a Consultant (other than as an Outside Director), will 
not count for purposes of the limitation under this Section 15(a).

(b) Dividends and Other Distributions. Service Providers holding Awards granted under the Plan will 
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Periods of Restriction with respect to such Award has lapsed, and Shares have been issued (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the 
Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company) pursuant to such Award.

15. Tax Withholding.

15.1 Withholding Requirements. Prior to the delivery of any Shares or cash pursuant to an Award (or exercise thereof) or such earlier 
time as any tax withholdings are due, the Company (or any of its Parent, Subsidiaries, or affiliates employing or retaining the services of a Participant, as 
applicable) will have the power and the right to deduct or withhold, or require a Participant to remit to the Company (or any of its Parent, Subsidiaries, or 
affiliates, as applicable) or a relevant tax authority, an amount sufficient to satisfy U.S. federal, state, local, non‑U.S., and other taxes (including the 
Participant’s FICA obligation) required to be withheld or paid with respect to such Award (or exercise thereof).

15.2 Withholding Arrangements. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time 
to time, may permit a Participant to satisfy such tax liability or withholding obligation, in whole or in part by such methods as the Administrator shall 
determine, including, without limitation, (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable cash or Shares having a fair 
market value equal to the minimum statutory amount required to be withheld or such greater amount as the Administrator may determine if such amount 
would not have adverse accounting consequences, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion, (c) delivering to the Company already-owned 
Shares having a fair market value equal to the statutory amount required to be withheld or such greater amount as the Administrator may determine, in each 
case, provided the delivery of such Shares will not result in any adverse accounting consequences, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion, (d) 
selling a sufficient number of Shares otherwise deliverable to the Participant through such means as the Administrator may determine in its sole discretion 
(whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the amount required to be withheld or paid, (e) such other consideration and method of payment for the 
meeting of tax liabilities or withholding obligations as the Administrator may determine to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws, or (f) any combination 
of the foregoing methods of payment. The amount of the withholding requirement will be deemed to include any amount which the Administrator agrees 
may be withheld at the time the election is made, not to exceed the amount determined by using the maximum federal, state or local marginal income tax 
rates applicable to the Participant with respect to the Award on the date that the amount of tax to be withheld is to be determined or such greater amount as 
the Administrator may determine if such amount would not have adverse accounting consequences, as the Administrator determines in its sole discretion. 
The fair market value of the Shares to be withheld or delivered will be determined as of the date that the taxes are required to be withheld.

16.No Effect on Employment or Service. Neither the Plan nor any Award will confer upon a Participant any right with respect to continuing the 
Participant’s relationship as a Service Provider with the Company or its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable, nor will they interfere in any way with the 
Participant’s right or the right of the Company and its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable, to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without 
cause, to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.
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17.Date of Grant. The date of grant of an Award will be, for all purposes, the date on which the Administrator makes the determination granting 
such Award, or such other later date as is determined by the Administrator. Notice of the determination will be provided to each Participant within a 
reasonable time after the date of such grant.

18.Term of Plan. Subject to Section 23 of the Plan, the Plan will become effective as of its adoption by the Board. The Plan will continue in effect 
until terminated under Section 20, but no Options that qualify as incentive stock options within the meaning of Code Section 422 may be granted after ten 
(10) years from the earlier of the Board or stockholder approval of the Plan.

19. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.

19.1 Amendment and Termination. The Administrator may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the
Plan.

19.2 Stockholder Approval. The Company will obtain stockholder approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary and 
desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.

19.3 Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of the Plan will materially impair the 
rights of any Participant, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Participant and the Administrator, which agreement must be in writing and signed 
by the Participant and the Company. Termination of the Plan will not affect the Administrator’s ability to exercise the powers granted to it hereunder with 
respect to Awards granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.

20. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.

20.1 Legal Compliance. Shares will not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Award unless the exercise of such Award and the 
issuance and delivery of such Shares will comply with Applicable Laws and will be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect 
to such compliance.

20.2 Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Award, the Company may require the person exercising such 
Award to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the Shares are being purchased only for investment and without any present intention 
to sell or distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for the Company, such a representation is required.

21.Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction or to complete or 
comply with the requirements of any registration or other qualification of the Shares under any U.S. state or federal law or non‑U.S. law or under the rules 
and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the stock exchange on which Shares of the same class are then listed, or any other 
governmental or regulatory body, which authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary or 
advisable for the issuance and sale of any Shares hereunder, will relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure 



 

 
 

to issue or sell such Shares as to



 

 
 

 
 

which such requisite authority, registration, qualification or rule compliance will not have been obtained.

22.Stockholder Approval. The Plan will be subject to approval by the stockholders of the Company within twelve (12) months after the date the 
Plan is adopted by the Board. Such stockholder approval will be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under Applicable Laws.

23.Forfeiture Events. The Administrator may specify in an Award Agreement that the Participant’s rights, payments, and benefits with respect to 
an Award will be subject to the reduction, cancellation, forfeiture, recoupment, reimbursement, or reacquisition upon the occurrence of certain specified 
events, in addition to any otherwise applicable vesting or performance conditions of an Award. Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary under this 
Plan, an Award shall be subject to the Company’s clawback policy as may be established and/or amended from time to time to comply with Applicable 
Laws (including without limitation pursuant to the listing standards of any national securities exchange or association on which the Company’s securities 
are listed or as may be required by the Dodd‑Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act) (the “Clawback Policy”). The Administrator may 
require a Participant to forfeit, return or reimburse the Company all or a portion of the Award and any amounts paid thereunder pursuant to the terms of the 
Clawback Policy or as necessary or appropriate to comply with Applicable Laws. Unless this Section 24 specifically is mentioned and waived in an Award 
Agreement or other document, no recovery of compensation under a Clawback Policy or otherwise will constitute an event that triggers or contributes to 
any right of a Participant to resign for “good reason” or “constructive termination” (or similar term) under any agreement with the Company or any Parent 
or Subsidiary of the Company.

* * *



 

 

 
 

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION 

AGREEMENT
NOTICE OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Forte Biosciences, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) shall have the same 
defined meanings in this Stock Option Agreement, which includes the Notice of Stock Option Grant (the “Notice of Grant”), the Terms and Conditions of 
Stock Option Grant, attached hereto as Exhibit A, the Exercise Notice, attached hereto as Exhibit B, and all other exhibits, appendices, and addenda 
attached hereto (together, the “Option Agreement”).

Participant Name:

Address:

The undersigned Participant has been granted an Option to purchase Common Stock of the Company, subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Plan and this Option Agreement, as follows:

Grant Number:

Date of Grant:

Vesting Commencement Date:

Exercise Price per Share: $

Total Number of Shares Granted: Total 
Exercise Price: $
Type of Option: Incentive Stock Option

Nonstatutory Stock Option 
Term/Expiration Date:
Vesting Schedule:

Subject to any acceleration provisions contained in the Plan, this Option Agreement or any other written agreement between Participant and the 
Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, as applicable) governing the terms of this Option, this Option shall vest and be exercisable, in 
whole or in part, according to the following vesting schedule:

[Twenty-five percent (25%) of the Total Number of Shares Granted under the Option shall be scheduled to vest on the one (1) year anniversary of 
the Vesting Commencement Date, and one
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forty-eighth (1/48th) of the Total Number of Shares Granted under the Option shall be scheduled to vest each month thereafter on the same day of the month 
as the Vesting Commencement Date (and if there is no corresponding day in a particular month, on the last day of the month), subject to Participant 
continuing to be a Service Provider through each such date.]

Termination Period:

This Option shall be exercisable, to the extent vested, for [three (3)] months after Participant ceases to be a Service Provider, unless such 
termination is due to Participant’s death or Disability, in which case this Option shall be exercisable, to the extent vested, for [twelve (12)] months after 
Participant ceases to be a Service Provider. Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, in no event may this Option be exercised after the Term/Expiration 
Date as provided above and this Option may be subject to earlier termination as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.

By Participant’s signature and the signature of the representative of the Company below, Participant and the Company agree that this Option is 
granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement, including the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant, 
attached hereto as Exhibit A, the Exercise Notice, attached hereto as Exhibit B, and all other exhibits, appendices and addenda attached hereto, all of which 
are made a part of this document. Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan. Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Option Agreement in 
their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Option Agreement and fully understands all provisions of the 
Plan and the Option Agreement. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the Administrator 
upon any questions relating to the Plan or this Option Agreement. Participant further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in Participant’s 
residence address indicated below.

 
PARTICIPANT FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.

 

 
Signature Signature Print Name Print 
Name Title

Residence Address:
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EXHIBIT A

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION 

AGREEMENT
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF STOCK OPTION GRANT

23.1 Grant of Option.

23.1.1 The Company hereby grants to the individual (“Participant”) named in the Notice of Stock Option Grant of this Option 
Agreement (the “Notice of Grant”), an option (the “Option”) to purchase the number of Shares set forth in the Notice of Grant, at the exercise price per 
Share set forth in the Notice of Grant (the “Exercise Price”), subject to all of the terms and conditions in this Option Agreement and the Plan, which is 
incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 19 of the Plan, in the event of a conflict between the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option 
Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

23.1.2 For U.S. taxpayers, if designated in the Notice of Grant as an Incentive Stock Option (“ISO”), this Option is intended to qualify 
as an Incentive Stock Option as defined in Section 422 of the Code. Nevertheless, to the extent that it exceeds the $100,000 rule of Code Section 422(d), 
this Option shall be treated as a Nonstatutory Stock Option (“NSO”). Further, if for any reason this Option (or portion thereof) shall not qualify as an ISO, 
then, to the extent of such nonqualification, such Option (or portion thereof) shall be regarded as a NSO granted under the Plan. In no event shall the 
Administrator, the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary or any of their respective employees or directors have any liability to Participant (or any other 
person) due to the failure of the Option to qualify for any reason as an ISO.

23.1.3 For non-U.S. taxpayers, the Option will be designated as an NSO.

23.2Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in Section 3, the Option awarded by this Option Agreement will vest in accordance with the vesting 
provisions set forth in the Notice of Grant. Unless specifically provided otherwise in this Option Agreement or other written agreement between Participant 
and the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, as applicable, Shares subject to this Option that are scheduled to vest on a certain date or 
upon the occurrence of a certain condition will not vest in accordance with any of the provisions of this Option Agreement, unless Participant will have 
been continuously a Service Provider from the Date of Grant until the date such vesting occurs.

23.3Administrator Discretion. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the 
balance, of the unvested Option at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Option will be considered as having vested as of the 
date specified by the Administrator.

 
 
 
 

 



 

 

 
 

23.4 Exercise of Option.

23.4.1 Right to Exercise. This Option shall be exercisable during its term in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set out in the Notice 
of Grant and with the applicable provisions of the Plan and this Option Agreement.

23.4.2 Method of Exercise. This Option shall be exercisable by delivery of an exercise notice (the “Exercise Notice”) in the form 
attached as Exhibit B to the Notice of Grant or in a manner and pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may determine, which shall state the 
election to exercise the Option, the number of Shares with respect to which the Option is being exercised (the “Exercised Shares”), and such other 
representations and agreements as may be required by the Company. The Exercise Notice shall be completed by Participant and delivered to the Company, 
accompanied by payment of the aggregate Exercise Price as to all Exercised Shares, together with any applicable Tax Obligations (as defined below). This 
Option shall be deemed to be exercised upon receipt by the Company of such fully executed Exercise Notice accompanied by the aggregate Exercise Price, 
together with any applicable Tax Obligations.

No Shares shall be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option unless such issuance and such exercise comply with Applicable Laws. 
Assuming such compliance, for income tax purposes the Shares shall be considered transferred to Participant on the date on which the Option is exercised 
with respect to such Shares.

23.5Method of Payment. Payment of the aggregate Exercise Price shall be by any of the following, or a combination thereof, at the election of 
Participant:

23.5.1cash;

23.5.2check;

23.5.3 consideration received by the Company under a formal cashless exercise program adopted by the Company in connection with 
the Plan; or

23.5.4 if Participant is a U.S. employee, surrender of other Shares which (i) shall be valued at its fair market value on the date of 
surrender, and (ii) must be owned free and clear of any liens, claims, encumbrances or security interests, if accepting such Shares, in the sole discretion of 
the Administrator, shall not result in any adverse accounting consequences to the Company.

A non-U.S. resident’s methods of exercise may be restricted by the terms and conditions of any appendix to this Agreement for Participant’s 
country (including the Country Addendum, as defined below).

23.6Non-Transferability of Option. This Option may not be transferred in any manner otherwise than by will or by the laws of descent or 
distribution and may be exercised during the lifetime of Participant only by Participant.
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23.7Term of Option. This Option may be exercised only within the term set out in the Notice of Grant, and may be exercised during such term 
only in accordance with the Plan and the terms of this Option Agreement.

23.8 Tax Obligations.

23.8.1 Responsibility for Taxes. Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or, if different, 
Participant’s employer or any Parent or Subsidiary to which Participant is providing services (together, the “Service Recipients”), the ultimate liability for 
any tax and/or social insurance liability obligations and requirements in connection with the Option, including, without limitation, (i) all federal, state, and 
local taxes (including Participant’s Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) obligations) that are required to be withheld by any Service Recipient or 
other payment of tax-related items related to Participant’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to Participant, (ii) Participant’s and, to the extent 
required by any Service Recipient, the Service Recipient’s fringe benefit tax liability, if any, associated with the grant, vesting, or exercise of the Option or 
sale of Shares, and (iii) any other Service Recipient taxes the responsibility for which Participant has, or has agreed to bear, with respect to the Option (or 
exercise thereof or issuance of Shares thereunder) (collectively, the “Tax Obligations”), is and remains Participant’s sole responsibility and may exceed the 
amount actually withheld by the applicable Service Recipient(s). Participant further acknowledges that no Service Recipient (A) makes any representations 
or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Obligations in connection with any aspect of the Option, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting 
or exercise of the Option, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such exercise and the receipt of any dividends or other distributions, and (B) 
makes any commitment to and is under any obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Option to reduce or eliminate Participant’s 
liability for Tax Obligations or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction between 
the Date of Grant and the date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges that the applicable Service 
Recipient(s) (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant 
fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at the time of the applicable taxable event, Participant 
acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares.

23.8.2 Tax Withholding. Pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may specify from time to time, the applicable Service 
Recipient(s) will withhold the amount required to be withheld for the payment of Tax Obligations. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to 
such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit Participant to satisfy such Tax Obligations, in whole or in part (without limitation), if 
permissible by applicable local law, by (i) paying cash, (ii) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a fair market value 
equal to the minimum amount that is necessary to meet the withholding requirement for such Tax Obligations (or such greater amount as Participant may 
elect if permitted by the Administrator, if such greater amount would not result in adverse financial accounting consequences), (iii) having the amount of 
such Tax Obligations withheld from Participant’s wages or other cash compensation paid to Participant by the applicable Service Recipient(s), (iv) 
delivering to the Company Shares that Participant owns and that have vested with a fair market value equal to such Tax Obligations, or (v) selling a 
sufficient 
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deliverable to Participant through such means as the Company may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the 
minimum amount that is necessary to meet the withholding requirement for such Tax Obligations (or such greater amount as Participant may elect if 
permitted by the Administrator, if such greater amount would not result in adverse financial accounting consequences). To the extent determined 
appropriate by the Administrator in its discretion, the Administrator will have the right (but not the obligation) to satisfy any Tax Obligations by reducing 
the number of Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant.

23.8.3 Notice of Disqualifying Disposition of ISO Shares. If the Option granted to Participant herein is an ISO, and if Participant sells 
or otherwise disposes of any of the Shares acquired pursuant to the ISO on or before the later of (i) the date two (2) years after the Date of Grant, or (ii) the 
date one (1) year after the date of exercise, Participant shall immediately notify the Company in writing of such disposition. Participant agrees that 
Participant may be subject to income tax withholding by the Company on the compensation income recognized by Participant.

23.8.4 Section 409A. Under Section 409A, a stock right (such as the Option) that vests after December 31, 2004 (or that vested on or 
prior to such date but which was materially modified after October 3, 2004), that was granted with a per share exercise price that is determined by the 
Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) to be less than the fair market value of an underlying share on the date of grant (a “discount option”) may be 
considered “deferred compensation.” A stock right that is a “discount option” may result in (i) income recognition by the recipient of the stock right prior to 
the exercise of the stock right, (ii) an additional twenty percent (20%) federal income tax, and (iii) potential penalty and interest charges. The “discount 
option” may also result in additional state income, penalty and interest tax to the recipient of the stock right. Participant acknowledges that the Company 
cannot and has not guaranteed that the IRS will agree that the per Share exercise price of this Option equals or exceeds the fair market value of a Share on 
the date of grant in a later examination. Participant agrees that if the IRS determines that the Option was granted with a per Share exercise price that was 
less than the fair market value of a Share on the date of grant, Participant shall be solely responsible for Participant’s costs related to such a determination. 
In no event will the Company or any of its Parent or Subsidiaries have any responsibility, liability, or obligation to reimburse, indemnify, or hold harmless 
Participant (or any other person) in respect of this Option or any other Awards, for any taxes, penalties or interest that may be imposed on, or other costs 
incurred by, Participant (or any other person) as a result of Section 409A.

23.9Rights as Stockholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or privileges of a 
stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book 
entry form) will have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant (including 
through electronic delivery to a brokerage account). After such issuance, recordation and delivery, Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the 
Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.

23.10Entire Agreement; Governing Law. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Option Agreement constitute the entire 
agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of
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the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to Participant’s interest except by means of a 
writing signed by the Company and Participant. This Option Agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws but not the choice of law rules of the 
State of California.

23.11No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF SHARES 
PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER, WHICH UNLESS 
PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE LAWS IS AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY (OR THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY 
EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PARTICIPANT) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS OPTION OR 
ACQUIRING SHARES HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS OPTION AGREEMENT, THE 
TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN 
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY 
PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH PARTICIPANT’S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR 
THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PARTICIPANT) TO TERMINATE PARTICIPANT’S RELATIONSHIP AS A 
SERVICE PROVIDER, SUBJECT TO APPLICABLE LAW, WHICH TERMINATION, UNLESS PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE 
LAW, MAY BE AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.

23.12 Nature of Grant. In accepting the Option, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees that:

(b) the grant of the Option is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive future grants of 
options, or benefits in lieu of options, even if options have been granted in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future option or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the
Administrator;

(d) Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;

(e) the Option and any Shares acquired under the Plan are not intended to replace any pension rights or
compensation;

(f) the Option and Shares acquired under the Plan and the income and value of same, are not part of normal or expected 
compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of- service payments, bonuses, long-service 
awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or similar payments;

(g) the future value of the Shares underlying the Option is unknown, indeterminable, and cannot be predicted
with certainty;

(h) if the underlying Shares do not increase in value, the Option will have no value;
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(i) if Participant exercises the Option and acquires Shares, the value of such Shares may increase or decrease in value, even below 
the Exercise Price;

(j) for purposes of the Option, Participant’s status as a Service Provider will be considered terminated as of the date Participant is no 
longer actively providing services to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether or not later found 
to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant’s employment or service 
agreement, if any), and unless otherwise expressly provided in this Option Agreement (including by reference in the Notice of Grant to other arrangements 
or contracts) or determined by the Administrator, (i) Participant’s right to vest in the Option under the Plan, if any, will terminate as of such date and will 
not be extended by any notice period (e.g., Participant’s period of service would not include any contractual notice period or any period of “garden leave” 
or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant’s employment or 
service agreement, if any, unless Participant is providing bona fide services during such time); and (ii) the period (if any) during which Participant may 
exercise the Option after such termination of Participant’s engagement as a Service Provider will commence on the date Participant ceases to actively 
provide services and will not be extended by any notice period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is employed or terms 
of Participant’s engagement agreement, if any; the Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively 
providing services for purposes of this Option grant (including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of 
absence and consistent with local law);

(k) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Administrator in its discretion, the Option and the benefits evidenced by this 
Option Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Option or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed by, another company nor be exchanged, 
cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares; and

(l) the following provisions apply only if Participant is providing services outside the United States:

• the Option and the Shares subject to the Option are not part of normal or expected compensation or
salary for any purpose;

• Participant acknowledges and agrees that no Service Recipient shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation 
between Participant’s local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the Option or of any amounts due to Participant pursuant to 
the exercise of the Option or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon exercise; and

• no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Option resulting from the 
termination of Participant’s status as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment 
laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms 
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Participant is otherwise not entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim against any Service Recipient, waives his or her ability, if 
any, to bring any such claim, and releases each Service Recipient from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a 
court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, Participant shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and 
agrees to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim.

23.13No Advice Regarding Grant. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any 
recommendations regarding Participant’s participation in the Plan, or Participant’s acquisition or sale of the Shares underlying the Option. Participant is 
hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisers regarding his or her participation in the Plan before taking any 
action related to the Plan.

23.14Data Privacy. Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, 
of Participant’s personal data as described in this Option Agreement and any other Option grant materials by and among, as applicable, the Service 
Recipients for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company and the Service Recipient may hold certain personal information about Participant, including, but 
not limited to, Participant’s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, salary, 
nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, details of all Options or any other entitlement to Shares awarded, canceled, 
exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”), for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing the 
Plan.

Participant understands that Data may be transferred to a stock plan service provider, as may be selected by the Company in the future, 
assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data 
may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country of operation (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy 
laws and protections than Participant’s country. Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may request a list 
with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources representative. Participant 
authorizes the Company, any stock plan service provider selected by the Company and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company 
(presently or in the future) with implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic 
or other form, for the sole purpose of implementing, administering and managing his or her participation in the Plan. Participant understands that 
Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands if 
he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of 
Data, require any necessary amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her 
local human resources representative. Further, Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If 
Participant does not consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke his or
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her consent, his or her status as a Service Provider and career with the Service Recipient will not be adversely affected. The only adverse consequence 
of refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant Participant Options or other equity awards or 
administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or withdrawing his or her consent may affect Participant’s 
ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant’s refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Participant 
understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

23.15Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Option Agreement will be addressed to the Company at 
Forte Biosciences, Inc., 1124 W Carson Street, MRL Building 3-320, Torrance, California 90502, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter 
designate in writing.

23.16Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Option Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this 
Option Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restriction on transfer herein set forth, this Option 
Agreement shall be binding upon the executors, administrators, heirs, successors and assigns of Participant. The rights and obligations of Participant under 
this Option Agreement may be assigned only with the prior written consent of the Company.

23.17Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stock. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion, that the listing, registration, 
qualification or rule compliance of the Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state, federal or non-
U.S. law, the tax code and related regulations or under the rulings or regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other 
governmental regulatory body or the clearance, consent or approval of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory 
authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the exercise of the Options or the purchase by, or issuance of Shares, to Participant (or his or her estate) 
hereunder, such exercise, purchase or issuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, rule compliance, clearance, consent or 
approval will have been completed, effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. Subject to the terms of the Option 
Agreement and the Plan, the Company will not be required to issue any certificate or certificates for (or make any entry on the books of the Company or of 
a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company of) the Shares hereunder prior to the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of exercise 
of the Option as the Administrator may establish from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.

23.18Language. If Participant has received this Option Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language other than 
English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.

23.19Interpretation. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Option Agreement and to adopt such rules for the 
administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules (including, but not limited to, 
the determination of whether or not any Shares subject to the Option have vested). All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the 
Administrator in good faith
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will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. Neither the Administrator nor any person acting on behalf of the 
Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Option Agreement.

23.20Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Option 
awarded under the Plan or future options that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or require Participant to participate in the Plan by 
electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through any on-line or 
electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

23.21Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this Option 
Agreement.

23.22Option Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Option Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such provision 
will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions of this Option 
Agreement.

23.23Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this Option, Participant expressly warrants that he or she has received an 
Option under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. Participant understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and 
may be amended, suspended or terminated by the Administrator at any time.

23.24Country Addendum. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Option Agreement, this Option shall be subject to any special terms and 
conditions set forth in an appendix (if any) to this Option Agreement for any country whose laws are applicable to Participant and this Option (as 
determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion) (the “Country Addendum”). Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of the countries included in the 
Country Addendum (if any), the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the Company determines that the 
application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Country Addendum (if any) constitutes a part of 
this Option Agreement.

23.25Modifications to the Option Agreement. This Option Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. 
Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Option Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than 
those contained herein. Modifications to this Option Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized 
officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Option Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this 
Option Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of Participant, to comply with Code Section 409A or to 
otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A of the Code in connection with the Option.



 

 

 
 

23.26No Waiver. Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Option Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a 
waiver of any such provision or provisions, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing each and every other provision of this Option Agreement. The 
rights granted both parties herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it 
under the circumstances.

23.27 Tax Consequences. Participant has reviewed with his or her own tax advisers the U.S. federal, state, local and non-
U.S. tax consequences of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Option Agreement. With respect to such matters, Participant relies 
solely on such advisers and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written or oral. Participant understands that 
Participant (and not the Company) shall be responsible for Participant’s own tax liability that may arise as a result of this investment or the transactions 
contemplated by this Option Agreement.

* * *
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EXHIBIT B

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN STOCK OPTION 
AGREEMENT EXERCISE NOTICE

 
Forte Biosciences, Inc. 1124 W 
Carson Street MRL Building 3-
320
Torrance, California 90502 Attention: Stock 
Administration

• Exercise of Option. Effective as of today, ,   , the undersigned (“Participant”) hereby elects to
exercise Participant’s option (the “Option”) to purchase shares of the Common Stock (the “Shares”) of Forte Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) under 
and pursuant to the 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) and the Stock Option Agreement dated ,   , including the Notice of Stock Option Grant, 
and the Terms and Conditions of Stock Option Grant attached as Exhibit A thereto and other exhibits, appendices and addenda attached thereto (the 
“Option Agreement”). Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in this Exercise Notice will be ascribed the same defined meanings as set 
forth in the Option Agreement (or the Plan or other written agreement as specified in the Option Agreement).

• Delivery of Payment. Participant herewith delivers to the Company the full purchase price of the Shares, as set forth in the Option Agreement, 
and any Tax Obligations to be paid in connection with the exercise of the Option.

• Representations of Participant. Participant acknowledges that Participant has received, read and understood the Plan and the Option Agreement 
and agrees to abide by and be bound by their terms and conditions.

• Rights as Stockholder. Until the issuance of the Shares (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly 
authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a stockholder shall exist with respect to the Common 
Stock subject to the Option, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Shares so acquired shall be issued to Participant as soon as practicable after the 
Option is exercised in accordance with the Option Agreement. No adjustment shall be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior 
to the date of issuance except as provided in Section 14 of the Plan.

 
 
 
 

 



 

 
 

 
 

• Tax Consultation. Participant understands that Participant may suffer adverse tax consequences as a result of Participant’s purchase or 
disposition of the Shares. Participant represents that Participant has consulted with any tax consultants Participant deems advisable in connection with the 
purchase or disposition of the Shares and that Participant is not relying on the Company for any tax advice.

• Interpretation. Any dispute regarding the interpretation of this Exercise Notice shall be submitted by Participant or by the Company forthwith 
to the Administrator, which shall review such dispute at its next regular meeting. The resolution of such a dispute by the Administrator shall be final and 
binding on all parties to the maximum extent permitted by law.

• Governing Law; Severability. This Exercise Notice is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of California. 
In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, unenforceable or void, this Exercise Notice 
shall continue in full force and effect.

• Entire Agreement. The Plan and Option Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and the Option Agreement (including this 
Exercise Notice and any exhibits, appendices, and addenda attached to the Notice of Stock Option Grant of the Option Agreement) constitute the entire 
agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and 
Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely to Participant’s interest except by means of a writing signed by the 
Company and Participant.

Submitted by: Accepted by:

PARTICIPANT FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
 
 
 
 

Signature By
 
 

Print Name Print Name

Title

Address: Address:
 
 
 
 

Date Received



 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX A FORTE 
BIOSCIENCES, INC.

2021 EQUITY INCENTIVE PLAN

COUNTRY ADDENDUM TO STOCK OPTION AGREEMENT

Unless otherwise defined herein, capitalized terms used in this Country Addendum to Stock Option Agreement (the “Country Addendum”) will 
be ascribed the same defined meanings as set forth in the Option Agreement of which this Country Addendum forms a part (or the Plan or other written 
agreement as specified in the Option Agreement).

Terms and Conditions

This Country Addendum includes additional terms and conditions that govern this Option awarded to Participant under the Plan if he or she 
resides and/or works in one of the countries listed below. If Participant is a citizen or resident (or is considered as such for local law purposes) of a country 
other than the country in which Participant is currently residing and/or working, or if Participant relocates to another country after the Options is granted, 
the Company, in its discretion, shall determine to what extent the terms and conditions contained herein shall apply to Participant.

Notifications

This Country Addendum also may include information regarding exchange controls and certain other issues of which Participant should be aware 
with respect to participation in the Plan. The information is based on the securities, exchange control, and other Applicable Laws in effect in the respective 
countries as of [ ]. Such Applicable Laws often are complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly recommends that Participant not 
rely on the information in this Country Addendum as the only source of information relating to the consequences of Participant’s participation in the Plan 
because the information may be out of date at the time Participant vests in or exercises the Option or sells Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the information contained in this Country Addendum is general in nature and may not apply to Participant’s particular situation, and 
the Company is not in a position to assure Participant of a particular result. Participant should seek appropriate professional advice as to how the Applicable 
Laws in Participant’s country may apply to his or her situation.

Finally, if Participant is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which Participant currently is residing and/or working, transfers 
residence and/or employment to another country after this Option is awarded, or is considered a resident of another country for local law purposes, the 
information in this Country Addendum may not apply to Participant in the same manner.



 

 
 

 
 

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT NOTICE OF 
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Forte Biosciences, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) will have the same 
defined meanings in this Restricted Stock Unit Agreement which includes the Notice of Restricted Stock Unit Grant (the “Notice of Grant”), the Terms 
and Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Grant, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and all other exhibits, appendices, and addenda attached hereto (the “Award 
Agreement”).

 
:

 

 
The undersigned Participant has been granted an Award of Restricted Stock Units, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award 

Agreement, as follows:

Grant Number: 

Date of Grant: 

Vesting Commencement Date: 

Total Number of Restricted Stock Units: 

Vesting Schedule:

Subject to any acceleration provisions contained in the Plan, this Award Agreement or any other written agreement between Participant and the 
Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, as applicable) governing the terms of this Award, the Restricted Stock Units will be scheduled to vest 
according to the following vesting schedule:

[VESTING SCHEDULE TO BE INCLUDED HERE]

By Participant’s signature and the signature of the representative of the Company below, Participant and the Company agree that this Award of 
Restricted Stock Units is granted under and governed by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, including the Terms and 
Conditions of Restricted Stock Unit Grant, attached hereto as Exhibit A, and all other exhibits, appendices and addenda attached hereto, all of which are 
made a part of this document. Participant acknowledges receipt of a copy of the Plan. Participant has reviewed the Plan and this Award 



 

 
 

Agreement in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Award Agreement and fully understands all 
provisions of the Plan and this Award Agreement. Participant hereby agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the 
Administrator upon any questions relating to the Plan or this



 

 

 
Award Agreement. Participant further agrees to notify the Company upon any change in Participant’s residence address indicated below.

 
PARTICIPANT FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.

 
Signature Signature Print Name Print 
Name Title

 
Residence Address:
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EXHIBIT A

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC. 2021 EQUITY 
INCENTIVE PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

3. Grant of Restricted Stock Units. The Company hereby grants to the individual (“Participant”) named in the Notice of Restricted Stock Unit 
Grant of this Award Agreement (the “Notice of Grant”) under the Plan an Award of Restricted Stock Units, and subject to the terms and conditions of this 
Award Agreement and the Plan, which is incorporated herein by reference. Subject to Section 20 of the Plan, in the event of a conflict between the terms 
and conditions of the Plan and this Award Agreement, the terms and conditions of the Plan shall prevail.

4. Company’s Obligation to Pay. Each Restricted Stock Unit represents the right to receive a Share on the date it vests. Unless and until the 
Restricted Stock Units will have vested in the manner set forth in Section 3 or 4, Participant will have no right to payment of any such Restricted Stock 
Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units, such Restricted Stock Units will represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, 
payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

5. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in Section 4, and subject to Section 5, the Restricted Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement will 
vest in accordance with the vesting provisions set forth in the Notice of Grant. Unless specifically provided otherwise in this Award Agreement or other 
written agreement between Participant and the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company, as applicable, governing the terms of this Award, 
Restricted Stock Units scheduled to vest on a certain date or upon the occurrence of a certain condition will not vest in accordance with any of the 
provisions of this Award Agreement, unless Participant will have been continuously a Service Provider from the Date of Grant until the date such vesting 
occurs.

6. Payment after Vesting.

6.1 General Rule. Subject to Section 7, any Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to Participant (or in the event of 
Participant’s death, to his or her properly designated beneficiary or estate) in whole Shares. Subject to the provisions of Section 4(c), such vested Restricted 
Stock Units shall be paid in whole Shares as soon as practicable after vesting, but in each such case within sixty (60) days following the vesting date. In no 
event will Participant be permitted, directly or indirectly, to specify the taxable year of payment of any Restricted Stock Units payable under this Award 
Agreement.

6.2 Discretionary Acceleration. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion 
of the balance, of the unvested Restricted Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such



 

 

 

 
Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having vested as of the date specified by the Administrator.

6.3 Section 409A.

6.3.1If Participant is a U.S. taxpayer, the payment of Shares vesting pursuant to this Award Agreement (including any 
discretionary acceleration under Section 4(b)) shall in all cases be paid at a time or in a manner that is exempt from, or complies with, Section 409A. The 
prior sentence may be superseded in a future agreement or amendment to this Award Agreement only by direct and specific reference to such sentence.

6.3.2Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Award Agreement or any other agreement (whether entered into before, on 
or after the Date of Grant), if the vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection 
with the termination of Participant’s status as a Service Provider (provided that such termination is a “separation from service” within the meaning of 
Section 409A, as determined by the Administrator), other than due to Participant’s death, and if (x) Participant is a U.S. taxpayer and a “specified 
employee” within the meaning of Section 409A at the time of such termination as a Service Provider and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted 
Stock Units will result in the imposition of additional tax under Section 409A if paid to Participant on or within the six (6) month period following the 
cessation of Participant’s status as a Service Provider, then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date six (6) 
months and one (1) day following the date of cessation of Participant’s status as a Service Provider, unless Participant dies following his or her termination 
as a Service Provider, in which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid in Shares to Participant’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her 
death.

6.3.3It is the intent of this Award Agreement that it and all payments and benefits to U.S. taxpayers hereunder be exempt from, 
or comply with, the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided under this Award Agreement or Shares issuable 
thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities or ambiguous terms herein will be interpreted to be so 
exempt or so comply. Each payment payable under this Award Agreement is intended to constitute a separate payment for purposes of Treasury 
Regulations Section 1.409A-2(b)(2). To the extent necessary to comply with Section 409A, references to termination of Participant’s status as a Service 
Provider, termination of employment, or similar phrases will be references to Participant’s “separation from service” within the meaning of Section 409A. 
In no event will the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company have any responsibility, liability, or obligation to reimburse, indemnify, or hold 
harmless Participant (or any other person) for any taxes, penalties and interest that may be imposed, or other costs that may be incurred, as a result of 
Section 409A.

7. Forfeiture Upon Termination as a Service Provider. Unless specifically provided otherwise in this Award Agreement or other written 
agreement between Participant and the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or Parents, as applicable, governing the terms of this Award, if Participant ceases 
to be a Service Provider for any or no reason, the then-unvested Restricted Stock Units awarded by this Award Agreement will thereupon be forfeited at no 
cost to the Company and Participant will have no further rights thereunder.
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8. Death of Participant. Any distribution or delivery to be made to Participant under this Award Agreement, if Participant is then deceased, will be 

made to Participant’s designated beneficiary, or if no beneficiary survives Participant, the administrator or executor of Participant’s estate. Any such 
transferee must furnish the Company with (a) written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the 
validity of the transfer and compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to said transfer.

9. Tax Obligations

9.1 Responsibility for Taxes. Participant acknowledges that, regardless of any action taken by the Company or, if different, 
Participant’s employer or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company to which Participant is providing services (together, the “Service Recipients”), the 
ultimate liability for any tax and/or social insurance liability obligations and requirements in connection with the Restricted Stock Units, including, without 
limitation, (i) all federal, state, and local taxes (including Participant’s Federal Insurance Contributions Act (FICA) obligations) that are required to be 
withheld by any Service Recipient or other payment of tax-related items related to Participant’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to 
Participant, (ii) Participant’s and, to the extent required by any Service Recipient, the Service Recipient’s fringe benefit tax liability, if any, associated with 
the grant, vesting, or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or sale of Shares, and (iii) any other Service Recipient taxes the responsibility for which 
Participant has, or has agreed to bear, with respect to the Restricted Stock Units (or settlement thereof or issuance of Shares thereunder) (collectively, the 
“Tax Obligations”), is and remains Participant’s sole responsibility and may exceed the amount actually withheld by the applicable Service Recipient(s). 
Participant further acknowledges that no Service Recipient (A) makes any representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax Obligations 
in connection with any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the 
subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such settlement and the receipt of any dividends or other distributions, and (B) makes any commitment to 
and is under any obligation to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate Participant’s liability for 
Tax Obligations or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if Participant is subject to Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction between the Date of 
Grant and the date of any relevant taxable or tax withholding event, as applicable, Participant acknowledges that the applicable Service Recipient(s) (or 
former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account for Tax Obligations in more than one jurisdiction. If Participant fails to make 
satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any required Tax Obligations hereunder at the time of the applicable taxable event, Participant acknowledges 
and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares.

9.2 Tax Withholding. Pursuant to such procedures as the Administrator may specify from time to time, the Service Recipient will 
withhold the amount required to be withheld for the payment of Tax Obligations. The Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures 
as it may specify from time to time, may permit Participant to satisfy such Tax Obligations, in whole or in part (without limitation), if permissible by 
applicable local law, by: (i) paying cash in U.S. dollars, (ii) electing to have the Company withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a fair market value 
equal to the minimum amount that is necessary to meet the withholding requirement for such Tax Obligations (or such greater amount as Participant may 
elect
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if permitted by the Administrator, if such greater amount would not result in adverse financial accounting consequences), (iii) withholding the amount of 
such Tax Obligations from Participant’s wages or other cash compensation paid to Participant by the applicable Service Recipient(s), (iv) delivering to the 
Company Shares that Participant owns and that already have vested with a fair market value equal to the Tax Obligations (or such greater amount as 
Participant may elect if permitted by the Administrator, if such greater amount would not result in adverse financial accounting consequences), (v) selling a 
sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Participant, through such means as the Company may determine in its sole discretion (whether 
through a broker or otherwise) equal to the minimum amount that is necessary to meet the withholding requirement for such Tax Obligations (or such 
greater amount as Participant may elect if permitted by the Administrator, if such greater amount would not result in adverse financial accounting 
consequences), or (vi) such other means as the Administrator deems appropriate. If the Tax Obligations are satisfied by withholding in Shares, for tax 
purposes, Participant is deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding that a number of 
the Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax Obligations. To the extent determined appropriate by the Administrator in its discretion, 
the Administrator will have the right (but not the obligation) to satisfy any Tax Obligations by reducing the number of Shares otherwise deliverable to 
Participant.

9.3 Default Method of Tax Withholding. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, in the sole discretion of the 
Administrator, the minimum amount of Tax Obligations will be satisfied by the Company withholding otherwise deliverable Shares having a value equal to 
the minimum amount statutorily required to be withheld (or such greater amount that is no more than the maximum statutory rate as the Company 
determines, in its sole discretion, is appropriate to withhold). Only whole Shares will be withheld to satisfy any Tax Obligation. By accepting this Award, 
Participant expressly consents to the Company withholding Shares to cover the Tax Obligations and agrees and acknowledges that Participant 
may not satisfy them by any means other than such withholding, unless required to do so by the Administrator or pursuant to the Administrator’s 
express written consent. Participant further acknowledges that the Administrator may, at any time and at its sole discretion, require a different 
manner of withholding.

9.4 Tax Consequences. Participant has reviewed with his or her own tax advisers the U.S. federal, state, local and non-U.S. tax 
consequences of this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Award Agreement. With respect to such matters, Participant relies solely on such 
advisers and not on any statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents, written or oral. Participant understands that Participant (and not 
the Company) shall be responsible for Participant’s own tax liability that may arise as a result of this investment or the transactions contemplated by this 
Award Agreement.

9.5 Company’s Obligation to Deliver Shares. For clarification purposes, in no event will the Company issue Participant any Shares 
unless and until arrangements satisfactory to the Administrator have been made for the payment of Participant’s Tax Obligations. If Participant fails to 
make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of such Tax Obligations hereunder at the time any applicable Restricted Stock Units otherwise are 
scheduled to vest pursuant to Sections 3 or 4 or Participant’s Tax Obligations otherwise become due, Participant permanently will forfeit
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such Restricted Stock Units to which Participant’s Tax Obligation relates and any right to receive Shares thereunder and such Restricted Stock Units will be 
returned to the Company at no cost to the Company. Participant acknowledges and agrees that the Company may refuse to issue or deliver the Shares if 
such Tax Obligations are not delivered at the time they are due.

10.Rights as Stockholder. Neither Participant nor any person claiming under or through Participant will have any of the rights or privileges of a 
stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates representing such Shares (which may be in book 
entry form) will have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to Participant (including 
through electronic delivery to a brokerage account). After such issuance, recordation and delivery, Participant will have all the rights of a stockholder of the 
Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.

11.No Guarantee of Continued Service. PARTICIPANT ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF THE RESTRICTED 
STOCK UNITS PURSUANT TO THE VESTING SCHEDULE HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING AS A SERVICE PROVIDER, WHICH 
UNLESS PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE LAWS IS AT THE WILL OF THE APPLICABLE SERVICE RECIPIENT AND NOT 
THROUGH THE ACT OF BEING HIRED, BEING GRANTED THIS RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AWARD OR ACQUIRING SHARES 
HEREUNDER. PARTICIPANT FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AWARD AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS 
CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED 
PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND 
SHALL NOT INTERFERE IN ANY WAY WITH PARTICIPANT’S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF ANY SERVICE RECIPIENT TO TERMINATE 
PARTICIPANT’S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER, SUBJECT TO APPLICABLE LAW, WHICH TERMINATION, UNLESS 
PROVIDED OTHERWISE UNDER APPLICABLE LAW, MAY BE AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.

12.Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in Section 6, this Award and the rights and privileges conferred hereby will 
not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise) and will not be subject to sale under execution, 
attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or otherwise dispose of this Award, or any right or privilege 
conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or similar process, this Award and the rights and privileges conferred hereby 
immediately will become null and void.

13. Nature of Grant. In accepting this Award of Restricted Stock Units, Participant acknowledges, understands and agrees
that:

13.1 the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to receive 
future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have been granted in the past;
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13.2 all decisions with respect to future Restricted Stock Units or other grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the 

Administrator;

13.3 Participant is voluntarily participating in the Plan;

13.4 the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units are not intended to replace any pension rights or 
compensation;

13.5 the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are not part of 
normal or expected compensation for purposes of calculating any severance, resignation, termination, redundancy, dismissal, end-of-service payments, 
bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or similar payments;

13.6 the future value of the Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units is unknown, indeterminable and cannot
be predicted;

13.7 for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units, Participant’s status as a Service Provider will be considered terminated as of the date 
Participant is no longer actively providing services to the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary (regardless of the reason for such termination and whether 
or not later found to be invalid or in breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant’s 
employment or service agreement, if any), and unless otherwise expressly provided in this Award Agreement (including by reference in the Notice of Grant 
to other arrangements or contracts) or determined by the Administrator, Participant’s right to vest in the Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, if any, will 
terminate as of such date and will not be extended by any notice period (e.g., Participant’s period of service would not include any contractual notice period 
or any period of “garden leave” or similar period mandated under employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms 
of Participant’s employment or service agreement, if any, unless Participant is providing bona fide services during such time); the Administrator shall have 
the exclusive discretion to determine when Participant is no longer actively providing services for purposes of this Award of Restricted Stock Units 
(including whether Participant may still be considered to be providing services while on a leave of absence and consistent with local law);

13.8 unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Administrator in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and the benefits 
evidenced by this Award Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed by, 
another company nor be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares; and

13.9 the following provisions apply only if Participant is providing services outside the United States:



 

 
 

13.9.1the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units are not part of normal or expected 
compensation or salary for any purpose;



 

 
 

 

 
13.9.2Participant acknowledges and agrees that no Service Recipient shall be liable for any foreign exchange rate fluctuation 

between Participant’s local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the Restricted Stock Units or of any amounts due to 
Participant pursuant to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or the subsequent sale of any Shares acquired upon settlement; and

13.9.3no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units resulting 
from the termination of Participant’s status as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of 
employment laws in the jurisdiction where Participant is a Service Provider or the terms of Participant’s employment or service agreement, if any), and in 
consideration of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units to which Participant is otherwise not entitled, Participant irrevocably agrees never to institute any 
claim against any Service Recipient, waives his or her ability, if any, to bring any such claim, and releases each Service Recipient from any such claim; if, 
notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, Participant shall be deemed 
irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim and agrees to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such 
claim.

14.No Advice Regarding Grant. The Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any 
recommendations regarding Participant’s participation in the Plan, or Participant’s acquisition or sale of the Shares underlying the Restricted Stock Units. 
Participant is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisers regarding his or her participation in the Plan before 
taking any action related to the Plan.

15.Data Privacy. Participant hereby explicitly and unambiguously consents to the collection, use and transfer, in electronic or other form, of 
Participant’s personal data as described in this Award Agreement and any other Restricted Stock Unit grant materials by and among, as applicable, the 
Service Recipients for the exclusive purpose of implementing, administering and managing Participant’s participation in the Plan.

Participant understands that the Company and the Service Recipient may hold certain personal information about Participant, including, 
but not limited to, Participant’s name, home address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number, 
salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or directorships held in the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitlement to Shares 
awarded, canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in Participant’s favor (“Data”), for the exclusive purpose of implementing, 
administering and managing the Plan.

Participant understands that Data may be transferred to a stock plan service provider, as may be selected by the Company in the future, 
assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the Plan. Participant understands that the recipients of the Data 
may be located in the United States or elsewhere, and that the recipients’ country of operation (e.g., the United States) may have different data 
privacy laws and protections than Participant’s country. Participant understands that if he or she resides outside the United States, he or she may 
request a list with the names and addresses of any



 

 

 

 
potential recipients of the Data by contacting his or her local human resources representative. Participant authorizes the Company, any stock plan 
service provider selected by the Company and any other possible recipients which may assist the Company (presently or in the future) with 
implementing, administering and managing the Plan to receive, possess, use, retain and transfer the Data, in electronic or other form, for the sole 
purpose of implementing, administering and managing his or her participation in the Plan. Participant understands that Data will be held only as long 
as is necessary to implement, administer and manage Participant’s participation in the Plan. Participant understands if he or she resides outside the 
United States, he or she may, at any time, view Data, request additional information about the storage and processing of Data, require any necessary 
amendments to Data or refuse or withdraw the consents herein, in any case without cost, by contacting in writing his or her local human resources 
representative. Further, Participant understands that he or she is providing the consents herein on a purely voluntary basis. If Participant does not 
consent, or if Participant later seeks to revoke his or her consent, his or her status as a Service Provider and career with the Service Recipient will not 
be adversely affected. The only adverse consequence of refusing or withdrawing Participant’s consent is that the Company would not be able to grant 
Participant Restricted Stock Units or other equity awards or administer or maintain such awards. Therefore, Participant understands that refusing or 
withdrawing his or her consent may affect Participant’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on the consequences of Participant’s 
refusal to consent or withdrawal of consent, Participant understands that he or she may contact his or her local human resources representative.

16.Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Award Agreement will be addressed to the Company at 
Forte Biosciences, Inc., 1124 W. Carson Street, MRL Building 3-320, Torrance, California, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter 
designate in writing.

17.Successors and Assigns. The Company may assign any of its rights under this Award Agreement to single or multiple assignees, and this 
Award Agreement shall inure to the benefit of the successors and assigns of the Company. Subject to the restrictions on transfer herein set forth, this Award 
Agreement shall be binding upon Participant and his or her heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns. The rights and obligations of Participant 
under this Award Agreement may be assigned only with the prior written consent of the Company.

18.Additional Conditions to Issuance of Stock. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion, that the listing, registration, 
qualification or rule compliance of the Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state, federal or non-U.S. law, the tax code and related regulations 
or under the rulings or regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body or the clearance, consent or 
approval of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the 
issuance of Shares to Participant (or his or her beneficiary or estate) hereunder, such issuance will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, 
qualification, rule compliance, clearance, consent or approval will have been completed, effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the 
Company. Subject to the terms of the Award Agreement and the Plan, the Company will not be required to issue any
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certificate or certificates for (or make any entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company of) the Shares 
hereunder prior to the lapse of such reasonable period of time following the date of vesting of the Restricted Stock Units as the Administrator may establish 
from time to time for reasons of administrative convenience.

19.Language. If Participant has received this Award Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language other than 
English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.

20.Interpretation. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Award Agreement and to adopt such rules for the 
administration, interpretation and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules (including, but not limited to, 
the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the 
Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon Participant, the Company and all other interested persons. Neither the Administrator nor any 
person acting on behalf of the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the 
Plan or this Award Agreement.

21.Electronic Delivery and Acceptance. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to the Restricted Stock 
Units awarded under the Plan or future Restricted Stock Units that may be awarded under the Plan by electronic means or require Participant to participate 
in the Plan by electronic means. Participant hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and agrees to participate in the Plan through 
any on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the Company.

22.Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction of this Award 
Agreement.

23.Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this Award, Participant expressly warrants that he or she has received an 
Award of Restricted Stock Units under the Plan, and has received, read and understood a description of the Plan. Participant understands that the Plan is 
discretionary in nature and may be amended, suspended or terminated by the Administrator at any time.

24.Country Addendum. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Award Agreement, the Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be subject to any special 
terms and conditions set forth in an appendix (if any) to this Award Agreement for any country whose laws are applicable to Participant and this Award of 
Restricted Stock Units (as determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion) (the “Country Addendum”). Moreover, if Participant relocates to one of 
the countries included in the Country Addendum (if any), the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to Participant, to the extent the 
Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. The Country Addendum 
constitutes part of this Award Agreement.
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25.Modifications to the Award Agreement. This Award Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. 

Participant expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Award Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than 
those contained herein. Modifications to this Award Agreement can be made only in an express written contract executed by a duly authorized officer of the 
Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Award Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Award Agreement 
as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of Participant, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid 
imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A in connection with this Award of Restricted Stock Units.

26.No Waiver. Either party’s failure to enforce any provision or provisions of this Award Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a 
waiver of any such provision or provisions, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing each and every other provision of this Award Agreement. The 
rights granted both parties herein are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert all other legal remedies available to it 
under the circumstances.

27.Governing Law; Severability. This Award Agreement and the Restricted Stock Units are governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the 
choice of law rules, of the State of California. In the event that any provision hereof becomes or is declared by a court of competent jurisdiction to be 
illegal, unenforceable or void, this Award Agreement shall continue in full force and effect.

28.Entire Agreement. The Plan is incorporated herein by reference. The Plan and this Award Agreement (including the exhibits, appendices, and 
addenda attached to the Notice of Grant) constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and supersede in their 
entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Participant with respect to the subject matter hereof, and may not be modified adversely 
to the Participant’s interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and Participant.
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Forte Biosciences, Inc.
Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy

(March 20, 2025)
 
Each member of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) who is not also serving as an employee of or consultant to Forte Biosciences, 
Inc. (“Forte Biosciences”) or any of its subsidiaries (each such member, an “Eligible Director”) will receive the compensation 
described in this Amended and Restated Non-Employee Director Compensation Policy for his or her Board service.  This policy is 
effective as of March 20, 2025 (the “Effective Date”) and may be amended at any time in the sole discretion of the Board or the 
Compensation Committee of the Board.
 
Annual Cash Compensation
 
The annual cash compensation amount set forth below is payable in equal quarterly installments, payable in arrears on the last day of 
each fiscal quarter in which the service occurred. If an Eligible Director joins the Board or a committee of the Board at a time other 
than effective as of the first day of a fiscal quarter, each annual retainer set forth below will be pro-rated based on days served in the 
applicable fiscal quarter, with the pro-rated amount paid for the first fiscal quarter in which the Eligible Director provides the service, 
and regular full quarterly payments thereafter. All annual cash fees are vested upon payment. 
 
1. Annual Board Service Retainer: 

a. All Eligible Directors: $42,500
b. Chairman of the Board Service Retainer (in addition to Eligible Director Service Retainer): $30,000
c. Lead Independent Director Service Retainer (in addition to Eligible Director Service Retainer): $20,000

 
2. Annual Committee Member Service Retainer:

a. Member of the Audit Committee: $10,000
b. Member of the Compensation Committee: $7,250
c. Member of the Nominating & Governance Committee: $5,000
 

3. Annual Committee Chair Service Retainer (in addition to Committee Member Service Retainer):
a. Chairman of the Audit Committee: $20,000
b. Chairman of the Compensation Committee: $14,000
c. Chairman of the Nominating & Governance Committee: $10,000
 

Equity Compensation
 
The equity compensation set forth below will be granted under the Forte Biosciences, Inc. 2021 Equity Incentive Plan, or any 
amendment thereto or successor plan (the “Plan”). All stock options granted under this policy will be nonstatutory stock options, 
with an exercise price per share equal to 100% of the Fair Market Value (as defined in the Plan) of the underlying Forte Biosciences 
Common Stock on the date of grant, and a term of ten years from the date of grant (subject to 
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earlier termination in connection with a termination of service as provided in the Plan, provided that upon a termination of service 
other than for death, disability or cause, the post-termination exercise period will be 12 months from the date of termination). All 
share numbers set forth in this section shall be proportionally adjusted for any recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, or other 
similar change affecting the Forte Biosciences Common Stock.
 
1. Initial Grant: On the date of the Eligible Director’s initial election to the Board (the “Initial Start Date”), for each Eligible 
Director who is first elected to the Board following the Effective Date (or, if such date is not a market trading day, the first market 
trading day thereafter), the Eligible Director will be automatically, and without further action by the Board or Compensation 
Committee of the Board, granted a stock option for 31,000 shares (the “Initial Grant”).  The shares subject to each Initial Grant will 
vest in equal monthly installments over a three year period such that the option is fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of 
grant, subject to the Eligible Director continuing to be a Service Provider (as defined in the Plan) through each such vesting date and 
will vest in full upon a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan).
 
2. Existing Director Grant: Each individual who is an Eligible Director as of the Effective Date (an “Existing Director”) will be 
automatically, and without further action by the Board or Compensation Committee of the Board, granted a stock option for 31,000 
shares (the “Existing Director Grant”).  The shares subject to each Existing Director Grant will vest in equal monthly installments 
over a three year period such that the option is fully vested on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to the Eligible 
Director continuing to be a Service Provider (as defined in the Plan) through each such vesting date and will vest in full upon a 
Change in Control (as defined in the Plan).
 
3. Annual Grant: On the date of each Forte Biosciences annual stockholder meeting held after January 1, 2026, for each Eligible 
Director who continues to serve as an Eligible Director (or who is first elected to the Board as an Eligible Director at such annual 
stockholder meeting), the Eligible Director will be automatically, and without further action by the Board or Compensation 
Committee of the Board, granted a stock option for 31,000 shares (the “Annual Grant”); provided that the first Annual Grant granted 
to an individual who first becomes an Eligible Director after January 1, 2026 will cover a number of shares equal to the product of 
(A) 31,000 multiplied by (B) a fraction, (i) the numerator of which is the number of fully completed months between the applicable 
Initial Start Date and the date of the first annual stockholder meeting to occur after such individual first becomes an Eligible Director, 
and (ii) the denominator of which is twelve, with the resulting number of shares rounded down to the nearest whole share.  The 
shares subject to the Annual Grant will vest in equal monthly installments over the 12 months following the date of grant, provided 
that the Annual Grant will in any case be fully vested on the date of Forte Biosciences’ next annual stockholder meeting, subject to 
the Eligible Director continuing to be a Service Provider (as defined in the Plan) through such vesting date and will vest in full upon 
a Change in Control (as defined in the Plan). 



Exhibit 10.3

LETTER AGREEMENT

THIS LETTER AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 21, 2024, is by and among Forte Biosciences, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and OrbiMed Private Investments IX, LP, OrbiMed Genesis Master Fund, L.P., The Biotech 
Growth Trust PLC (together, “OrbiMed”).

WHEREAS, the Company and OrbiMed are parties to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of November 19, 2024 
(the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which OrbiMed, as well as other purchasers, are purchasing shares of the Company’s common 
stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) and/or pre-funded warrants to purchase Common Stock (the “Pre-Funded 
Warrants”); and

WHEREAS, in order to induce OrbiMed to invest funds in the Company pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, OrbiMed and the 
Company hereby agree that this Agreement shall set forth certain rights and obligations with respect to the shares of the Company’s capital 
stock beneficially owned by OrbiMed.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

(a) “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediates, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person.

(b) “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company.

(c) “Business Day” means any day except any Saturday, any Sunday, any day which is a federal legal holiday in the 
United States or any day on which banking institutions in the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other governmental 
action to close; provided, however, for clarification, commercial banks shall not be deemed to be authorized or required by law to remain 
closed due to “stay at home”, “shelter-in-place”, “non-essential employee” or any other similar orders or restrictions or the closure of any 
physical branch locations at the direction of any governmental authority so long as the electronic funds transfer systems (including for wire 
transfers) of commercial banks in the State of New York are generally are open for use by customers on such day.

(d) “Bylaws” means the bylaws of the Company, as may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to 
time.

(e) “Closing Date” shall mean November 21, 2024.

(f) “Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage” means a percentage equal to (x) the sum of the number of outstanding 
shares of Common Stock of the Company owned by OrbiMed and its Affiliates plus the number of shares of Common Stock subject to 
outstanding Pre-Funded Warrants held by OrbiMed and its Affiliates (without regard to any beneficial ownership limitations included 
therein), divided by (y) the sum of the total number of outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company plus the total number of shares 
of Common Stock subject to all outstanding warrants issued by the Company,
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(g) “Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock 
company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or any other entity or organization.

(h) “SEC” shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. Board Representation.

(a) During the period beginning on the date ninety (90) days after the Closing Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the 
three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date and (ii) the first Business Day that OrbiMed’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage is less than 
twenty percent (20%) (such period, the “Board Designation Period”), at any time that the Nasdaq Official Closing Price of the Common 
Stock is below $2.7760 (as adjusted for stock splits, recapitalizations and other similar events) for thirty (30) consecutive trading days, 
OrbiMed shall be entitled to designate one individual (“OrbiMed Designee”) to serve on the Board of Directors (“Designation Right”), 
pursuant and subject to the terms of this Section 2.

(b) In order to exercise the Designation Right, OrbiMed shall deliver a written notice to the Company stating that 
OrbiMed wishes to exercise the Designation Right and setting forth the name of the OrbiMed Designee (the “Designation Notice”). As a 
condition to the appointment of any OrbiMed Designee, OrbiMed will also provide, or cause the OrbiMed Designee to provide, a completed 
and executed director nominee questionnaire in a form to be provided by the Company (a “Nominee Questionnaire”) and any other 
information that is reasonably required by applicable law for inclusion in the Company’s filings with the SEC relating to the appointment of 
such OrbiMedDesignee, proxy materials for meetings of stockholders, and all other applicable filings with the SEC.

(c) Subject to the terms of this Section 2, the Company hereby agrees to appoint the OrbiMed Designee to the Board 
of Directors within fifteen (15) Business Days following receipt of both
(i) the Designation Notice and (ii) the completed Nominee Questionnaire. Thereafter, for the remainder of the Board Designation Period, 
subject to the requirements of fiduciary duties under applicable law, the Company shall include the OrbiMed Designee in the slate of 
nominees recommended to the Company’s stockholders for election as directors of the Company at each annual or special meeting of the 
Company’s stockholders at which directors of the same class as the OrbiMed Designee are to be elected and every adjournment or 
postponement thereof. If a OrbiMed Designee elected or appointed pursuant to the terms hereof ceases to serve as a member of the Board of 
Directors for any reason, then OrbiMed shall have the right to designate another designee pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it being 
understood that any such designee shall serve the remainder of the term of the director whom such designee replaces, and the Company shall 
take all such action as is reasonable and necessary to promptly cause the election or appointment of such other designee to the Board of 
Directors for such term. If OrbiMed has exercised the Designation Right and the Board Designation Period lapses while a OrbiMed 
Designee is serving on the Board of Directors, the OrbiMed Designee shall not be required to resign but may continue to serve on the Board 
of Directors for the remainder of the OrbiMed Designee’s then-current term on the Board of Directors.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 2, the Company shall not be required to appoint a OrbiMed 
Designee to the Board of Directors if a majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors reasonably determines in good faith, 
after consultation with outside legal counsel, that such person would not be qualified to serve as a director of the Company under any 
applicable law (including requirements of fiduciary duties under applicable law), rule or regulation, rule of the stock exchange on which the 
Company’s shares are listed, the Bylaws or any policy or guidelines previously approved by the Board of Directors and made available to 
OrbiMed, provided that the direct or indirect purpose of any such policy or guideline is not to obstruct OrbiMed’s right to designate an 
individual as a
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nominee to the Board of Directors or its rights under this Agreement, and provided further that the parties agree any such OrbiMed Designee 
is not required to meet the independence requirements of the SEC or the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC. The Company shall notify OrbiMed of 
any objection to a OrbiMed Designee promptly following determination by the Board of Directors that such OrbiMed Designee is not 
qualified to serve as a director of the Company, and in any event on or prior to the fifteenth (15th) Business Day following receipt of the 
Designation Notice and completed Nominee Questionnaire with respect to such OrbiMed Designee, so as to enable OrbiMed to propose a 
replacement OrbiMed Designee in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(e) OrbiMed understands that, as a condition to the appointment of OrbiMed Designee, the Company may require the 
OrbiMed Designee to agree in writing, during the term of any service as a director of the Company, to (a) comply with all policies, 
procedures, processes, codes, rules, standards and guidelines applicable to all non-employee members of the Board of Directors, including, 
without limitation, the Company’s business and ethics code of conduct, insider trading policy, and related- person transactions policy, in 
each case as previously approved by the Board of Directors and as amended from time to time, and compliance with applicable disclosure 
controls and procedures, including but not limited to completing an annual director and officer questionnaire; and (b) keep confidential and 
not publicly disclose discussions and matters considered in meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees, as applicable, or other 
confidential information of the Company that the OrbiMed Designee receives from the Company, unless previously disclosed publicly by the 
Company.

(f) For so long as any OrbiMed Designee serves as a director, such director shall be entitled to (i) the same 
reimbursement for travel and other expenses paid to other non-employee directors incurred in connection with his or her duties as a director, 
including any service on any committee of the Board of Directors, and (ii) the same indemnification, exculpation and advancement of 
expenses rights provided to other non-employee directors, and the Company shall maintain in full force and effect directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance coverage with respect to such director (subject to the limitations of such coverage, and with such coverage terms as the 
Company deems reasonable) to the same extent that it indemnifies and provides insurance for other non-employee directors.

3. Participation Right.

(a) Non-Underwritten Offerings.

(i)During the period beginning on the Closing Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the ten (10)-year 
anniversary of the Closing Date and (ii) the first Business Day OrbiMed’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage is less than twenty percent 
(20%) (the “Participation Period”), if the Company proposes to offer and sell any New Securities (as defined below) in an offering that is 
conducted pursuant to an exemption from registration under the Securities Act, or in an offering that is registered under the Securities Act 
that is not conducted as a firm-commitment underwritten offering, then, subject to compliance with all applicable securities laws and 
regulations, OrbiMed shall have the right to purchase, on the same terms, including the price per security, and subject to the same conditions 
as are applicable to the other investors in such offering, that amount of New Securities being offered for sale in such offering equal to 
OrbiMed’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage multiplied by the total amount of New Securities offered for sale in such offering (or such 
other amount as may be mutually agreed between Company and OrbiMed).

(ii)If the Company proposes to conduct an offering with respect to which OrbiMed have rights to purchase 
New Securities pursuant to this Section 3(a), the Company shall give written notice (the “Offer Notice”) to OrbiMed at least three (3) 
Business Days prior to the commencement of the offering of the New Securities, stating (i) its bona fide intention to offer such New 
Securities, (ii) the
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number, type and material terms of such New Securities to be offered, (iii) the price and terms, if any, upon which it proposes to offer such 
New Securities, and (iv) the estimated date and time at which the Company expects to enter into a definitive agreement for the sale of the 
New Securities (the “Expected Sale Date”). If the information contained in the Offer Notice constitutes material non-public information (as 
defined under the applicable securities laws), the Company shall deliver such Offer Notice only pursuant to OrbiMed’s standard wall-cross 
procedures.

(iii)If OrbiMed desires to exercise its rights under this Section 3(a) to participate in such offering, then 
OrbiMed must provide a written notice to the Company by not later than 6:00 p.m. (New York City time) on the day immediately preceding 
the Expected Sale Date set forth in the Offer Notice, stating the amount of OrbiMed’s elected participation. If the Company receives no such 
notice from OrbiMed within the time period set forth herein, OrbiMed shall be deemed to have notified the Company that OrbiMed does not 
elect to purchase any New Securities in connection with such offering and the Company shall be free to sell such securities in the offering; 
provided, however, that if the Expected Sale Date shall be delayed by for any reason, the Company shall promptly inform OrbiMed of such 
delay and OrbiMed’s rights in this Section 3(a)(iii) shall be revived with an ability to provide written notice by not later than 6:00 p.m. (New 
York City time) on the day immediately preceding the new Expected Sale Date.

(b) Sales of Equity under ATMs or Equity Lines. If during the Participation Period, the Company intends to sell New 
Securities using any “at-the-market sales” facility or equity line, then with respect to each activation, the Company shall provide OrbiMed 
with an Offer Notice in accordance with Section 3(a)(ii), specifying the target amount intended to be sold (the “ATM Target Amount”) and 
the lowest price per share (the “ATM Floor Price”) at which such New Securities may be sold under such activation. Using the same notice 
mechanism as set forth in Section 3(a)(ii), OrbiMed shall have the right to purchase that amount of the ATM Target Amount at the ATM 
Floor Price equal to OrbiMed’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage multiplied by the total amount of New Securities offered for sale in 
such offering (or such other amount as may be mutually agreed between Company and OrbiMed), and the Company shall be free to sell the 
remainder of the ATM Target Amount at or above the ATM Floor Price. For the avoidance of doubt, the Company is not required to offer 
New Securities to OrbiMed in connection with any firm commitment underwritten offering registered under the Securities Act.

(c) General Terms Applicable to Participation Right.

(i)Subject to compliance with all applicable securities laws and regulations, OrbiMed may apportion any New 
Securities to be purchased pursuant to its rights in this Section 3 in such proportion as OrbiMed deems appropriate among OrbiMed and any 
of its Affiliates.

(ii)The rights of OrbiMed under this Section 3 to purchase New Securities in an offering will be conditioned 
upon the completion of such offering.

(iii)The Company and OrbiMed hereby acknowledge that nothing in this Section 3 constitutes an offer or the 
commitment by any Person (as defined below) to purchase any New Securities in any offering.

(iv)For purposes of this Section 3, “New Securities” means, collectively, equity securities of the Company, 
whether or not currently authorized, as well as options or warrants to purchase such equity securities, or securities of any type whatsoever 
that are convertible or exchangeable into or exercisable for such equity securities, other than (i) any shares of capital stock or options to 
purchase shares of capital stock, or other equity-based awards (including restricted stock units), issued or granted to employees (or 
prospective employees who have accepted an offer of employment), directors or consultants
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of the Company or any of its subsidiaries, pursuant to any Company stock-based compensation plan or arrangement; (ii) any securities 
issued by the Company upon the exercise, exchange or conversion of any securities that are exercisable or exchangeable for, or convertible 
into, shares of capital stock and are outstanding as of the date if this Agreement or issued pursuant to this Agreement, provided that such 
exercise, exchange or conversion is effected pursuant to the terms of such securities as in effect on the date of this Agreement or as provided 
in this Agreement; (iii) any securities issued by the Company as full or partial consideration in connection with a merger, acquisition, 
consolidation or purchase of all or substantially all of the securities or assets of a corporation or other entity approved by the Board of 
Directors, (iv) any securities issued by the Company in connection with a transaction with an unaffiliated third party approved by the Board 
of Directors that includes a bona fide commercial relationship with the Company (including any joint venture, marketing or distribution 
arrangement, strategic alliance, collaboration agreement or corporate partnering, intellectual property license agreement or acquisition 
agreement with the Company) and (v) any securities issued by the Company to banks, equipment lessors or other financial institutions, or to 
real property lessors, pursuant to a debt financing, equipment leasing or real property leasing transaction approved by the Board of Directors.

4. Fees and Expenses. Each party will bear its own costs and expenses incurred in connection with the Agreement and the 
Purchase Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, within five
(5) Business Days after the later of (i) the receipt of a summary invoice therefor or (ii) the Closing Date, the Company shall pay the 
reasonable fees and expenses of the counsel for OrbiMed, in an amount not to exceed $50,000.

5. Miscellaneous.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
New York without regard to choice of laws or conflicts of laws provisions thereof that would require the application of the laws of any other 
jurisdiction, except to the extent that mandatory principles of Delaware law may apply.

(b) Certain Adjustments. Subject to Section 5(n) below, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the full extent 
set forth herein with respect to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assign of the Company (whether by 
merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) that may be issued in respect of, in exchange for, or in substitution for the shares of 
Common Stock, by combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise and the term “Common Stock” shall 
include all such other securities. In the event of any change in the capitalization of the Company, as a result of any stock split, stock dividend 
or stock combination or otherwise, the provisions of this Agreement shall be appropriately adjusted.

(c) Enforcement. The parties expressly agree that the provisions of this Agreement may be specifically enforced 
against each of the parties hereto in any court of competent jurisdiction.

(d) Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, 
and be binding upon, the successors, assigns, heirs, executors, and administrators of the parties hereto.

(e) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Agreements (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) 
constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement between the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all 
prior oral or written (and all contemporaneous oral) agreements or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(f) Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing and sent to the address or 
facsimile number identified below. Notices must be given: (i) by personal delivery, with receipt acknowledged; (ii) by facsimile followed by 
hard copy delivered by the methods 
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under clause (iii) or (iv); (iii) by prepaid certified or registered mail, return receipt requested; or (iv) by prepaid reputable overnight delivery 
service. Notices shall be effective upon receipt. Either party may change its notice address by providing the other party written notice of 
such change. Notices shall be delivered as follows:
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If to OrbiMed: c/o OrbiMed Advisors LLC

601 Lexington Avenue, 54th Floor Attn: General Counsel
New York, NY 10022 Attention: General Counsel 
Email: legal@orbimed.com

If to the Company: Forte Biosciences, Inc.
3060 Pegasus Park Drive, Building 6
Dallas, Texas 75247
Attn: Paul Wagner, Chief Executive Officer Email: [***]

with a copy (which copy shall not constitute
notice) to: Wilson Sonsini Goodrich and Rosati, Professional Corporation

12235 El Camino Real
San Diego, California 92130 Attention: Dan 
Koeppen Email: [***]

(g) Delays or Omissions. No delay or omission to exercise any right, power or remedy accruing to OrbiMed hereto 
upon any breach or default of the Company under this Agreement, shall impair any such right, power or remedy of OrbiMed nor shall it be 
construed to be a waiver of any such breach or default, or an acquiescence therein, or of or in any similar breach or default thereunder 
occurring; nor shall any waiver of any single breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default therefore or thereafter 
occurring. Any waiver, permit, consent or approval of any kind or character on the part of OrbiMed of any breach or default of the Company 
under this Agreement, or any waiver on the part of any party of any provisions or conditions of this Agreement, in each case, must be in 
writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing. All remedies, either under this Agreement, or by law or 
otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

(h) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by facsimile or other 
electronic means), each of which may be executed by less than all of the parties hereto, each of which shall be enforceable against the parties 
actually executing such counterparts, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument.

(i) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

(j) Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended at any time and from time to time, 
and particular provisions of this Agreement may be waived or modified, with and only with an agreement or consent in writing signed by the 
Company and OrbiMed.

(k) Jurisdiction. The parties hereto irrevocably submit, in any legal action or proceeding relating to this Agreement, to 
the jurisdiction of the courts of the United States located in the State of New York or in any New York state court and consent that any such 
action or proceeding may be brought in such courts and waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the venue of such action 
or proceeding in any such court or that such action or proceeding was brought in an inconvenient forum.
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(l) Further Assurances. The parties agree to use their best efforts and act in good faith in carrying out their obligations 
under this Agreement. The parties also agree, without further consideration, to execute such further instruments and to take such further 
actions as may be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes and intent of this Agreement.

(m) Enforcement. The parties expressly agree that the provisions of this Agreement may be specifically enforced 
against each of the parties hereto in any court of competent jurisdiction.

(n) Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earliest of (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties 
hereto; (b) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of the Closing Date; (c) such time as OrbiMed’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage is 
less than twenty percent (20%), (d) any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Person, in which the Company is not 
the surviving entity and in which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation do not own, directly or 
indirectly, at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of the surviving entity immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (e) the 
sale to another Person of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions, provided that 
no such termination shall relieve a party for any breach of this Agreement prior to its termination.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Letter Agreement as of the date first above written.

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
 

By: /s/ Paul Wagner
 

Name: Paul Wagner
Title: Chief Executive Officer



 

 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Letter Agreement as of the date first above written.

 
ORBIMED PRIVATE INVESTMENTS IX, LP
By: OrbiMed Capital GP IX LLC, its General Partner
By: OrbiMed Advisors LLC, its Managing 
Member
By:  /s/ Carl Gordon

Name: Carl Gordon
 

Title: Member
 
 

ORBIMED GENESIS MASTER FUND, L.P.
By: OrbiMed Genesis GP LLC, its General Partner
By: OrbiMed Advisors LLC, its Managing 
Member
By:  /s/ Carl Gordon

Name: Carl Gordon
 

Title: Member
 

 
THE BIOTECH GROWTH TRUST PLC
solely in its capacity as Portfolio Manager

 



 

 
 

By:

 



 

 
 

 /s/ Carl Gordon
 



 

 
 

Name: Carl Gordon
 

Title: Member



Exhibit 10.4

LETTER AGREEMENT

THIS LETTER AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of November 21, 2024, is by and between Forte Biosciences, Inc., a 
Delaware corporation (the “Company”) and Tybourne Strategic Opportunities Fund II, LP (the “Purchaser”).

WHEREAS, the Company and the Purchaser are parties to that certain Securities Purchase Agreement dated as of November 19, 
2024 (the “Purchase Agreement”) pursuant to which the Purchaser, as well as other purchasers, are purchasing shares of the Company’s 
common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Common Stock”) and/or pre-funded warrants to purchase Common Stock (the “Pre-
Funded Warrants”); and

WHEREAS, in order to induce the Purchaser to invest funds in the Company pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Purchaser 
and the Company hereby agree that this Agreement shall set forth certain rights and obligations with respect to the shares of the Company’s 
capital stock beneficially owned by the Purchaser.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which are hereby acknowledged, the 
parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:

(a) “Affiliate” shall mean, with respect to any Person, any other Person that, directly or indirectly through one or 
more intermediates, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with such Person.

(b) “Board of Directors” means the board of directors of the Company.

(c) “Business Day” means any day except any Saturday, any Sunday, any day which is a federal legal holiday in the 
United States or any day on which banking institutions in the State of New York are authorized or required by law or other governmental 
action to close; provided, however, for clarification, commercial banks shall not be deemed to be authorized or required by law to remain 
closed due to “stay at home”, “shelter-in-place”, “non-essential employee” or any other similar orders or restrictions or the closure of any 
physical branch locations at the direction of any governmental authority so long as the electronic funds transfer systems (including for wire 
transfers) of commercial banks in the State of New York are generally are open for use by customers on such day.

(d) “Bylaws” means the bylaws of the Company, as may be amended, restated or otherwise modified from time to 
time.

(e) “Closing Date” shall mean November 21, 2024.

(f) “Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage” means a percentage equal to (x) the sum of the number of outstanding 
shares of Common Stock of the Company owned by the Purchaser and its Affiliates plus the number of shares of Common Stock subject to 
outstanding Pre-Funded Warrants held by the Purchaser and its Affiliates (without regard to any beneficial ownership limitations included 
therein), divided by (y) the sum of the total number of outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Company plus the total number of shares 
of Common Stock subject to all outstanding warrants issued by the Company,
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including the Pre-Funded Warrants issued pursuant to the Purchase Agreement and any other pre-funded warrants or standard warrants 
issued by the Company and outstanding at the time of determination.

(g) “Person” shall mean an individual, partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock 
company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture or any other entity or organization.

(h) “SEC” shall mean the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

2. Board Representation.

(a) During the period beginning on the date ninety (90) days after the Closing Date and ending on the earlier of (i) the 
three (3) year anniversary of the Closing Date and (ii) the first Business Day that the Purchaser’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage is less 
than ten percent (10%) (such period, the “Board Designation Period”), at any time that the Nasdaq Official Closing Price of the Common 
Stock is below $2.7760 (as adjusted for stock splits, recapitalizations and other similar events) for thirty (30) consecutive trading days, 
Purchaser shall be entitled to designate one individual (“Purchaser Designee”) to serve on the Board of Directors (“Designation Right”), 
pursuant and subject to the terms of this Section 2.

(b) In order to exercise the Designation Right, Purchaser shall deliver a written notice to the Company stating that the 
Purchaser wishes to exercise the Designation Right and setting forth the name of the Purchaser Designee (the “Designation Notice”). As a 
condition to the appointment of any Purchaser Designee, the Purchaser will also provide, or cause the Purchaser Designee to provide, a 
completed and executed director nominee questionnaire in a form to be provided by the Company (a “Nominee Questionnaire”) and any 
other information that is reasonably required by applicable law for inclusion in the Company’s filings with the SEC relating to the 
appointment of such Purchaser Designee, proxy materials for meetings of stockholders, and all other applicable filings with the SEC.

(c) Subject to the terms of this Section 2, the Company hereby agrees to appoint the Purchaser Designee to the Board 
of Directors within fifteen (15) Business Days following receipt of both
(i) the Designation Notice and (ii) the completed Nominee Questionnaire. Thereafter, for the remainder of the Board Designation Period, 
subject to the requirements of fiduciary duties under applicable law, the Company shall include the Purchaser Designee in the slate of 
nominees recommended to the Company’s stockholders for election as directors of the Company at each annual or special meeting of the 
Company’s stockholders at which directors of the same class as the Purchaser Designee are to be elected and every adjournment or 
postponement thereof. If a Purchaser Designee elected or appointed pursuant to the terms hereof ceases to serve as a member of the Board of 
Directors for any reason, then the Purchaser shall have the right to designate another designee pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, it 
being understood that any such designee shall serve the remainder of the term of the director whom such designee replaces, and the 
Company shall take all such action as is reasonable and necessary to promptly cause the election or appointment of such other designee to 
the Board of Directors for such term. If the Purchaser has exercised the Designation Right and the Board Designation Period lapses while a 
Purchaser Designee is serving on the Board of Directors, the Purchaser Designee shall not be required to resign but may continue to serve on 
the Board of Directors for the remainder of the Purchaser Designee’s then-current term on the Board of Directors.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 2, the Company shall not be required to appoint a Purchaser 
Designee to the Board of Directors if a majority of the disinterested members of the Board of Directors reasonably determines in good faith, 
after consultation with outside legal counsel, that such person would not be qualified to serve as a director of the Company under any
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applicable law (including requirements of fiduciary duties under applicable law), rule or regulation, rule of the stock exchange on which the 
Company’s shares are listed, the Bylaws or any policy or guidelines previously approved by the Board of Directors and made available to the 
Purchaser, provided that the direct or indirect purpose of any such policy or guideline is not to obstruct the Purchaser’s right to designate an 
individual as a nominee to the Board of Directors or its rights under this Agreement, and provided further that the parties agree any such 
Purchaser Designee is not required to meet the independence requirements of the SEC or the Nasdaq Stock Market LLC. The Company shall 
notify the Purchaser of any objection to a Purchaser Designee promptly following determination by the Board of Directors that such 
Purchaser Designee is not qualified to serve as a director of the Company, and in any event on or prior to the fifteenth (15th) Business Day 
following receipt of the Designation Notice and completed Nominee Questionnaire with respect to such Purchaser Designee, so as to enable 
the Purchaser to propose a replacement Purchaser Designee in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

(e) Purchaser understands that, as a condition to the appointment of Purchaser Designee, the Company may require 
the Purchaser Designee to agree in writing, during the term of any service as a director of the Company, to (a) comply with all policies, 
procedures, processes, codes, rules, standards and guidelines applicable to all non-employee members of the Board of Directors, including, 
without limitation, the Company’s business and ethics code of conduct, insider trading policy, and related- person transactions policy, in 
each case as previously approved by the Board of Directors and as amended from time to time, and compliance with applicable disclosure 
controls and procedures, including but not limited to completing an annual director and officer questionnaire; and (b) keep confidential and 
not publicly disclose discussions and matters considered in meetings of the Board of Directors and its committees, as applicable, or other 
confidential information of the Company that the Purchaser Designee receives from the Company, unless previously disclosed publicly by 
the Company.

(f) For so long as any Purchaser Designee serves as a director, such director shall be entitled to (i) the same 
reimbursement for travel and other expenses paid to other non-employee directors incurred in connection with his or her duties as a director, 
including any service on any committee of the Board of Directors, and (ii) the same indemnification, exculpation and advancement of 
expenses rights provided to other non-employee directors, and the Company shall maintain in full force and effect directors’ and officers’ 
liability insurance coverage with respect to such director (subject to the limitations of such coverage, and with such coverage terms as the 
Company deems reasonable) to the same extent that it indemnifies and provides insurance for other non-employee directors.

3. Miscellaneous.

(a) Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of 
New York without regard to choice of laws or conflicts of laws provisions thereof that would require the application of the laws of any other 
jurisdiction, except to the extent that mandatory principles of Delaware law may apply.

(b) Certain Adjustments. Subject to Section 3(n) below, the provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the full extent 
set forth herein with respect to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assign of the Company (whether by 
merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) that may be issued in respect of, in exchange for, or in substitution for the shares of 
Common Stock, by combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise and the term “Common Stock” shall 
include all such other securities. In the event of any change in the capitalization of the Company, as a result of any stock split, stock dividend 
or stock combination or otherwise, the provisions of this Agreement shall be appropriately adjusted.

(c) Enforcement. The parties expressly agree that the provisions of this Agreement may be specifically enforced 
against each of the parties hereto in any court of competent jurisdiction.
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(d) Successors and Assigns. Except as otherwise provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, 
and be binding upon, the successors, assigns, heirs, executors, and administrators of the parties hereto.

(e) Entire Agreement. This Agreement and the other Transaction Agreements (as defined in the Purchase Agreement) 
constitute the full and entire understanding and agreement between the parties with regard to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all 
prior oral or written (and all contemporaneous oral) agreements or understandings with respect to the subject matter hereof.

(f) Notices. All notices required or permitted under this Agreement must be in writing and sent to the address or 
facsimile number identified below. Notices must be given: (i) by personal delivery, with receipt acknowledged; (ii) by facsimile followed by 
hard copy delivered by the methods under clause (iii) or (iv); (iii) by prepaid certified or registered mail, return receipt requested; or (iv) by 
prepaid reputable overnight delivery service. Notices shall be effective upon receipt. Either party may change its notice address by providing 
the other party written notice of such change. Notices shall be delivered as follows:



 

 
5

 
If to the Purchaser: Tybourne Strategic Opportunities Fund II LP

c/o Tybourne Capital Management (HK) Limited Unit 818-822, 8/F, 
Bank of America Tower
12 Harcourt Road, Central, Hong Kong
Email: TCMCompliance@tybournecapital.com

If to the Company: Forte Biosciences, Inc.
3060 Pegasus Park Drive, Building 6
Dallas, Texas 75247
Attn: Paul Wagner, Chief Executive Officer Email: [***]

with a copy (which copy shall not constitute
notice) to: Wilson Sonsini Goodrich and Rosati, P.C.

12235 El Camino Real
San Diego, California 92130 Attention: Dan 
Koeppen Email: [***]

(g) Delays or Omissions. No delay or omission to exercise any right, power or remedy accruing to the Purchaser 
hereto upon any breach or default of the Company under this Agreement, shall impair any such right, power or remedy of the Purchaser nor 
shall it be construed to be a waiver of any such breach or default, or an acquiescence therein, or of or in any similar breach or default 
thereunder occurring; nor shall any waiver of any single breach or default be deemed a waiver of any other breach or default therefore or 
thereafter occurring. Any waiver, permit, consent or approval of any kind or character on the part of the Purchaser of any breach or default of 
the Company under this Agreement, or any waiver on the part of any party of any provisions or conditions of this Agreement, in each case, 
must be in writing and shall be effective only to the extent specifically set forth in such writing. All remedies, either under this Agreement, 
or by law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

(h) Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts (including by facsimile or other 
electronic means), each of which may be executed by less than all of the parties hereto, each of which shall be enforceable against the parties 
actually executing such counterparts, and all of which together shall constitute one instrument.

(i) Severability. If any provision of this Agreement shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, the validity, legality and 
enforceability of the remaining provisions shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

(j) Amendments and Waivers. The provisions of this Agreement may be amended at any time and from time to time, 
and particular provisions of this Agreement may be waived or modified, with and only with an agreement or consent in writing signed by the 
Company and the Purchaser.

(k) Jurisdiction. The parties hereto irrevocably submit, in any legal action or proceeding relating to this Agreement, to 
the jurisdiction of the courts of the United States located in the State of New York or in any New York state court and consent that any such 
action or proceeding may be brought in such courts and waive any objection that they may now or hereafter have to the venue of such action 
or proceeding in any such court or that such action or proceeding was brought in an inconvenient forum.

(l) Further Assurances. The parties agree to use their best efforts and act in good faith in carrying out their obligations 
under this Agreement. The parties also agree, without further consideration, 
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to execute such further instruments and to take such further actions as may be necessary or desirable to carry out the purposes and intent of 
this Agreement.

(m) Enforcement. The parties expressly agree that the provisions of this Agreement may be specifically enforced 
against each of the parties hereto in any court of competent jurisdiction.

(n) Termination. This Agreement shall terminate upon the earliest of (a) the mutual written agreement of the parties 
hereto; (b) the tenth (10th) anniversary of the date of the Closing Date; (c) such time as the Purchaser’s Fully Diluted Ownership Percentage 
is less than ten percent (10%), (d) any merger or consolidation of the Company with or into another Person, in which the Company is not the 
surviving entity and in which the stockholders of the Company immediately prior to such merger or consolidation do not own, directly or 
indirectly, at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of the surviving entity immediately after such merger or consolidation; or (e) the 
sale to another Person of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets in one transaction or a series of related transactions, provided that no 
such termination shall relieve a party for any breach of this Agreement prior to its termination.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the parties hereto has executed this Letter Agreement as of the date first above written.

FORTE BIOSCIENCES, INC.
 

By: /s/ Paul Wagner  Name: Paul Wagner
Title: Chief Executive Officer

 
TYBOURNE STRATEGIC OPPORTUNITIES FUND II 
LP
By: Tybourne Strategic Opportunities GP II Limited, its General 
Partner

 
By: /s/ Tanvir Ghani  Name: Tanvir Ghani
Title: Director



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Dr. Paul Wagner, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Forte Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: May 15, 2025  By: /s/ Paul Wagner
   Dr. Paul Wagner
   Chief Executive Officer
 



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Antony Riley, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Forte Biosciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to 
us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under 
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about 
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is 
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 15, 2025  By: /s/ Antony Riley
   Antony Riley
   Chief Financial Officer
 



 

 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Forte Biosciences, Inc. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
 
Date: May 15, 2025 By:   /s/ Dr. Paul Wagner
      Dr. Paul Wagner
      Chief Executive Officer
 



 

 

 Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Forte Biosciences, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2025 as filed with the 
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and result of operations of the Company.
 
Date: May 15, 2025 By:   /s/ Antony Riley
      Antony Riley
      Chief Financial Officer
 


